# Parabolic $L^p - L^q$ estimates

Dietmar A. Salamon ETH Zürich

17 July 2017

#### Abstract

The purpose of this expository paper is to give a self-contained proof of maximal  $L^p/L^q$  regularity for the heat equation on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , and to explain the role of the Besov space  $B_q^{2-2/q,p}$  for the initial conditions.

# Contents

1	Introduction	<b>2</b>
<b>2</b>	Proof of Theorem 1.3	9
3	Riesz–Thorin and Stein interpolation	16
4	Marcinkiewicz interpolation	22
5	The Calderón–Zygmund inequality	<b>27</b>
6	The Mikhlin multiplier theorem	34
7	The Khinchin inequality	40
8	The Littlewood–Paley inequality	46
9	Maximal regularity for semigroups	52
10	Coifman–Weiss Transference	61

11 Proof of Theorem 1.1	71
12 Besov spaces	91
13 Besov, Littlewood–Paley, Peetre, Triebel	99
14 Besov spaces and heat kernels	121
15 Proof of Theorem 1.2	131

## 15 Proof of Theorem 1.2

#### Introduction 1

This is an expository paper. Its purpose is to give self-contained proofs of the following three theorems. For  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  let  $(t, x) = (t, x_1, \dots, x_n)$  be the coordinates on  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  and denote the Laplace operator on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  by  $\Delta := \sum_{i=1}^n \partial^2 / \partial x_i^2$ . Abbreviate  $\partial_t := \partial/\partial t$  and  $\partial_i := \partial/\partial x_i$  for  $i = 1, \ldots, n$ . The gradient of a smooth function  $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  is the function  $\nabla f := (\partial_1 f, \dots, \partial_n f) : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}^n$ .

**Theorem 1.1.** For every positive integer n and every pair of real numbers p,q > 1 there exists a constant c = c(n, p, q) > 0 such that every compactly supported smooth function  $u: \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \to \mathbb{C}$  satisfies the estimate

$$\left(\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \|\partial_t u\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^q dt\right)^{1/q} \le c \left(\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \|\partial_t u - \Delta u\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^q dt\right)^{1/q}.$$
 (1.1)

Proof. See page 90.

Theorem 1.1 leads to the question under which assumption on the initial condition  $u_0$  the solution  $u: [0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  of the heat equation

$$\partial_t u = \Delta u, \qquad u(0, \cdot) = u_0, \tag{1.2}$$

belongs to the space  $W^{1,q}([0,\infty), L^p(\mathbb{R}^n,\mathbb{C})) \cap L^q([0,\infty), W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^n,\mathbb{C}))$ . The answer involves the Besov space  $B^{s,p}_q(\mathbb{R}^n,\mathbb{C})$  for 0 < s < 2 and p,q > 1. This space is the completion of  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n,\mathbb{C})$  with respect to the norm

$$\|f\|_{B^{s,p}_q} := \|f\|_{L^p} + \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_q}, \qquad (1.3)$$

for  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ , where

$$\|f\|_{b_q^{s,p}}^q := \int_0^\infty \frac{\sup_{|h| \le r} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f(x+h) - 2f(x) + f(x-h)|^p \, dx \right)^{q/p}}{r^{sq}} \frac{dr}{r}.$$
 (1.4)

**Theorem 1.2.** For every positive integer n and every pair of real numbers p, q > 1 there exists a constant c = c(n, p, q) > 0 with the following significance. Let  $u_0 \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and suppose that  $u : [0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  is the unique solution of the heat equation (1.2) such that  $u_t := u(t, \cdot)$  is square integrable for all  $t \ge 0$ . Define the number 0 < s < 2 by

$$s := 2 - 2/q$$

Then

$$\frac{1}{c} \|u_0\|_{b_q^{s,p}} \le \left(\int_0^\infty \|\partial_t u\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^q dt\right)^{1/q} \le c \|u_0\|_{B_q^{s,p}}.$$
(1.5)

If 0 < s < 1 (or, equivalently, 1 < q < 2) then the norm  $||u_0||_{B_q^{s,p}}$  on the right can be replaced by the norm  $||u_0||_{b_q^{s,p}}$  of the homogeneous Besov space.

*Proof.* See page 131.

**Theorem 1.3.** For every positive integer n and every real number  $p \ge 2$ there exists a constant c = c(n, p) > 0 such that every compactly supported smooth function  $u : \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \to \mathbb{C}$  satisfies the estimate

$$\left\|\nabla u(T,\cdot)\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq c \left(\int_{-\infty}^{T} \left\|\partial_{t}u - \Delta u\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} dt\right)^{1/2}$$
(1.6)

for all  $T \in \mathbb{R}$ .

#### *Proof.* See page 11.

Theorem 1.1 is called **maximal regularity** and was proved in the sixties by deSimon [10] for p = 2 and Ladyshenskaya–Solonnikov–Uralćeva [21] for p = q. In [2] Benedek–Calderón–Panzone proved that the assertion is independent of q for general analytic semigroups (Theorem 9.3). In our proof for p = q we follow the approach of Lamberton [20]. A proof of Theorem 1.1 for all p and q (which applies to general analytic semigroups and extends the result of Lamberton) can be found in Hieber–Prüss [15].

The Besov spaces  $B_q^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  were introduced in 1959 by Besov [3]. Theorem 1.2 is due to Peetre [31] and Triebel [38, 39] for 1 < q < 2, and to Grigor'yan-Liu [13, Thm 1.5 & Rmk 1.8] for  $q \ge 2$  (see also [17, Thm 6.7] and [23, Thm 5.8]). The present exposition follows the argument in [13].

We will use without proof the theory of strongly continuous semigroups and the basic properties of the Fourier transform. Before entering into the proofs we formulate some consequences of these results. The inhomogeneous heat equation on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with a compactly supported smooth function  $u_0 : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  as initial condition and a smooth compactly supported inhomogeneous term  $f : (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  has the form

$$\partial_t u = \Delta u + f, \qquad u(0, \cdot) = u_0. \tag{1.7}$$

This equation has a unique solution  $u : [0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  such that  $u(t, \cdot)$  is square integrable for all t. This solution can be expressed in the form

$$u(t,x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} K_t(x-y)u_0(y)\,dy + \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} K_{t-s}(x-y)f(s,y)\,dy\,ds \quad (1.8)$$

for  $t \ge 0$ , where  $K : \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \to \mathbb{R}$  denotes the fundamental solution of the heat equation. It is given by

$$K(t,x) := K_t(x) := \frac{1}{(4\pi t)^{n/2}} e^{-|x|^2/4t}$$
(1.9)

for t > 0 and by  $K(t, x) := K_t(x) := 0$  for  $t \le 0$ .

**Remark 1.4.** (i) A simple computation shows that, for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists a constant c = c(n) > 0 such that

$$\|K_t\|_{L^1} = 1, \qquad \|\nabla K_t\|_{L^1} \le \frac{c}{\sqrt{t}}, \qquad \|\partial_t K_t\|_{L^1} \le \frac{c}{t}, \qquad \|\partial_t^2 K_t\|_{L^1} \le \frac{c}{t^2}$$

for all t > 0.

(ii) Let  $u : \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \to \mathbb{C}$  be a smooth function with compact support contained in  $[0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n$  and define  $f_t(x) := f(t, x) := \partial_t u(t, x) - (\Delta u)(t, x)$  for  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ and  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Then u satisfies equation (1.7) with  $u_0 = 0$  and hence is given by equation (1.8). Thus the gradien of  $u_t$  is given by  $\nabla u_t = \int_0^t \nabla K_{t-s} * f_s \, ds$ for  $t \ge 0$ . Hence, by (i) and Young's inequality,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla u_t\|_{L^p} &\leq \int_0^t \|K_{t-s} * f_s\|_{L^p} \, ds \\ &\leq \int_0^t \|K_{t-s}\|_{L^1} \|f_s\|_{L^p} \, ds \leq \int_0^t \frac{c}{\sqrt{t-s}} \|f_s\|_{L^p} \, ds. \end{aligned}$$

By Hölder's inequality this implies the estimate (1.6) with the exponent 2 on the right replaced by any number q > 2 (and a constant depending on T). To prove the estimate for q = 2 requires different arguments that will be spelled out in Section 2. The next corollary asserts that the heat equation defines a strongly continuous semigroup on the Besov spaces. The condition s = 2 - 2/q is not needed for this result but it suffices for our purposes.

**Corollary 1.5.** Fix an integer  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and real numbers p, q > 1. Define s := 2 - 2/q. Then the solutions of the heat equation (1.2) on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  define a strongly continuous semigroup S(t) on the Besov space  $B_q^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  given by

$$S(t)f := \begin{cases} K_t * f, & \text{for } t > 0, \\ f, & \text{for } t = 0, \end{cases} \qquad f \in B^{s,p}_q(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}).$$

It is a contraction semigroup with respect to the norm

$$\|f\|_{p,q} := \|f\|_{L^p} + \left(\int_0^\infty \|\Delta(K_t * f)\|_{L^p}^q dt\right)^{1/q}.$$
 (1.10)

*Proof.* By Theorem 1.2 the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{p,q}$  in (1.10) is equivalent to the norm in (1.3). Hence the completion of  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  with respect to the norm (1.10) is the Besov space  $B_q^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . Moreover, by definition,

$$\|S(t)f\|_{p,q} = \|K_t * f\|_{L^p} + \left(\int_t^\infty \|\Delta(K_\tau * f)\|_{L^p}^q \, d\tau\right)^{1/q} \le \|f\|_{p,q}$$

for all t > 0 and all  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . This implies that the function

$$[0,\infty) \to B^{s,p}_q(\mathbb{R}^n,\mathbb{C}): t \mapsto S(t)f \tag{1.11}$$

is continuous for every  $f \in B_q^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . (Choose a sequence  $f_k \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ that converges to f with respect to the norm (1.10); then the function  $[0, \infty) \to B_q^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) : t \mapsto S(t)f_k$  is continuous for each k and converges uniformly to (1.11); so the latter is continuous.) This proves Corollary 1.5.  $\Box$ 

The next corollary implies that the solution to the inhomogeneous heat equation with an inhomogeneous term in  $L^q([0,T], L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}))$  is a continuous function with values in the appropriate Besov space.

**Corollary 1.6.** Fix an integer  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , real numbers p, q > 1, and a compact interval I = [0,T]. Define s := 2 - 2/q. Then there exists a constant c > 0such that every smooth function  $I \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C} : (t,x) \mapsto u(t,x) = u_t(x)$  with compact support satisfies the inequality

$$\sup_{0 \le t \le T} \|u_t\|_{B^{s,p}_q} \le c \left( \int_0^T \left( \|u_t\|_{L^p}^q + \|\partial_t u_t\|_{L^p}^q + \|\Delta u_t\|_{L^p}^q \right) dt \right)^{1/q}.$$
(1.12)

*Proof.* Throughout denote by  $c_1 = c_1(n, p, q)$  the constant of Theorem 1.1 and by  $c_2 = c_2(n, p, q)$  the constant of Theorem 1.2. Fix a smooth function  $u: [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  with compact support and abbreviate

$$u_t(x) := u(t, x), \qquad f_t(x) := \partial_t u_t(x) - \Delta u_t(x)$$

for  $0 \leq t \leq T$  and  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Then

$$u_t = K_t * u_0 + \int_0^t K_{t-\tau} * f_\tau \, d\tau$$

for  $0 < t \leq T$  and hence

$$\|u_{t_0} - K_{t_0} * u_0\|_{L^p} \le \int_0^{t_0} \|f_t\|_{L^p} dt \le t_0^{1-1/q} \left(\int_0^{t_0} \|f_t\|_{L^p}^q dt\right)^{1/q}$$
(1.13)

for  $t_0 \in [0, T]$  by Hölder's inequality. Fix a constant  $0 < t_0 \leq T$  and define

$$v_t := \begin{cases} u_t - K_t * u_0, & \text{for } 0 \le t \le t_0, \\ K_{t-t_0} * (u_{t_0} - K_{t_0} * u_0), & \text{for } t > t_0, \end{cases}$$
$$g_t := \begin{cases} f_t, & \text{for } 0 \le t \le t_0, \\ 0, & \text{for } t > t_0. \end{cases}$$

Then

$$v_t = \int_0^t K_{t-\tau} * g_\tau \, d\tau, \qquad \partial_t v_t - \Delta v_t = g_t$$

for all t > 0 and hence, by Theorem 1.1,

$$\left(\int_0^\infty \|\partial_t v_t\|_{L^p}^q \, dt\right)^{1/q} \le c_1 \left(\int_0^\infty \|g_t\|_{L^p}^q \, dt\right)^{1/q} = c_1 \left(\int_0^{t_0} \|f_t\|_{L^p}^q \, dt\right)^{1/q}.$$

Since  $v_t = K_{t-t_0} * (u_{t_0} - K_{t_0} * u_0)$  for  $t > t_0$ , it follows from Theorem 1.2 that

$$\|u_{t_0} - K_{t_0} * u_0\|_{b_q^{s,p}} \le c_2 \left( \int_{t_0}^{\infty} \|\partial_t v_t\|_{L^p}^q dt \right)^{1/q} \le c_1 c_2 \left( \int_0^{t_0} \|f_t\|_{L^p}^q dt \right)^{1/q}.$$

Combine this with (1.13) to obtain

$$\sup_{0 \le t \le T} \|u_t - K_t * u_0\|_{B^{s,p}_q} \le c_3 \left( \int_0^T \|\partial_t u_t - \Delta u_t\|_{L^p}^q dt \right)^{1/q}.$$
 (1.14)

where  $c_3 := c_3(n, p, q, T) := c_1 c_2 + T^{1-1/q}$ .

It remains to estimate  $u_0$ . First, since

$$u_0 = \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T (u_t + (t - T)\partial_t u_t) dt,$$

we have

$$\|u_0\|_{L^p} \le T^{-1/q} \|u\|_{L^q(I,L^p)} + T^{1-1/q} \|\partial_t u\|_{L^q(I,L^p)}.$$
(1.15)

Second, define

$$h_t := \partial_t u_t - \Delta u_t, \qquad w_t := \int_0^t K_{t-\tau} * h_\tau \, d\tau$$

for  $0 \le t \le T$ . Then, by Theorem 1.1,

$$\|\partial_t w\|_{L^q(I,L^p)} \le c_1 \|h\|_{L^q(I,L^p)} = c_1 \|\partial_t u - \Delta u\|_{L^q(I,L^p)}.$$
 (1.16)

Third,  $K_t * u_0 = u_t - w_t$  and so

$$\left(\int_{0}^{T} \|\Delta(K_{t} * u_{0})\|_{L^{p}}^{q} dt\right)^{1/q} \leq \|\partial_{t}u\|_{L^{q}(I,L^{p})} + \|\partial_{t}w_{t}\|_{L^{q}(I,L^{p})}.$$
 (1.17)

Fourth, since  $\|\Delta K_t\|_{L^1} \leq C/t$  for some constant C = C(n) > 0, we have

$$\left(\int_{T}^{\infty} \|\Delta(K_t * u_0)\|_{L^p}^q \, dt\right)^{1/q} \le C \left(\frac{T^{q-1}}{q-1}\right)^{1/q} \|u_0\|_{L^p} \,. \tag{1.18}$$

By (1.15), (1.16), (1.17), (1.18), there is a constant  $c_0 > 0$  such that every compactly supported smooth function  $I \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C} : (t, x) \mapsto u(t, x) = u_t(x)$ satisfies the estimate

$$\|u_0\|_{p,q} \le c_0 \left( \|u\|_{L^q(I,L^p)} + \|\partial_t u\|_{L^q(I,L^p)} + \|\Delta u\|_{L^q(I,L^p)} \right).$$
(1.19)

By Corollary 1.5 the function  $K_t * u_0$  satisfies the same estimate with the same constant. Moreover,

$$||K_t * u_0||_{B_q^{s,p}} \le c_2 ||K_t * u_0||_{p,q}$$

by Theorem 1.2. This implies

$$\|K_t * u_0\|_{B^{s,p}_q} \le c_0 c_2 \left( \|u\|_{L^q(I,L^p)} + \|\partial_t u\|_{L^q(I,L^p)} + \|\Delta u\|_{L^q(I,L^p)} \right).$$
(1.20)

for all  $t \in [0, T]$ . The estimate (1.12) follows directly from (1.14) and (1.20). This proves Corollary 1.6.

**Corollary 1.7.** Let n, p, q, s and I = [0, T] be as in Corollary 1.6. Then the identity on the space of complex valued smooth functions on  $I \times \mathbb{R}^n$  with compact support extends to a bounded linear operator

$$L^q(I, W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})) \cap W^{1,q}(I, L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})) \to C(I, B^{s,p}_q(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})).$$

*Proof.* This follows directly from the estimate (1.12) in Corollary 1.6.

The next corollary shows that the result of Corollary 1.7 is sharp.

**Corollary 1.8.** Let n, p, q, s and I = [0, T] be as in Corollary 1.6 and let  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . Then the following are equivalent. (i)  $f \in B^{s,p}_q(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ 

(ii) There exists a function

$$u \in L^q(I, W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})) \cap W^{1,q}(I, L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}))$$

such that  $u(0, \cdot) = f$ .

Proof. If  $f \in B_q^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  then the function  $u_t := K_t * f$  satisfies the requirements of part (ii) with  $\partial_t u = \Delta u$ , by Theorem 1.2 and the Calderón–Zygmund inequality in Corollary 6.2. That (ii) implies (i) follows immediately from Corollary 1.7. This proves Corollary 1.8.

**Corollary 1.9.** Let n, p, q, s and I = [0, T] be as in Corollary 1.6 and consider the Banach spaces

$$\mathcal{W}^{q,p} := L^q(I, W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})) \cap W^{1,q}(I, L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})),$$
  
$$\mathcal{F}^{q,p} := B^{s,p}_q(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \times L^q(I, L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})).$$
(1.21)

Define the operators  $\mathcal{D}: \mathcal{W}^{q,p} \to \mathcal{F}^{q,p}$  and  $\mathcal{T}: \mathcal{F}^{q,p} \to \mathcal{W}^{q,p}$  by

$$\mathcal{D}u := (u(0, \cdot), \partial_t u - \Delta u),$$
  
$$(\mathcal{T}(f, g))(t, x) := (K_t * f)(x) + \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} K_{t-s}(x - y)g(s, y) \, dy \, ds$$
(1.22)

Then  $\mathcal{D}$  and  $\mathcal{T}$  are bijective bounded linear operators and  $\mathcal{T} = \mathcal{D}^{-1}$ 

Proof. That  $\mathcal{D}$  is a bounded linear operator follows from Corollary 1.6 and that  $\mathcal{T}$  is a bounded linear operator follows from Theorems 1.1 and 1.2. Moreover, it follows from the basic properties of the heat kernel  $K_t$  that  $\mathcal{DT}(f,g) = (f,g)$  for every pair of smooth functions  $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  and  $g: I \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  with compact support. Hence  $\mathcal{D} \circ \mathcal{T} = \text{id}$  and so  $\mathcal{D}$  is surjective. That  $\mathcal{D}$  is injective follows from a standard uniqueness result for solutions of the heat equation. Thus  $\mathcal{D}$  is a bijective bounded linear operator and  $\mathcal{D}^{-1} = \mathcal{T}$ . This proves Corollary 1.9.

## 2 Proof of Theorem 1.3

For p = q = 2 the estimates of Theorem 1.1 and Theorem 1.3 follow from a straight forward integration by parts argument. An extension of this argument leads to a proof of Theorem 1.3. For a compactly supported smooth function  $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  with mean value zero and a real number p > 1 define

$$\|f\|_{W^{-1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)} := \sup_{\phi \neq 0} \frac{\left|\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \operatorname{Re}(\overline{\phi}f)\right|}{\|\nabla \phi\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)}}, \qquad q := \frac{p}{p-1}.$$

Here the supremum is understood over all nonvanishing smooth functions  $\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  with compact support.

**Theorem 2.1.** Let T > 0 and let  $u : [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  be a compactly supported smooth function. Write

$$u_t(x) := u(t, x)$$

and suppose that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u_t(x) \, dx = 0$$

for all  $t \in [0, T]$ . Then, for every  $p \ge 2$ ,

$$\|u_T\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 + \int_0^T \frac{1}{\|u_t\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p-2}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |u_t|^{p-2} |\nabla u_t|^2\right) dt$$

$$\leq \|u_0\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 + (p-1)^2 \int_0^T \|\partial_t u_t - \Delta u_t\|_{W^{-1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 dt.$$

$$(2.1)$$

The integrand on the left is taken to be zero for each t with  $u_t \equiv 0$ .

*Proof.* It suffices to prove the assertion under the assumption that  $u_t \neq 0$  for all  $t \in [0, T]$ . Define

$$f_t(x) := f(t, x) := \partial_t u(t, x) - (\Delta u)(t, x)$$

for  $t \in [0,T]$  and  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Then  $f_t : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  is a smooth function with compact support and mean value zero for all  $t \in [0,T]$ . Moreover,

$$\partial_t |u|^p = p|u|^{p-2} \operatorname{Re}(\overline{u}\partial_t u), \qquad \nabla(|u|^{p-2}\overline{u}) = \frac{p}{2}|u|^{p-2} \nabla\overline{u} + \frac{p-2}{2}|u|^{p-4}\overline{u}^2 \nabla u.$$

Hence, by Hölder's inequality,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{p-1} \left\| \nabla(|u|^{p-2}u) \right\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} &= \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left( |u|^{p-2} |\nabla u| \right)^{\frac{p}{p-1}} \right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} \\ &= \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left( |u|^{p-2} |\nabla u|^{2} \right)^{\frac{p}{2p-2}} |u|^{p\frac{p-2}{2p-2}} \right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} \\ &\leq \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |u|^{p-2} |\nabla u|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |u|^{p} \right)^{\frac{p-2}{2p}} \\ &= \left( \left\| u \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p-2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |u|^{p-2} |\nabla u|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}. \end{aligned}$$

This implies

$$\begin{split} &\frac{d}{dt}\frac{1}{p}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}|u|^{p}=\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}|u|^{p-2}\mathrm{Re}(\overline{u}\partial_{t}u)=\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}|u|^{p-2}\mathrm{Re}(\overline{u}(f+\Delta u))\\ &=\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}|u|^{p-2}\overline{u}f-\frac{p}{2}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}|u|^{p-2}|\nabla u|^{2}-\frac{p-2}{2}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}|u|^{p-4}\sum_{i}\mathrm{Re}(\overline{u}^{2}(\partial_{i}u)^{2})\\ &\leq\left\|\nabla(|u|^{p-2}u)\right\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}\|f\|_{W^{-1,p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}-\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}|u|^{p-2}|\nabla u|^{2}\\ &\leq(p-1)\left(\|u\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p-2}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}|u|^{p-2}|\nabla u|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\|f\|_{W^{-1,p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}-\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}|u|^{p-2}|\nabla u|^{2}. \end{split}$$

It follows that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d}{dt} \frac{1}{2} \|u\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} &= \frac{1}{\|u\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p-2}} \frac{d}{dt} \frac{1}{p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |u|^{p} \\ &\leq (p-1) \left( \frac{1}{\|u\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p-2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |u|^{p-2} |\nabla u|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \|f\|_{W^{-1,p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \\ &\quad - \frac{1}{\|u\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p-2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |u|^{p-2} |\nabla u|^{2} \\ &\leq \frac{(p-1)^{2}}{2} \|f\|_{W^{-1,p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{\|u\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p-2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |u|^{p-2} |\nabla u|^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

The assertion of Theorem 2.1 follows by integrating this inequality over the interval  $0 \le t \le T$ .

The next corollary shows that Theorem 1.3 holds (for  $p \ge 2$ ) with the constant  $c = \sqrt{n(p-1)}$ .

**Corollary 2.2.** Let  $p \ge 2$  and  $T \ge 0$ . Then every compactly supported smooth function  $u : \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \to \mathbb{C}$  satisfies the estimates

$$\|\nabla u_T\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 \le n \|\nabla u_0\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 + n(p-1)^2 \int_0^T \|\partial_t u - \Delta u\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 dt$$

and

$$||u_T||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le ||u_0||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)} + \int_0^T ||\partial_t u - \Delta u||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)} dt$$

*Proof.* Let  $u : \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \to \mathbb{C}$  be a compactly supported smooth function. Then the function  $\partial_i u_t : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  has mean value zero for every t. Moreover, it follows directly from the definition and the Hölder inequality that

$$\left\|\partial_{i}f\right\|_{W^{-1,p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq \left\|f\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$$

for every compactly supported smooth function  $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  and every index  $i = 1, \ldots, n$ . Hence it follows from Theorem 2.1 that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\partial_{i}u_{T}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} &\leq \|\partial_{i}u_{0}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} + (p-1)^{2} \int_{0}^{T} \|\partial_{i}(\partial_{t}u - \Delta u)\|_{W^{-1,p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} dt \\ &\leq \|\nabla u_{0}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} + (p-1)^{2} \int_{0}^{T} \|\partial_{t}u - \Delta u\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} dt \end{aligned}$$

for all *i*. Since  $\|\nabla f\|_{L^p}^2 = \|\sum_i |\partial_i f|^2\|_{L^{p/2}} \leq \sum_i \||\partial_i f|^2\|_{L^{p/2}} = \sum_i \|\partial_i f\|_{L^p}^2$  for all  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ , the first inequality follows by taking the sum over all *i*. The second inequality follows from (1.8) with  $f_t(x) := \partial_t u(t, x) - (\Delta u)(t, x)$ . Namely,

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_T\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)} &= \left\| K_T * u_0 + \int_0^T K_{T-t} * f_t \, dt \right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)} \\ &\leq \|K_T * u_0\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)} + \int_0^T \|K_{T-t} * f_t\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)} \, dt \\ &\leq \|K_T\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)} \, \|u_0\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)} + \int_0^T \|K_{T-t}\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)} \, \|f_t\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)} \, dt \\ &\leq \|u_0\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)} + \int_0^T \|f_t\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)} \, dt. \end{aligned}$$

Here the third step follows from Young's inequality and the last step follows from part (i) of Remark 1.4. This proves Corollary 2.2.  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 2.3.** For every  $p \ge 2$  and every T > 0 the identity on the space of compactly supported smooth functions on  $[0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^n$  extends to a continuous inclusion operator

 $W^{1,2}([0,T], W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})) \cap L^2([0,T], L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})) \to C([0,T], W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})).$ Proof. For  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  define

$$||f||_{W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)} := \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f|^p + |\nabla f|^p\right)^{1/p}$$

and

$$||f||_{W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)} := \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f|^p + |\nabla f|^p + \sum_{i,j=1}^n |\partial_i \partial_j f|^p \right)^{1/p}.$$

Then, in particular,

$$\|\Delta f\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq n^{1/p} \|f\|_{W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$

By Corollary 2.2, every smooth function function  $u: [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  with compact support satisfies the inequality

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_t\|_{W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 &\leq \|u_t\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 + \|\nabla u_t\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 \\ &\leq \|u_s\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 + \left(\int_s^t \|\partial_t u - \Delta u\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}\right)^2 \\ &+ n \|\nabla u_s\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 + n(p-1)^2 \int_s^t \|\partial_t u - \Delta u\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 \\ &\leq (n+1) \|u_s\|_{W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 + (n(p-1)^2 + T) \int_0^T \|\partial_t u - \Delta u\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 \\ &\leq (n+1) \|u_s\|_{W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 \\ &+ 2n^{2/p} (n(p-1)^2 + T) \int_0^T \left(\|\partial_t u\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 + \|u\|_{W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2\right) \end{aligned}$$

for  $0 \le s \le t \le T$ . Replacing u(t, x) with u(T - t, x), we obtain the same inequality for  $t \le s \le T$ . Integrate the resulting inequality over the interval  $0 \le s \le T$  to obtain

$$\sup_{0 \le t \le T} \|u_t\|_{W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 \le c \int_0^T \left( \|\partial_t u\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 + \|u\|_{W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 \right),$$

where  $c := \frac{n+1}{T} + 2n^{2/p}(n(p-1)^2 + T)$ . This proves Corollary 2.3.

**Corollary 2.4.** Theorems 1.1 and 1.3 hold for p = q = 2.

*Proof.* For p = 2 Theorem 2.1 asserts that the inequality

$$\|u_T\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 + \int_{-\infty}^T \|\nabla u_t\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 dt \le \int_{-\infty}^T \|\partial_t u_t - \Delta u_t\|_{W^{-1,2}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 dt$$

holds for every  $T \in \mathbb{R}$  and every compactly supported smooth function  $u : \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \to \mathbb{C}$  such that  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u_t = 0$  for all t. For T sufficiently large it follows under the same assumption on u that

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left\|\nabla u_t\right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 dt \le \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left\|\partial_t u_t - \Delta u_t\right\|_{W^{-1,2}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 dt.$$

Replace u by  $\partial_i u$ , use the inequality  $\|\partial_i f\|_{W^{-1,2}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq \|f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}$  for every smooth function  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ , and take the sum over all i to obtain

$$\begin{split} &\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \|\partial_t u_t\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 dt \\ &\leq (n+1) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \|\partial_t u - \Delta u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 dt + (n+1) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \|\partial_i \partial_i u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 dt \\ &\leq (n+1) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \|\partial_t u - \Delta u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 dt + (n+1) \sum_{i=1}^n \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \|\nabla \partial_i u_t\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 dt \\ &\leq (n+1)^2 \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \|\partial_t u_t - \Delta u_t\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 dt. \end{split}$$

This proves the assertion of Theorem 1.1 for p = q = 2 with c = n + 1. Moreover, it follows from Corollary 2.2 that the assertion of Theorem 1.3 holds for p = 2 with  $c = \sqrt{n}$ . This proves Corollary 2.4.

**Corollary 2.5.** Assume  $1 , let <math>u_0 : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  be a compactly supported smooth function, and define

$$u_t := K_t * u_0 : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$$

for  $t \ge 0$ . Thus  $u(t, x) := u_t(x)$  is the unique solution of (1.7) with f = 0 such that  $u_t$  is square integrable for all t. Then

$$\left(\int_0^\infty \|\nabla u_t\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 dt\right)^{1/2} \le \frac{1}{p-1} \|u_0\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$
 (2.2)

*Proof.* Define  $q := p/(p-1) \ge 2$  and let  $g : [0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  be any smooth function with compact support such that  $g_t := g(t, \cdot)$  has mean value zero for all t. Define  $v_t(x) = v(t, x)$  by

$$v_t(x) := \int_t^\infty (K_{s-t} * g_s)(x) \, ds = \int_t^\infty \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} K_{s-t}(x-y) * g_s(y) \, dy \right) \, ds$$

for  $t \ge 0$  and  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Then  $\partial_t v + \Delta v = g$ ,  $v_t$  is square integrable for all t, and Theorem 2.1 implies that

$$\|v_0\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 \le (q-1)^2 \int_0^\infty \|g_t\|_{W^{-1,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 dt.$$

Moreover,

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \operatorname{Re}(\overline{v}_t u_t) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \operatorname{Re}((\partial_t \overline{v}_t) u_t) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \operatorname{Re}(\overline{v}_t(\partial_t u_t)) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \operatorname{Re}((\partial_t \overline{v}_t) u_t) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \operatorname{Re}(\overline{v}_t(\Delta u_t)) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \operatorname{Re}((\partial_t \overline{v}_t + \Delta \overline{v}_t) u_t) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \operatorname{Re}(\overline{g}_t u_t). \end{split}$$

Integrate this equation over the interval  $0 \le t < \infty$  to obtain

$$\int_0^\infty \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \operatorname{Re}(\overline{g}_t u_t) \right) dt = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \operatorname{Re}(\overline{v}_0 u_0) \le \|u_0\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)} \|v_0\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)}$$
$$\le (q-1) \|u_0\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)} \left( \int_0^\infty \|g_t\|_{W^{-1,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 dt \right)^{1/2}.$$

Since

$$\left(\int_0^\infty \|\nabla u_t\|_{W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 dt\right)^{1/2} = \sup_g \frac{\int_0^\infty \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \operatorname{Re}(\overline{g}_t u_t)\right) dt}{\left(\int_0^\infty \|g_t\|_{W^{-1,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 dt\right)^{1/2}},$$

where the supremum on the right is over all nonvanishing compactly supported smooth functions  $g: [0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  such that  $g_t := g(t, \cdot)$  has mean value zero for all t, it follows that

$$\left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \|\nabla u_{t}\|_{W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} dt\right)^{1/2} \leq (q-1) \|u_{0}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$

$$1) = (n-1)^{-1} \text{ this proves Corollary 2.5}$$

Since  $(q-1) = (p-1)^{-1}$ , this proves Corollary 2.5.

**Corollary 2.6.** Assume  $1 , let <math>u_0 : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  be a compactly supported smooth function, and define  $u_t := K_t * u_0 : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  for  $t \geq 0$  as in Corollary 2.5. Then

$$\left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \|\partial_{t} u_{t}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} dt\right)^{1/2} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \|\nabla \partial_{i} u_{t}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} dt\right)^{1/2} \leq \frac{2n}{p-1} \|\nabla u_{0}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$
(2.3)

*Proof.* Apply the estimate (2.2) in Corollary 2.5 to the function  $\partial_i u$  and take the sum over all i to obtain

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( \int_{0}^{\infty} \|\nabla \partial_{i} u_{t}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} dt \right)^{1/2} \leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{p-1} \|\partial_{i} u_{0}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$$
$$\leq \frac{n}{p-1} \|\nabla u_{0}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$

Since

$$\partial_t u = \Delta u = \sum_{i=1}^n \partial_i \partial_i u$$

it follows that

$$\left(\int_0^\infty \|\partial_t u_t\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 dt\right)^{1/2} \leq \sum_{i=1}^n \left(\int_0^\infty \|\nabla \partial_i u_t\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 dt\right)^{1/2}$$
$$\leq \frac{n}{p-1} \|\nabla u_0\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$

This proves Corollary 2.6.

Corollary 2.6 is a kind of converse of Corollary 2.3. While Corollary 2.3 asserts (for  $p \ge 2$ ) that every function in the space

$$\mathcal{W}^{p} := W^{1,2}([0,T], L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n}, \mathbb{C})) \cap L^{2}([0,T], W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^{n}, \mathbb{C}))$$

is a continuous function on the intervall [0,T] with values in  $W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n,\mathbb{C})$ , Corollary 2.6 asserts (for  $p \leq 2$ ) that every element  $u_0 \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n,\mathbb{C})$  extends to a function in  $\mathcal{W}^p$  that agrees with  $u_0$  at t = 0.

### **3** Riesz–Thorin and Stein interpolation

Assume throughout that  $(X, \mathcal{A}, \mu)$  and  $(Y, \mathcal{B}, \nu)$  are measure spaces. For  $1 \leq p \leq \infty$  denote by  $L^p(X, \mu)$  and  $L^p(Y, \nu)$  the complex  $L^p$ -spaces. Also denote by  $\mathscr{X}$  the set of all equivalence classes of  $\mathcal{A}$ -measurable step functions  $f : X \to \mathbb{C}$  with support of finite measure and by  $\mathscr{Y}$  the set of all equivalence classes of  $\mathcal{B}$ -measurable step functions  $g : Y \to \mathbb{C}$  with support of finite measure. The equivalence relation in both cases is equality almost everywhere. Whenever convenient we abuse notation and denote by f either an equivalence class of measurable functions on X (respectively Y) or a representative of the corresponding equivalence class. We begin our exposition with the **Riesz-Thorin Interpolation Theorem** [32, 37].

Theorem 3.1 (Riesz-Thorin). Let  $1 \le p_0, p_1, q_0, q_1 \le \infty$ , let

$$T: L^{p_0}(X,\mu) \cap L^{p_1}(X,\mu) \to L^{q_0}(Y,\nu) \cap L^{q_1}(Y,\nu)$$

be a linear operator, and suppose that there exist positive real numbers  $c_0, c_1$ such that, for all  $f \in L^{p_0}(X, \mu) \cap L^{p_1}(X, \mu)$ ,

$$\|Tf\|_{L^{q_0}} \le c_0 \|f\|_{L^{p_0}}, \qquad \|Tf\|_{L^{q_1}} \le c_1 \|f\|_{L^{p_1}}$$
(3.1)

Fix a real number  $0 < \lambda < 1$  and define the numbers  $p_{\lambda}, q_{\lambda}, c_{\lambda}$  by

$$\frac{1}{p_{\lambda}} := \frac{1-\lambda}{p_0} + \frac{\lambda}{p_1}, \qquad \frac{1}{q_{\lambda}} := \frac{1-\lambda}{q_0} + \frac{\lambda}{q_1}, \qquad c_{\lambda} := c_0^{1-\lambda} c_1^{\lambda}. \tag{3.2}$$

If  $q_{\lambda} = \infty$  assume that  $(Y, \mathcal{B}, \nu)$  is semi-finite. Then

$$\|Tf\|_{L^{q_{\lambda}}} \le c_{\lambda} \|f\|_{L^{p_{\lambda}}} \tag{3.3}$$

for all  $f \in L^{p_0}(X,\mu) \cap L^{p_1}(X,\mu) \subset L^{p_\lambda}(X,\mu)$ . Proof. See page 17.

The proof requires Hadamard's Three Lines Theorem. Define

$$\mathbb{S} := \left\{ z \in \mathbb{C} \mid 0 \le \operatorname{Re}(z) \le 1 \right\}.$$
(3.4)

**Theorem 3.2** (Hadamard Three Lines Theorem). Let  $\Phi : \mathbb{S} \to \mathbb{C}$  be a bounded continuous function that is holomorphic in  $int(\mathbb{S})$ . Then

$$\sup_{\operatorname{Re}(z)=\lambda} |\Phi(z)| \le \left( \sup_{\operatorname{Re}(z)=0} |\Phi(z)| \right)^{1-\lambda} \left( \sup_{\operatorname{Re}(z)=1} |\Phi(z)| \right)^{\lambda}$$

for all  $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ .

*Proof.* Define  $c_0 := \sup_{\operatorname{Re}(z)=0} |\Phi(z)|$  and  $c_1 := \sup_{\operatorname{Re}(z)=1} |\Phi(z)|$ . Then the function  $\Psi_n : \mathbb{S} \to \mathbb{C}$  defined by

$$\Psi_n(z) := \frac{\Phi(z)}{c_0^{1-z} c_1^z} e^{\frac{z^2 - 1}{n}}$$

is continuous, is holomorphic in int(S), and converges to zero as |z| tends to infinity. Hence it attains its maximum on the boundary of S. Since

$$|\Psi_n(z)| \le e^{\frac{\operatorname{Re}(z^2)-1}{n}} = e^{\frac{\operatorname{Re}(z)^2 - \operatorname{Im}(z)^2 - 1}{n}} \le 1$$
 for  $\operatorname{Re}(z) = 0, 1,$ 

it follows that  $|\Psi_n(z)| \leq 1$  for all  $z \in \mathbb{C}$  with  $0 \leq \mathbb{R}(z) \leq 1$ . Take the limit  $n \to \infty$  to obtain the inequality

$$|\Phi(z)| \le |c_0^{1-z}c_1^z| = c_0^{1-\operatorname{Re}(z)}c_1^{\operatorname{Re}(z)}$$

for all  $z \in \mathbb{C}$  with  $0 \leq \mathbb{R}(z) \leq 1$ . This proves Theorem 3.2.

*Proof of Theorem 3.1.* The proof follows the exposition in [18].

**Step 1.** The assertion holds when  $p_0 = p_1 =: p$ .

In this case  $p_{\lambda} = p$  and it follows from Hölder's inequality and equations (3.1) and (3.2) that

$$\|Tf\|_{L^{q_{\lambda}}} \le \|Tf\|_{L^{q_{0}}}^{1-\lambda} \|Tf\|_{L^{q_{1}}}^{\lambda} \le c_{0}^{1-\lambda}c_{1}^{\lambda} \|f\|_{L^{p}}$$

for all  $f \in L^p(X, \mu)$ . This proves Step 1.

**Step 2.** Let  $h \in L^{q_0}(Y,\nu) \cap L^{q_1}(Y,\nu)$ . Thus  $h \in L^{q_\lambda}(Y,\nu)$  and so gh is integrable for all  $g \in \mathscr{Y}$ . Define  $r_\lambda \in [0,\infty]$  by

$$\frac{1}{q_{\lambda}} + \frac{1}{r_{\lambda}} = 1, \tag{3.5}$$

let c > 0, and assume that

$$\left| \int_{Y} gh \, d\nu \right| \le c \left\| g \right\|_{L^{r_{\lambda}}} \tag{3.6}$$

for all  $g \in \mathscr{Y}$ . Then  $||h||_{L^{q_{\lambda}}} \leq c$ .

Assume first that  $1 < q_{\lambda} < \infty$  and so  $1 < r_{\lambda} < \infty$ . Hence  $\mathscr{Y}$  is dense in  $L^{r_{\lambda}}(Y,\nu)$  by [33, Lemma 4.12]. Thus the inequality (3.6) continues to hold for all  $g \in L^{r_{\lambda}}(Y,\nu)$ . Define  $g: Y \to \mathbb{C}$  by  $g(y) := |h(y)|^{q_{\lambda}-2}\overline{h(y)}$  whenever  $h(y) \neq 0$  and g(y) := 0 otherwise. Then  $g \in L^{r_{\lambda}}(Y,\nu)$  and  $\|g\|_{L^{r_{\lambda}}} = \|h\|_{L^{q_{\lambda}}}^{q_{\lambda}-1}$ . Hence  $\|h\|_{L^{q_{\lambda}}}^{q_{\lambda}} = \left|\int_{Y} gh \, d\nu\right| \leq c \, \|g\|_{L^{r_{\lambda}}} = c \, \|h\|_{L^{q_{\lambda}}}^{q_{\lambda}-1}$  and so  $\|h\|_{L^{q_{\lambda}}} \leq c$ .

Next assume  $q_{\lambda} = \infty$  and so  $r_{\lambda} = 1$ . Then  $\mathscr{Y}$  is dense in  $L^{1}(Y, \nu)$  by [33, Lemma 4.12] and so (3.6) continues to hold for all  $g \in L^{1}(Y, \nu)$ . Assume, by contradiction, that  $\|h\|_{L^{\infty}} > c$ . Then there is a  $\delta > 0$  such that the set  $B := \{y \in Y \mid |h(y)| > c + \delta\}$  has positive measure. Since  $(Y, \mathcal{B}, \nu)$  is semifinite, there exists a measurable set  $E \subset B$  such that  $0 < \nu(E) < \infty$ . Define g by  $g(y) := |h(y)|^{-1}\overline{h(y)}$  for  $y \in E$  and by g(y) := 0 for  $y \in Y \setminus E$ . Then  $g \in L^{1}(Y, \nu)$  and

$$\left| \int_{Y} gh \, d\nu \right| = \int_{E} |h| \, d\nu \ge (c+\delta)\nu(E) > c\nu(E) = c \, \|g\|_{L^{2}}$$

in contradiction to (3.6).

Next assume  $q_{\lambda} = 1$  and so  $r_{\lambda} = \infty$ . Suppose, by contradiction, that  $\|h\|_{L^1} > c$ . Since  $\mathscr{Y}$  is dense in  $L^1(Y, \nu)$  there is a  $k \in \mathscr{Y}$  such that

$$||h-k||_{L^1} < \frac{||h||_{L^1} - c}{2}.$$

Define  $g: Y \to \mathbb{C}$  by  $g(y) := |k(y)|^{-1}\overline{k(y)}$  whenever  $k(y) \neq 0$  and g(y) := 0 otherwise. Then  $g \in \mathscr{Y}$ ,  $\|g\|_{L^{\infty}} = 1$ , and  $\int_{Y} gk \, d\nu = \|k\|_{L^{1}}$ . Hence

$$\left| \int_{Y} gh \, d\nu \right| \ge \|k\|_{L^{1}} - \|h - k\|_{L^{1}} \ge \|h\|_{L^{1}} - 2 \, \|h - k\|_{L^{1}} > c = c \, \|g\|_{L^{\infty}}$$

in contradiction to (3.6). This proves Step 2.

**Step 3.** Let  $r_{\lambda}$  be as in Step 2. Then the inequality

$$\int_{Y} (Tf)g \, d\nu \le c_{\lambda} \, \|f\|_{L^{p_{\lambda}}} \, \|g\|_{L^{r_{\lambda}}} \tag{3.7}$$

holds for all  $f \in \mathscr{X}$  and all  $g \in \mathscr{Y}$ .

This is the heart of the proof of Theorem 3.1. Write

$$f = \sum_{i=1}^{k} a_i \chi_{A_i}, \qquad g = \sum_{j=1}^{\ell} b_j \chi_{B_j}, \qquad (3.8)$$

where  $a_1, \ldots, a_k$  and  $b_1, \ldots, b_\ell$  are nonzero complex numbers, the  $A_i$  are pairwise disjoint measurable subsets of X with finite measure, and the  $B_j$ are pairwise disjoint measurable subsets of Y with finite measure. Here  $\chi_A$  denotes the characteristic function of a set  $A \subset X$  and  $\chi_B$  denotes the characteristic function of a set  $B \subset Y$ . Choose  $\phi_i, \psi_j \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$a_i = |a_i|e^{\mathbf{i}\phi_i}, \qquad b_j = |b_j|e^{\mathbf{i}\psi_j}$$

for i = 1, ..., k and  $j = 1, ..., \ell$ .

For  $z \in \mathbb{S}$  define  $f_z : X \to \mathbb{C}$  and  $g_z : Y \to \mathbb{C}$  by

$$f_{z}(x) := \sum_{i=1}^{k} |a_{i}|^{\frac{(1-z)p_{1}+zp_{0}}{(1-\lambda)p_{1}+\lambda p_{0}}} e^{\mathbf{i}\phi_{i}} \chi_{A_{i}},$$

$$g_{z}(y) := \sum_{j=1}^{\ell} |b_{j}|^{\frac{q_{0}q_{1}-(1-z)q_{1}-zq_{0}}{q_{0}q_{1}-(1-\lambda)q_{1}-\lambda q_{0}}} e^{\mathbf{i}\psi_{j}} \chi_{B_{i}}$$
(3.9)

for  $x \in X$  and  $y \in Y$ . Then  $f_{\lambda} = f$  and  $g_{\lambda} = g$ . Moreover, the function  $\Phi : \mathbb{S} \to \mathbb{C}$  defined by

$$\Phi(z) := \int_{Y} (Tf_{z})g_{z} \, d\nu$$

$$= \sum_{i,j} |a_{i}|^{\frac{(1-z)p_{1}+zp_{0}}{(1-\lambda)p_{1}+\lambda p_{0}}} |b_{j}|^{\frac{q_{0}q_{1}-(1-z)q_{1}-zq_{0}}{q_{0}q_{1}-(1-\lambda)q_{1}-\lambda q_{0}}} e^{\mathbf{i}(\phi_{i}+\psi_{j})} \int_{B_{j}} (T\chi_{A_{i}}) \, d\nu$$
(3.10)

for  $z \in \mathbb{S}$  is holomorphic. Let  $z \in \mathbb{C}$  with  $\operatorname{Re}(z) = 0$ . Then

$$|f_z(x)|^{p_0} = |a_i|^{\frac{p_0 p_1}{(1-\lambda)p_1 + \lambda p_0}} = |a_i|^{p_\lambda} = |f(x)|^{p_\lambda}$$

for  $x \in A_i$  and

$$|g_z(y)|^{r_0} = |b_i|^{\frac{r_0(q_0-1)q_1}{q_0q_1-(1-\lambda)q_1-\lambda q_0}} = |b_i|^{\frac{q_0q_1}{q_0q_1-(1-\lambda)q_1-\lambda q_0}} = |b_j|^{\frac{q_\lambda}{q_\lambda-1}} = |g(x)|^{r_\lambda}$$

for  $y \in B_j$ . Hence

$$|\Phi(z)| \le ||Tf_z||_{L^{q_0}} ||g_z||_{L^{r_0}} \le c_0 ||f_z||_{L^{p_0}} ||g_z||_{L^{r_0}} = c_0 ||f||_{L^{p_\lambda}}^{p_\lambda/p_0} ||g||_{L^{r_\lambda}}^{r_\lambda/r_0}$$

for all  $z \in \mathbb{C}$  with  $\operatorname{Re}(z) = 0$ . A similar argument shows that

$$|\Phi(z)| \le ||Tf_z||_{L^{q_0}} ||g_z||_{L^{r_0}} \le c_1 ||f_z||_{L^{p_1}} ||g_z||_{L^{r_1}} = c_1 ||f||_{L^{p_\lambda}}^{p_\lambda/p_1} ||g||_{L^{r_\lambda}}^{r_\lambda/r_1}$$

for all  $z \in \mathbb{C}$  with  $\operatorname{Re}(z) = 1$ . Hence it follows from Hadamard's Three Lines Theorem 3.2 that

$$\begin{aligned} |\Phi(\lambda)| &\leq \left( \sup_{\operatorname{Re}(z)=0} |\Phi(z)| \right)^{1-\lambda} \left( \sup_{\operatorname{Re}(z)=1} |\Phi(z)| \right)^{\lambda} \\ &\leq \left( c_0 \|f\|_{L^{p_{\lambda}}}^{p_{\lambda}/p_0} \|g\|_{L^{r_{\lambda}}}^{r_{\lambda}/r_0} \right)^{1-\lambda} \left( c_1 \|f\|_{L^{p_{\lambda}}}^{p_{\lambda}/p_1} \|g\|_{L^{r_{\lambda}}}^{r_{\lambda}/r_1} \right)^{\lambda} \\ &= c_{\lambda} \|f\|_{L^{p_{\lambda}}} \|g\|_{L^{r_{\lambda}}} \,. \end{aligned}$$

The last equation uses the identities  $c_{\lambda} = c_0^{1-\lambda}c_1^{\lambda}$  and  $\frac{1}{p_{\lambda}} = \frac{1-\lambda}{p_0} + \frac{\lambda}{p_1}$  as well as  $\frac{1}{r_{\lambda}} = 1 - \frac{1}{q_{\lambda}} = 1 - \frac{1-\lambda}{q_0} - \frac{\lambda}{q_1} = \frac{1-\lambda}{r_0} + \frac{\lambda}{r_1}$ . This proves Step 3.

Step 4.  $||Tf||_{L^{q_{\lambda}}} \leq c_{\lambda} ||f||_{L^{p_{\lambda}}}$  for all  $f \in \mathscr{X}$ .

Let  $f \in \mathscr{X}$ . Then Step 3 shows that h := Tf satisfies the hypotheses of Step 2 with  $c := c_{\lambda} ||f||_{L^{p_{\lambda}}}$ . Hence the assertion follows from Step 2.

Step 5. We prove the theorem.

For  $p_0 = p_1$  the assertion holds by Step 1. Hence assume  $p_0 \neq p_1$  and, without loss of generality, that  $p_0 < \infty$ . Then  $p_\lambda < \infty$ . Fix a function

$$f \in L^{p_0}(X,\mu) \cap L^{p_1}(X,\mu).$$

We prove that there exists a sequence  $f_n \in \mathscr{X}$  such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|f - f_n\|_{L^{p_{\lambda}}} = 0, \qquad \lim_{n \to \infty} (Tf_n)(y) = (Tf)(y)$$
(3.11)

for almost every  $y \in Y$ . To see this assume first that  $f \ge 0$ . Then there exists a monotone sequence of measurable step functions  $f_n : X \to [0, \infty)$ such that  $0 \le s_1(x) \le s_2(x) \le \cdots$  and  $\lim_{n\to\infty} f_n(x) = f(x)$  for all  $x \in X$ (see [33, Theorem 1.26]). Since  $p_0, p_\lambda < \infty$  and  $f \in L^{p_\lambda}(X,\mu) \cap L^{p_0}(X,\mu)$ , the functions  $f^{p_\lambda}$  and  $f^{p_0}$  are integrable. Since  $|f_n(x) - f(x)|^{p_\lambda} \le f(x)^{p_\lambda}$ and  $|f_n(x) - f(x)|^{p_0} \le f(x)^{p_0}$  for all  $x \in X$ , it follows from the Lebesgue Dominated Convergence Theorem (see [33, Theorem 1.45]) that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|f_n - f\|_{L^{p_{\lambda}}} = 0, \qquad \lim_{n \to \infty} \|f_n - f\|_{L^{p_0}} = 0.$$

Since  $||Tf_n - Tf||_{L^{q_0}} \leq c_0 ||f_n - f||_{L^{p_0}}$ , we have  $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||Tf_n - Tf||_{L^{q_0}} = 0$ . Hence there exists a subsequence, still denoted by  $f_n$ , such that  $Tf_n$  converges almost everywhere to Tf (see [33, Corollary 4.10]). This is the required sequence in the case  $f \geq 0$ . To obtain the result in general apply this argument to the positive and negative parts of the real and imaginary parts of an arbitrary function  $f \in L^{p_0}(X,\mu) \cap L^{p_1}(X,\mu)$ . This proves the existence of a sequence  $f_n \in \mathscr{X}$  that satisfies (3.11).

Since  $||Tf_n - Tf_m||_{L^{q_\lambda}} \leq c_0 ||f_n - f_m||_{L^{p_\lambda}}$  for all  $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$ , by Step 4, it follows from (3.11) that  $Tf_n$  is a Cauchy sequence in  $L^{q_\lambda}(Y,\nu)$  and hence converges in  $L^{q_\lambda}(Y,\nu)$ . Since  $Tf_n$  converges to Tf almost everywhere, its limit in  $L^{q_\lambda}(Y,\nu)$  agrees with Tf. Hence  $Tf \in L^{q_\lambda}(Y,\nu)$  and

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|Tf_n\|_{L^{q_{\lambda}}} = \|Tf\|_{L^{q_{\lambda}}}.$$
(3.12)

By (3.11), (3.12), and Step 4 we have

$$\|Tf\|_{L^{q_{\lambda}}} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \|Tf_n\|_{L^{q_{\lambda}}} \le c_{\lambda} \lim_{n \to \infty} \|f_n\|_{L^{p_{\lambda}}} = c_{\lambda} \|f\|_{L^{p_{\lambda}}}.$$

This proves Step 5 and Theorem 3.1.

The **Stein Interpolation Theorem** in [36] is an extension of the Riesz– Thorin Interpolation Theorem, where the operator T is replaced by a holomorphic operator family  $\{T_z\}_{z\in\mathbb{S}}$ , parametrized by the elements of the strip  $\mathbb{S} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid 0 \leq \operatorname{Re}(z) \leq 1\}$  in (3.4). Denote by  $L^1_{\operatorname{loc}}(Y,\nu)$  the space of all equivalence classes of measurable functions  $g: Y \to \mathbb{C}$  such that the restriction of g to every measurable subset of Y with finite measure is integrable. Recall that  $\mathscr{X}$  denotes the set of all equivalence classes of  $\mathcal{A}$ -measurable step function  $f: X \to \mathbb{C}$  with support of finite measure.

**Theorem 3.3 (Stein).** Let  $1 \leq p_0, p_1, q_0, q_1 \leq \infty$  and let

$$T_z: \mathscr{X} \to L^1_{\mathrm{loc}}(Y, \nu), \qquad z \in \mathbb{S},$$

be a family of linear operators satisfying the following two conditions. (a) For all  $f \in \mathscr{X}$  and all  $g \in \mathscr{Y}$  the function

$$\mathbb{S} \to \mathbb{C} : z \mapsto \int_Y g(T_z f) \, d\nu$$

is continuous and is holomorphic in  $int(\mathbb{S})$ .

(b) There exist positive real numbers  $c_0, c_1$  such that

$$\|T_{\mathbf{i}t}f\|_{L^{q_0}} \le c_0 \|f\|_{L^{p_0}}, \qquad \|T_{1+\mathbf{i}t}f\|_{L^{q_1}} \le c_1 \|f\|_{L^{p_1}}$$
(3.13)

for all  $f \in \mathscr{X}$  and all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

Let  $0 < \lambda < 1$  and define  $p_{\lambda}, q_{\lambda}, c_{\lambda}$  by

$$\frac{1}{p_{\lambda}} := \frac{1-\lambda}{p_0} + \frac{\lambda}{p_1}, \qquad \frac{1}{q_{\lambda}} := \frac{1-\lambda}{q_0} + \frac{\lambda}{q_1}, \qquad c_{\lambda} := c_0^{1-\lambda} c_1^{\lambda}.$$
(3.14)

If  $q_{\lambda} = \infty$  assume that  $(Y, \mathcal{B}, \nu)$  is semi-finite. Then

$$\|T_{\lambda}f\|_{L^{q_{\lambda}}} \le c_{\lambda} \|f\|_{L^{p_{\lambda}}}$$

$$(3.15)$$

for all  $f \in \mathscr{X}$ .

*Proof.* The proof is a straight forward extension of the proof of Theorem 3.1. Namely, let  $f \in \mathscr{X}$  and  $g \in \mathscr{Y}$ , and define the function  $\Phi : \mathbb{S} \to \mathbb{C}$  by

$$\Phi(z) := \int_Y g_z(T_z f_z) \, d\nu$$

for  $z \in \mathbb{S}$ , where  $f_z : X \to \mathbb{C}$  and  $g_z : Y \to \mathbb{C}$  are given by (3.9) (with f and g given by (3.8)). Then it follows as in Step 3 in the proof of Theorem 3.1 that  $|\int_Y g(T_\lambda f) d\nu| = |\Phi(\lambda)| \leq c_\lambda ||f||_{L^{p_\lambda}} ||g||_{L^{q_\lambda}}$ . By Step 2 in the proof of Theorem 3.1 this implies the assertion of Theorem 3.3.

### 4 Marcinkiewicz interpolation

The Marcinkiewicz interpolation theorem provides a criterion for a linear operator on  $L^2(\mu)$  to induce a linear operator on  $L^p$  for  $1 . Let <math>(X, \mathcal{A}, \mu)$  be a measure space. For a measurable function  $f : X \to \mathbb{R}$  define the (Borel measurable) function  $\kappa_f : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty]$  by

$$\kappa_f(t) := \mu(A(t, f)), \quad A(t, f) := \{x \in X \mid |f(x)| > t\}, \quad \text{for } t \ge 0.$$
(4.1)

**Lemma 4.1.** Let  $1 \le p < \infty$  and let  $f, g : X \to \mathbb{R}$  be measurable functions. Then, for all t > 0,

$$\kappa_{f+g}(t) \le \kappa_f(t/2) + \kappa_g(t/2), \tag{4.2}$$

$$t^{p}\kappa_{f}(t) \leq \int_{X} |f|^{p} d\mu = p \int_{0}^{\infty} s^{p-1}\kappa_{f}(s) ds.$$

$$(4.3)$$

*Proof.* The inequality (4.2) holds because  $A(t, f+g) \subset A(t/2, f) \cup A(t/2, g)$ . We prove (4.3) in four steps.

Step 1.  $t^p \kappa_f(t) \leq \int_X |f|^p d\mu$  for all  $t \geq 0$ .

Since  $t^p \chi_{A(t,f)} \leq |f|^p$  it follows that  $t^p \kappa_f(t) = \int_X t^p \chi_{(A(t,f))} d\mu \leq \int_X |f|^p d\mu$  for all  $t \geq 0$ . This proves Step 1.

**Step 2.** If  $\kappa_f(t) = \infty$  for some t > 0 then  $\int_X |f|^p d\mu = \infty = \int_0^\infty t^{p-1} \kappa_f(t) dt$ . By Step 1, we have  $\int_X |f|^p d\mu = \infty$ . Moreover,  $t^{p-1} \kappa_f(t) = \infty$  for t > 0 sufficiently small and hence  $\int_0^\infty t^{p-1} \kappa_f(t) dt = \infty$ . This proves Step 2.

**Step 3.** Assume  $(X, \mathcal{A}, \mu)$  is  $\sigma$ -finite and  $\kappa_f(t) < \infty$  for all t > 0. Then equation (4.3) holds.

Let  $\mathcal{B} \subset 2^{[0,\infty)}$  be the Borel  $\sigma$ -algebra and denote by  $m : \mathcal{B} \to [0,\infty]$  the restriction of the Lebesgue measure to  $\mathcal{B}$ . Let  $(X \times [0,\infty), \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}, \mu \otimes m)$  be the product measure space in [33, Def 7.10]. We prove that

$$Q(f) := \left\{ (x,t) \in X \times [0,\infty) \, \middle| \, 0 \le t < |f(x)| \right\} \in \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}.$$

To see this, assume first that f is an  $\mathcal{A}$ -measurable step-function. Then there exist finitely many pairwise disjoint measurable sets  $A_1, \ldots, A_\ell \in \mathcal{A}$ and positive real numbers  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_\ell$  such that  $|f| = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \alpha_i \chi_{A_i}$ . In this case  $Q(f) = \bigcup_{i=1}^{\ell} A_i \times [0, \alpha_i) \in \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$ . Now consider the general case. Then there is a sequence of  $\mathcal{A}$ -measurable step-functions  $f_i : X \to [0, \infty)$  such that  $0 \leq f_1 \leq f_2 \leq \cdots$  and  $f_i$  converges pointwise to |f| (see [33, Thm 1.26]). Since  $Q(f_i) \in \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$  for all i, we have  $Q(f) = \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} Q(f_i) \in \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$ . Now define  $h: X \times [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$  by  $h(x, t) := pt^{p-1}$ . This function is  $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$ -measurable and so is  $h\chi_{Q(f)}$ . Hence, by Fubini's Theorem,

$$\int_{X} |f|^{p} d\mu = \int_{X} \left( \int_{0}^{|f(x)|} pt^{p-1} dt \right) d\mu(x)$$
$$= \int_{X} \left( \int_{0}^{\infty} (h\chi_{Q(f)})(x,t) dm(t) \right) d\mu(x)$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} \left( \int_{X} (h\chi_{Q(f)})(x,t) d\mu(x) \right) dm(t)$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} pt^{p-1} \mu(A(t,f)) dt.$$

This proves Step 3.

**Step 4.** Assume  $\kappa_f(t) < \infty$  for all t > 0. Then (4.3) holds.

Define  $X_0 := \{x \in X \mid f(x) \neq 0\}, A_0 := \{A \in \mathcal{A} \mid A \subset X_0\}$ , and  $\mu_0 := \mu|_{\mathcal{A}_0}$ . Then the measure space  $(X_0, \mathcal{A}_0, \mu_0)$  is  $\sigma$ -finite because  $X_n := A(1/n, f)$  is a sequence of  $\mathcal{A}_n$ -measurable sets such that  $\mu_0(X_n) = \kappa_f(1/n) < \infty$  for all nand  $X_0 = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} X_n$ . Moreover,  $f_0 := f|_{X_0} : X_0 \to \mathbb{R}$  is  $\mathcal{A}_0$ -measurable and  $\kappa_f = \kappa_{f_0}$ . Hence it follows from Step 3 that

$$\int_X |f|^p \, d\mu = \int_{X_0} |f_0|^p \, d\mu_0 = \int_0^\infty t^{p-1} \kappa_{f_0}(t) \, dt = \int_0^\infty t^{p-1} \kappa_f(t) \, dt.$$

This proves Step 4 and Lemma 4.1.

Fix real numbers  $1 \le p \le q$ . Then Hölder's inequality implies

$$\|f\|_{p} \le \|f\|_{1}^{\frac{q-p}{p(q-1)}} \|f\|_{q}^{\frac{q(p-1)}{p(q-1)}}$$
(4.4)

for every measurable function  $f: X \to \mathbb{R}$  and hence

$$L^1(\mu) \cap L^q(\mu) \subset L^p(\mu).$$

Since the intersection  $L^1(\mu) \cap L^q(\mu)$  contains (the equivalences classes of) all characteristic functions of measurable sets with finite measure, it is dense in  $L^p(\mu)$  (see [33, Lem 4.12]). The following theorem was proved in 1939 by Józef Marcinkiewicz (a PhD student of Antoni Zygmund). To formulate the result it will be convenient to slightly abuse notation and use the same letter f to denote an element of  $\mathcal{L}^p(\mu)$  and its equivalence class in  $L^p(\mu)$ . For a measurable function  $f: X \to \mathbb{C}$  define

$$\|f\|_{1,\infty} := \sup_{t>0} t\kappa_f(t) \le \|f\|_{L^1}.$$
(4.5)

We emphasize that the map  $f \mapsto ||f||_{1,\infty}$  is not a norm because it only satisfies the *weak triangle inequality* 

$$\|f + g\|_{1,\infty}^{1/2} \le \|f\|_{1,\infty}^{1/2} + \|g\|_{1,\infty}^{1/2}$$

However the formula  $d_{1,\infty}(f,g) := \|f-g\|_{1,\infty}^{1/2}$  defines a metric on  $L^1(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ and the completion of  $L^1(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  with respect to this metric is the topological vector space  $L^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  of *weakly integrable* functions (see [33, Section 6.1]).

**Theorem 4.2 (Marcinkiewicz).** Let q > 1 and let  $T : L^q(\mu) \to L^q(\mu)$  be a linear operator. Suppose there are constants  $c_1 > 0$  and  $c_q > 0$  such that

$$\|Tf\|_{1,\infty} \le c_1 \, \|f\|_1 \,, \qquad \|Tf\|_q \le c_q \, \|f\|_q \tag{4.6}$$

for all  $f \in L^1(\mu) \cap L^q(\mu)$ . Fix a constant 1 . Then

$$\|Tf\|_{p} \leq c_{p} \|f\|_{p}, \qquad c_{p} := 2 \left(\frac{p(q-1)}{(q-p)(p-1)}\right)^{1/p} c_{1}^{\frac{q-p}{p(q-1)}} c_{q}^{\frac{q(p-1)}{p(q-1)}}, \qquad (4.7)$$

for all  $f \in L^1(\mu) \cap L^q(\mu)$ . Thus the restriction of T to  $L^1(\mu) \cap L^q(\mu)$  extends (uniquely) to a bounded linear operator from  $L^p(\mu)$  to itself for 1 .

*Proof.* Let c > 0 and let  $f \in \mathcal{L}^1(\mu) \cap \mathcal{L}^q(\mu)$ . For  $t \ge 0$  define

$$f_t(x) := \begin{cases} f(x), & \text{if } |f(x)| > ct, \\ 0, & \text{if } |f(x)| \le ct, \end{cases} \qquad g_t(x) := \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } |f(x)| > ct, \\ f(x), & \text{if } |f(x)| \le ct. \end{cases}$$

Then

$$A(s, f_t) = \begin{cases} A(s, f), & \text{if } s > ct, \\ A(ct, f), & \text{if } s \le ct, \end{cases} A(s, g_t) = \begin{cases} \emptyset, & \text{if } s \ge ct, \\ A(s, f) \setminus A(ct, f), & \text{if } s < ct, \end{cases}$$
$$\kappa_{f_t}(s) = \begin{cases} \kappa_f(s), & \text{if } s > ct, \\ \kappa_f(ct), & \text{if } s \le ct, \end{cases} \kappa_{g_t}(s) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } s \ge ct, \\ \kappa_f(s) - \kappa_f(ct), & \text{if } s < ct. \end{cases}$$

By Lemma 4.1 and Fubini's Theorem, this implies

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{p-2} \|f_{t}\|_{1} dt &= \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{p-2} \left( \int_{0}^{\infty} \kappa_{f_{t}}(s) \, ds \right) dt \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{p-2} \left( ct \kappa_{f}(ct) + \int_{ct}^{\infty} \kappa_{f}(s) \, ds \right) dt \\ &= c^{1-p} \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{p-1} \kappa_{f}(t) \, dt + \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{s/c} t^{p-2} \, dt \, \kappa_{f}(s) \, ds \\ &= c^{1-p} \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{p-1} \kappa_{f}(t) \, dt + \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{(s/c)^{p-1}}{p-1} \kappa_{f}(s) \, ds \\ &= \frac{c^{1-p}p}{p-1} \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{p-1} \kappa_{f}(t) \, dt \\ &= \frac{c^{1-p}}{p-1} \int_{X}^{\infty} |f|^{p} \, d\mu \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{p-q-1} \|g_{t}\|_{q}^{q} dt &= \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{p-q-1} \left( \int_{0}^{\infty} qs^{q-1} \kappa_{g_{t}}(s) \, ds \right) dt \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{p-q-1} \left( \int_{0}^{ct} qs^{q-1} (\kappa_{f}(s) - \kappa_{f}(ct)) \, ds \right) dt \\ &= q \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{s/c}^{\infty} t^{p-q-1} \, dt \, s^{q-1} \kappa_{f}(s) \, ds - c^{q} \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{p-1} \kappa_{f}(ct) \, dt \\ &= q \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{s^{p-1} c^{q-p}}{q-p} \kappa_{f}(s) \, ds - c^{q-p} \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{p-1} \kappa_{f}(t) \, dt \\ &= \frac{c^{q-p} p}{q-p} \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{p-1} \kappa_{f}(t) \, dt \\ &= \frac{c^{q-p}}{q-p} \int_{X}^{\infty} |f|^{p} \, d\mu. \end{split}$$

Moreover,  $f = f_t + g_t$  for all  $t \ge 0$ . Hence, by Lemma 4.1 and (4.6),

$$\begin{aligned} \kappa_{Tf}(t) &\leq \kappa_{Tf_t}(t/2) + \kappa_{Tg_t}(t/2) \\ &\leq \frac{2}{t} \|Tf_t\|_{1,\infty} + \frac{2^q}{t^q} \|Tg_t\|_q^q \\ &\leq \frac{2c_1}{t} \|f_t\|_1 + \frac{(2c_q)^q}{t^q} \|g_t\|_q^q.
\end{aligned}$$

Hence, by Lemma 4.1 and the identities on page 25,

$$\begin{split} \int_{X} |Tf|^{p} d\mu &= p \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{p-1} \kappa_{Tf}(t) dt \\ &\leq p 2c_{1} \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{p-2} \|f_{t}\|_{1} dt + p (2c_{q})^{q} \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{p-q-1} \|g_{t}\|_{q}^{q} dt \\ &= \left(\frac{p 2c_{1} c^{1-p}}{p-1} + \frac{p (2c_{q})^{q} c^{q-p}}{q-p}\right) \int_{X} |f|^{p} d\mu \\ &= \frac{p (q-1) 2^{p} c_{1}^{(q-p)/(q-1)} c_{q}^{(qp-q)/(q-1)}}{(q-p)(p-1)} \int_{X} |f|^{p} d\mu \end{split}$$

Here the last equation follows with the choice of  $c := (2c_1)^{1/(q-1)}/(2c_q)^{q/(q-1)}$ . This proves Theorem 4.2.

Theorem 4.2 extends to Banach space valued functions. Here is an example for such an extension that is used in Section 9. Consider the positive real axis equipped with the Lebesgue measure. For a strongly Lebesgue measurable function  $f : [0, \infty) \to X$  with values in a Banach space X define the function  $\kappa_f : (0, \infty) \to [0, \infty]$  by

$$\kappa_f(r) := \mu\left(\left\{t \ge 0 \mid ||f(t)|| > r\right\}\right) \quad \text{for } r > 0.$$

This function depends only on the equivalence class of f up to equality almost everywhere.

**Corollary 4.3 (Marcinkiewicz).** Fix a real number  $1 < q < \infty$ . Let X be a Banach space and let

$$\mathcal{T}: L^q([0,\infty),X) \to L^q([0,\infty),X)$$

be a linear operator. Suppose there exist positive constants  $c_1, c_q$  such that

$$\|\mathcal{T}f\|_{L^q} \le c_q \|f\|_{L^q}, \qquad \sup_{r>0} r\kappa_{\mathcal{T}f}(r) \le c_1 \|f\|_{L^1}$$

for all  $f \in L^q([0,\infty), X) \cap L^1([0,\infty), X)$ . Then

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{T}f\|_{L^p} &\leq c_p \, \|f\|_{L^p} \,, \qquad c_p := 2 \left(\frac{p(q-1)}{(q-p)(p-1)}\right)^{1/p} c_1^{\frac{q-p}{p(q-1)}} c_q^{\frac{q(p-1)}{p(q-1)}} \\ for \, 1$$

*Proof.* The proofs of Lemma 4.1 and Theorem 4.2 carry over verbatim to Banach space valued functions.  $\Box$ 

## 5 The Calderón–Zygmund inequality

The next definition is taken from the exposition in Parissis [29].

**Definition 5.1.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and let  $\Delta_n := \{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n | x = y\}$  be the diagonal in  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$ . Fix two constants C > 0 and  $0 < \sigma \leq 1$ . A **Calderón–Zygmund pair on**  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with constants C and  $\sigma$  is a pair (T, K), consisting of a bounded linear operator  $T : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and a continuous function  $K : (\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n) \setminus \Delta_n \to \mathbb{C}$ , satisfying the following axioms. (**CZ1**)  $\|Tf\|_{L^2} \leq C \|f\|_{L^2}$  for all  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ .

(CZ2) If  $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  is a continuous function with compact support then the restriction of Tf to the open set  $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \text{supp}(f)$  is continuous and

$$(Tf)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} K(x, y) f(y) \, dy \qquad \text{for all } x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \text{supp}(f). \tag{5.1}$$

(CZ3) Let  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $x \neq y$ . Then

$$|K(x,y)| \le \frac{C}{|x-y|^n}.$$
 (5.2)

(CZ4) Let  $x, x', y, y' \in \mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $x \neq y, x \neq y'$ , and  $x' \neq y$ . Then

$$|y - y'| < \frac{1}{2}|x - y| \implies |K(x, y) - K(x, y')| \le \frac{C|y - y'|^{\sigma}}{|x - y|^{n + \sigma}},$$
  
$$|x - x'| < \frac{1}{2}|x - y| \implies |K(x, y) - K(x', y)| \le \frac{C|x - x'|^{\sigma}}{|x - y|^{n + \sigma}}.$$
 (5.3)

We remark that if (T, K) is a Calderón–Zygmund pair then so is (T', K), where the operator  $T' : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  is given by T'f = Tf + bf for all  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and some bounded measurable function  $b : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$ . Thus the operator T is not uniquely determined by K. However, it is easy to see that the function K is uniquely determined by the operator T. (Exercise!)

**Theorem 5.2 (Calderón–Zygmund).** Fix an integer  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , a real number 1 , and two constants <math>C > 0 and  $0 < \sigma \leq 1$ . Then there exists a constant  $c = c(n, p, \sigma, C) > 0$  such that every Calderón–Zygmund pair (T, K) on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with constants C and  $\sigma$  satisfies the inequality

$$\|Tf\|_{L^p} \le c \, \|f\|_{L^p} \tag{5.4}$$

for all  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \cap L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ .

Proof. The proof has four steps. Denote by  $\mu$  the Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . **Step 1.** There is a constant  $c = c(n, \sigma, C) \ge 1$  with the following significance. Let (T, K) be a Calderón–Zygmund pair on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with the constants C and  $\sigma$ , let  $B \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a countable union of closed cubes  $Q_i \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  with pairwise disjoint interiors, and let  $h \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  such that

$$h|_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B} \equiv 0, \qquad \int_{Q_i} h(x) \, dx = 0 \qquad \text{for all } i \in \mathbb{N}.$$
 (5.5)

Then

$$\kappa_{Th}(t) \le c \left( \mu(B) + \frac{1}{t} \|h\|_1 \right) \qquad \text{for all } t > 0.$$
(5.6)

For  $i \in \mathbb{N}$  define  $h_i : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  by  $h_i(x) := h(x)$  for  $x \in Q_i$  and by  $h_i(x) := 0$ for  $x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus Q_i$ . Denote by  $q_i \in Q_i$  the center of the cube  $Q_i$  and by  $2r_i > 0$  its side length. Then  $|x - q_i| \leq \sqrt{nr_i}$  for all  $x \in Q_i$ . Fix an element  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus Q_i$ . Then it follows from (5.1) that

$$(Th_i)(x) = \int_{Q_i} K(x, y)h_i(y) \, dy$$
  
=  $\int_{Q_i} (K(x, y) - K(x, q_i))h_i(y) \, dy.$  (5.7)

The function  $h_i$  need not be continuous. Since  $x \notin Q_i$  one can approximate  $h_i$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  by a sequence of compactly supported continuous functions that vanish near x. For the approximating sequence the first equation in (5.7) holds by (5.1); now take the limit. The second equation follows from (5.5).

Now choose  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $|x - q_i| > 3\sqrt{n}r_i$ . Then

$$d(x,Q_i) := \inf_{y \in Q_i} |x - y| > 2\sqrt{n}r_i$$

and so  $|y - q_i| \le \sqrt{n}r_i < \frac{1}{2}|x - y|$  for all  $y \in Q_i$ . Hence, by (5.3) and (5.7),

$$\begin{aligned} |(Th_{i})(x)| &\leq \int_{Q_{i}} |K(x,y) - K(x,q_{i})| |h_{i}(y)| \, dy \\ &\leq \sup_{y \in Q_{i}} |K(x,y) - K(x,q_{i})| \, \|h_{i}\|_{1} \\ &\leq \sup_{y \in Q_{i}} \frac{c|y - q_{i}|^{\sigma}}{|x - y|^{n + \sigma}} \, \|h_{i}\|_{1} \\ &\leq \frac{c_{1}r_{i}^{\sigma}}{d(x,Q_{i})^{n + \sigma}} \, \|h_{i}\|_{1} \, . \end{aligned}$$

Here C is the constant in (5.3) and  $c_1 := Cn^{\sigma/2}$ .

Define

$$P_i := \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n \, \big| \, |x - q_i| \le 3\sqrt{n}r_i \right\}.$$
  
Then  $d(x, Q_i) \ge |x - q_i| - \sqrt{n}r_i$  for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus P_i$ . Hence

 $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus P_i} |(Th_i)(x)| \, dx \leq c_1 r_i^{\sigma} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus P_i} \frac{1}{\left(|x - q_i| - \sqrt{n}r_i\right)^{n + \sigma}} \, dx \, \|h_i\|_1$  $= c_1 r_i^{\sigma} \int_{||u| = \sqrt{m} n^{n+1}} dy ||h_i||_1$ 

$$= c_{1}r_{i}^{\sigma}\int_{3\sqrt{n}r_{i}}^{\infty} \frac{\omega_{n}r^{n-1}dr}{(r-\sqrt{n}r_{i})^{n+\sigma}} \|h_{i}\|_{1}$$

$$= c_{1}\omega_{n}r_{i}^{\sigma}\int_{2\sqrt{n}r_{i}}^{\infty} \frac{(s+\sqrt{n}r_{i})^{n-1}ds}{s^{n+\sigma}} \|h_{i}\|_{1}$$

$$\leq c_{1}2^{n-1}\omega_{n}r_{i}^{\sigma}\int_{2\sqrt{n}r_{i}}^{\infty} \frac{ds}{s^{1+\sigma}} \|h_{i}\|_{1}$$

$$= c_{2} \|h_{i}\|_{1}.$$

Here  $c_2 := c_1 2^{n-1-\sigma} n^{-\sigma/2} \sigma^{-1} \omega_n$  and  $\omega_n := \operatorname{Vol}_{n-1}(S^{n-1})$ . The third step in this computation follows from Fubini's Theorem in polar coordinates. Thus we have proved that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus P_i} |(Th_i)(x)| \, dx \le c_2 \, \|h_i\|_1 \quad \text{for all } i \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(5.8)

Recall that Th and  $Th_i$  are only equivalence classes in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Choose square integrable functions on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  representing these equivalence classes and denote them by the same letters  $Th, Th_i$ . We prove that there exists a Lebesgue null set  $E \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  such that

$$|(Th)(x)| \le \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} |(Th_i)(x)| \quad \text{for all } x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus E.$$
(5.9)

To see this, note that the sequence  $\sum_{i=1}^{\ell} h_i$  converges to h in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  as  $\ell$  tends to infinity and so the sequence  $\sum_{i=1}^{\ell} Th_i$  converges to Th in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . By [33, Cor 4.10] a subsequence converges almost everywhere. Hence there exists a Lebesgue null set  $E \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  and a sequence of integers  $0 < \ell_1 < \ell_2 < \ell_3 < \cdots$ such that the sequence  $\sum_{i=1}^{\ell_{\nu}} (Th_i)(x)$  coverges to (Th)(x) as  $\nu$  tends to infin-ity for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus E$ . Since  $|\sum_{i=1}^{\ell_{\nu}} (Th_i)(x)| \leq \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} |(Th_i)(x)|$  for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , this proves (5.9).

Now define

$$A := \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} P_i$$

Then it follows from (5.8) and (5.9) that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus A} |(Th)(x)| \, dx \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus A} \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} |(Th_i)(x)| \, dx$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus A} |(Th_i)(x)| \, dx$$
$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus P_i} |(Th_i)(x)| \, dx$$
$$\leq c_2 \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \|h_i\|_1$$
$$= c_2 \|h\|_1.$$

Moreover,

$$\mu(A) \le \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \mu(P_i) = c_3 \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \mu(Q_i) = c_3 \mu(B),$$

where

$$c_3 = c_3(n) := \frac{\mu(B_{3\sqrt{n}})}{\mu([-1,1]^n)} = \mu(B_{3\sqrt{n}/2}) = \frac{\omega_n 3^n n^{n/2}}{2^n n}.$$

Hence

$$t\kappa_{Th}(t) \leq t\mu(A) + t\mu\left(\left\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus A \mid |(Th)(x)| > t\right\}\right)$$
  
$$\leq t\mu(A) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus A} |(Th)(x)| \, dx$$
  
$$\leq c_3 t\mu(B) + c_2 \|h\|_1$$
  
$$\leq c_4 (t\mu(B) + \|h\|_1)$$

for all t > 0, where

$$c_4 := \max\{c_2, c_3\}.$$

This proves Step 1.

#### Step 2 (Calderón–Zygmund Decomposition).

Let  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and t > 0. Then there exists a countable collection of closed cubes  $Q_i \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  with pairwise disjoint interiors such that

$$\mu(Q_i) < \frac{1}{t} \int_{Q_i} |f(x)| \, dx \le 2^n \mu(Q_i) \qquad \text{for all } i \in \mathbb{N} \tag{5.10}$$

and

$$|f(x)| \le t$$
 for almost all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus B$ , (5.11)

where  $B := \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} Q_i$ .

For  $\xi \in \mathbb{Z}^n$  and  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$  define

$$Q(\xi, \ell) := \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n \, \middle| \, 2^{-\ell} \xi_i \le x_i \le 2^{-\ell} (\xi_i + 1) \right\}$$

Let

$$\mathscr{Q} := \left\{ Q(\xi, \ell) \, \middle| \, \xi \in \mathbb{Z}^n, \, \ell \in \mathbb{Z} \right\}$$

and define the subset  $\mathscr{Q}_0 \subset \mathscr{Q}$  by

$$\mathscr{Q}_{0} := \left\{ Q \in \mathscr{Q} \middle| \begin{array}{c} t\mu(Q) < \int_{Q} |f(x)| \, dx \text{ and, for all } Q' \in \mathscr{Q}, \\ Q \subsetneq Q' \implies \int_{Q'} |f(x)| \, dx \le t\mu(Q') \end{array} \right\}$$

Then every decreasing sequence of cubes in  $\mathscr{Q}$  contains at most one element of  $\mathscr{Q}_0$ . Hence every element of  $\mathscr{Q}_0$  satisfies (5.10) and any two cubes in  $\mathscr{Q}_0$ have disjoint interiors. Define  $B := \bigcup_{Q \in \mathscr{Q}_0} Q$ . We prove that

$$x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus B, \quad x \in Q \in \mathscr{Q} \implies \frac{1}{\mu(Q)} \int_Q |f(x)| \, dx \le t.$$
 (5.12)

Suppose, by contradiction, that there exists an element  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus B$  and a cube  $Q \in \mathscr{Q}$  such that  $x \in Q$  and  $t\mu(Q) < \int_Q |f(x)| dx$ . Then, since  $\|f\|_1 < \infty$ , there exists a maximal cube  $Q \in \mathscr{Q}$  such that  $x \in Q$  and  $t\mu(Q) < \int_Q |f(y)| dy$ . Such a maximal cube would be an element of  $\mathscr{Q}_0$ and hence  $x \in B$ , a contradiction. This proves (5.12). Now the Lebesgue Differentiation Theorem [33, Thm 6.14] asserts that there exists a Lebesgue null set  $E \subset \mathbb{R}^n \setminus B$  such that every element of  $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus (B \cup E)$  is a Lebesgue point of f. By (5.12), every point  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus (B \cup E)$  is the intersection point of a decreasing sequence of cubes over which |f| has mean value at most t. Hence it follows from [33, Thm 6.16] (a corollary of the Lebesgue Differentiation Theorem) that  $|f(x)| \leq t$  for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus (B \cup E)$ . This proves Step 2. **Step 3.** Let  $c = c(n, \sigma, C) \ge 1$  be the constant in Step 1 and let (T, K) be a Calderón–Zygmund pair on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with the constants C and  $\sigma$ . Then

$$\|Tf\|_{1,\infty} \le \left(2^{n+1} + 6c\right) \|f\|_1 \tag{5.13}$$

for all  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ .

Fix a function  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and a constant t > 0. Let the  $Q_i$  be as in Step 2 and define

$$B := \bigcup_i Q_i.$$

Then  $\mu(Q_i) < \frac{1}{t} \int_{Q_i} |f(x)| dx$  for all *i* by Step 2 and hence

$$\mu(B) = \sum_{i} \mu(Q_i) \le \frac{1}{t} \sum_{i} \int_{Q_i} |f(x)| \, dx \le \frac{1}{t} \, \|f\|_1 \, .$$

Define  $g, h : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$g := f \chi_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B} + \sum_i \frac{\int_{Q_i} f(x) \, dx}{\mu(Q_i)} \chi_{Q_i}, \qquad h := f - g.$$

Then

$$\|g\|_1 \le \|f\|_1$$
,  $\|h\|_1 \le 2 \|f\|_1$ .

Moreover, h vanishes on  $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B$  and  $\int_{Q_i} h(x) dx = 0$  for all i. Hence it follows from Step 1 that

$$\kappa_{Th}(t) \le c \left( \mu(B) + \frac{1}{t} \|h\|_1 \right) \le \frac{3c}{t} \|f\|_1.$$
(5.14)

Moreover, it follows from Step 2 that  $|g(x)| \leq t$  for almost every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus B$ and  $|g(x)| \leq 2^n t$  for every  $x \in int(Q_i)$ . Thus  $|g| \leq 2^n t$  almost everywhere. Hence it follows from [33, Lemma 7.36] that

$$\kappa_{Tg}(t) \le \frac{1}{t^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |g(x)|^2 \, dx \le \frac{2^n}{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |g(x)| \, dx \le \frac{2^n}{t} \, \|f\|_1 \,. \tag{5.15}$$

Now combine (5.14) and (5.15) with the inequality (4.2) to obtain

$$\kappa_{Tf}(2t) \le \kappa_{Tg}(t) + \kappa_{Th}(t) \le \frac{2^{n+1} + 6c}{2t} \|f\|_1$$

Here the splitting f = g + h depends on t but the constant c does not. Multiply the inequality by 2t and take the supremum over all t to obtain (5.13). This proves Step 3.

**Step 4.** Fix a real number  $1 as well as <math>n \in \mathbb{N}$  and C > 0and  $0 < \sigma \leq 1$ . Then there exists a constant  $c = c(n, p, \sigma, C) > 0$  such that  $\|Tf\|_{L^p} \leq c \|f\|_{L^p}$  for all  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \cap L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and every Calderón-Zygmund pair (T, K) on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with constants C and  $\sigma$ .

For p = 2 this holds by assumption, and for 1 it follows from Step 3 and the Marcinkiewicz Interpolation Theorem 4.2 with <math>q = 2.

Now assume 2 and choose <math>1 < q < 2 such that 1/p + 1/q = 1. Define the function  $K^* : (\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n) \setminus \Delta_n \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$K^*(x,y) := \overline{K(y,x)}$$

and let  $T^* : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  be the adjoint operator of T. Then  $(T^*, K^*)$  is again a Calderón–Zygmund pair on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with constants C and  $\sigma$ . To see this, note that

$$\begin{split} \langle T^*g, f \rangle_{L^2} &= \langle g, Tf \rangle_{L^2} \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \overline{g(x)} K(x, y) f(y) \, dy \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \overline{K^*(y, x)g(x)} f(y) \, dx \, dy \end{split}$$

for any two continuous functions  $f, g : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  with disjoint compact supports. This implies  $(T^*g)(y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} K^*(y, x)g(x) dx$  for every continuous function  $g : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  with compact support and every  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \text{supp}(g)$ . Moreover, the function  $K^*$  evidently satisfies (5.2) and (5.3) and  $T^*$  has the same operator norm as T. Now define  $c := c(n, q, \sigma, C)$ . Then, by what we have already proved,  $\|T^*g\|_{L^q} \leq c \|g\|_{L^q}$  for all  $g \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . Hence

$$\begin{aligned} \|Tf\|_{L^{p}} &= \sup_{0 \neq g \in C_{0}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n},\mathbb{C})} \frac{\langle g, Tf \rangle_{L^{2}}}{\|g\|_{L^{q}}} \\ &= \sup_{0 \neq g \in C_{0}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n},\mathbb{C})} \frac{\langle T^{*}g, f \rangle_{L^{2}}}{\|g\|_{L^{q}}} \\ &\leq \sup_{0 \neq g \in C_{0}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n},\mathbb{C})} \frac{\|T^{*}g\|_{L^{q}} \|f\|_{L^{p}}}{\|g\|_{L^{q}}} \\ &\leq c_{q} \|f\|_{L^{p}} \end{aligned}$$

for all  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \cap L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . Here the first equality follows from [33, Thm 4.33] and the fact that  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  is a dense subspace of  $L^q(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . This proves Theorem 5.2.

# 6 The Mikhlin multiplier theorem

The Fourier transform on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is the unique bounded linear operator

$$\mathscr{F}: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$$

given by

$$(\mathscr{F}(u))(\xi) := \widehat{u}(\xi) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{-\mathbf{i}\langle\xi,x\rangle} u(x) \, dx \tag{6.1}$$

for  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . Its inverse is

$$(\mathscr{F}^{-1}(\widehat{u}))(x) = u(x) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{\mathbf{i}\langle\xi,x\rangle} \widehat{u}(\xi) \, d\xi \tag{6.2}$$

for  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $\hat{u} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . If  $m : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  is a bounded measurable function, it determines a bounded linear operator

$$T_m: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$$

given by

$$T_m u := \mathscr{F}^{-1}(m\mathscr{F}(u))$$

for  $u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . The **Mikhlin Multiplier Theorem** gives conditions on m under which this operator extends to a (unique) bounded linear operator from  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ , still denoted by  $T_m$ , which agrees with the original operator on the intersection  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \cap L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . We state and prove this result in a slightly weaker form than in Mikhlin [25] and Hörmander [16]. This version suffices for the purposes of the present exposition.

**Theorem 6.1 (Mikhlin).** For every integer  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , every constant C > 0, and every real number 1 there exists a constant <math>c = c(n, p, C) > 0with the following significance. Let  $m : \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\} \to \mathbb{C}$  be a  $C^{n+2}$  function that satisfies the inequality

$$|\partial^{\alpha} m(\xi)| \le \frac{C}{|\xi|^{|\alpha|}} \tag{6.3}$$

for every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$  and every multi-index  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n) \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  with  $|\alpha| = \alpha_1 + \cdots + \alpha_n \leq n+2$ . Then

$$||T_m f||_{L^p} \le c \, ||f||_{L^p} \,. \tag{6.4}$$

for all  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \cap L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ .

*Proof.* The proof is based on the generalized Calderón–Zygmund inequality in Theorem 5.2 and follows the argument in Parissis [29]. The main idea is to show that there exists a function  $K_m : \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\} \to \mathbb{C}$  such that  $T_m$  and the function

$$\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \Delta_m \to \mathbb{C} : (x, y) \mapsto K_m(x - y)$$

form a Calderón–Zygmund pair as in Definition 5.1. One would like to choose  $K_m$  such that m is the Fourier transform of  $K_m$ . The difficulty is that, in the interesting cases, m is not the Fourier transform of any integrable function. To overcome this problem one can use the Littlewood–Paley decomposition (Section 8). More precisely, let  $\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  be a Schwartz function such that  $\phi(x) = \phi(-x)$  for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  so that its Fourier transform  $\widehat{\phi} := \mathscr{F}(\phi)$  is a smooth real valued function that satisfies  $\widehat{\phi}(\xi) = \widehat{\phi}(-\xi)$  for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Assume in addition that  $\widehat{\phi}$  satisfies the conditions

$$\begin{aligned}
\widehat{\phi}(\xi) &> 0 & \text{for } 1/\sqrt{2} \leq |\xi| \leq \sqrt{2}, \\
\widehat{\phi}(\xi) \geq 0 & \text{for } 1/2 \leq |\xi| \leq 2, \\
\widehat{\phi}(\xi/2) + \widehat{\phi}(\xi) &= 1 & \text{for } 1 \leq |\xi| \leq 2, \\
\widehat{\phi}(\xi) &= 0 & \text{for } |\xi| \notin [1/2, 2].
\end{aligned}$$
(6.5)

In Definition 8.1 below a function  $\phi$  with these properties is called a *Little-wood–Paley function* and that it exists is shown in Example 8.2. For  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$  define the function  $\phi_j : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$\phi_j(x) := 2^{nj} \phi(2^j x), \qquad \widehat{\phi}_j(\xi) := \widehat{\phi}(2^{-j} \xi) \tag{6.6}$$

for  $x, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Then it follows from (6.5) that  $\sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \widehat{\phi}_k(\xi) = 1$  and hence

$$\sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \widehat{\phi}_j(\xi) m(\xi) = m(\xi) \quad \text{for all } \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}.$$
(6.7)

For  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$  the function  $\widehat{\phi}_j m : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  is of class  $C^{n+2}$  and has compact support and we denote its inverse Fourier transform by

$$K_j := \mathscr{F}^{-1}(\widehat{\phi}_j m).$$

We prove in three steps that the series  $K_m := \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} K_j$  defines a continuous function on  $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$  and that the pair  $(T_m, (x, y) \mapsto K_m(x-y))$  satisfies the requirements of Definition 5.1.

**Step 1.** There exists a constant  $c_1 = c_1(n, C) > 0$  with the following significance. Let  $m : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  be a  $C^{n+2}$  function that satisfies (6.3) for  $|\alpha| \le n+2$ . Then, for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ , the limit

$$K_{m}(x) := \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} K_{j}(x)$$

$$= \lim_{N \to \infty} \sum_{j=-N}^{N} \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{n}} \int_{2^{j-1} \le |\xi| \le 2^{j+1}} e^{\mathbf{i}\langle \xi, x \rangle} \widehat{\phi}(2^{-j}\xi) m(\xi) \, d\xi$$
(6.8)

exists, the resulting function  $K_m : \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\} \to \mathbb{C}$  is  $C^1$ , and

$$|K_m(x)| + |x||\nabla K_m(x))| \le \frac{c_1}{|x|^n} \quad \text{for all } x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}.$$
(6.9)

Each function  $K_j$  has a  $C^{n+2}$  Fourier transform  $\widehat{K}_j = \widehat{\phi}_j m$  with support in the compact set  $\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n | 2^{j-1} \le |\xi| \le 2^{j+1}\}$ . Hence  $K_j$  is smooth and, for every  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ , every integer  $0 \le k \le n+2$ , and every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \partial^{\alpha} K_{j}(x) &= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (\mathbf{i}\xi)^{\alpha} \widehat{\phi}(2^{-j}\xi) m(\xi) e^{\mathbf{i}\langle\xi,x\rangle} \, d\xi \\ &= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (\mathbf{i}\xi)^{\alpha} \widehat{\phi}(2^{-j}\xi) m(\xi) \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{x_{i}}{\mathbf{i}|x|^{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_{i}}\right)^{k} e^{\mathbf{i}\langle\xi,x\rangle} \, d\xi \\ &= \frac{(-1)^{k}}{(2\pi)^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} e^{\mathbf{i}\langle\xi,x\rangle} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{x_{i}}{\mathbf{i}|x|^{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_{i}}\right)^{k} (\mathbf{i}\xi)^{\alpha} \widehat{\phi}(2^{-j}\xi) m(\xi) \, d\xi \\ &= \frac{(-1)^{k}}{(2\pi)^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} e^{\mathbf{i}\langle\xi,x\rangle} \sum_{|\beta|=k} \frac{k!}{\beta!} \left(\frac{x}{\mathbf{i}|x|^{2}}\right)^{\beta} \partial_{\xi}^{\beta} \left((\mathbf{i}\xi)^{\alpha} \widehat{\phi}(2^{-j}\xi) m(\xi)\right) d\xi \end{aligned}$$

The integrand is supported in the domain  $\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n | 2^{j-1} \leq |\xi| \leq 2^{j+1}\}$ . Hence there exists a constant  $c_2 > 0$ , depending only on n,  $\phi$ ,  $\alpha$ , and the constant C in (6.3), such that  $|\partial_{\xi}^{\beta}((\mathbf{i}\xi)^{\alpha}\widehat{\phi}(2^{-j}\xi)m(\xi))| \leq c_2 2^{j(|\alpha|-k)}$  for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ , and all  $\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  with  $|\beta| = k \leq n+2$ . This implies

$$\left|\partial^{\alpha} K_{j}(x)\right| \leq \frac{c_{2}}{(2\pi)^{n}} \sum_{|\beta|=k} \frac{k!}{\beta!} \frac{2^{j(|\alpha|-k)}}{|x|^{k}} \int_{|\xi| \leq 2^{j+1}} d\xi = c_{3} \frac{2^{j(n+|\alpha|-k)}}{|x|^{k}} \tag{6.10}$$

for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ , all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ , all  $k \in \{0, 1, \dots, n+2\}$ , and all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ . Here  $c_3 := c_2 \pi^{-n} n^{k-1} \omega_n$  and  $\omega_n := \operatorname{Vol}_{n-1}(S^{n-1})$ , so  $\omega_n/n$  is the volume of the unit ball in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , and we have used the identity  $\sum_{|\beta|=k} k!/\beta! = n^k$ .

Now fix a nonzero vector  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and let  $j_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$  be the largest integer such that  $2^{j_0} \leq |x|^{-1}$ . Then  $2^{j_0} \leq |x|^{-1}$  and  $2^{-(j_0+1)} < |x|$ . Hence it follows from (6.10) with k = 0 that

$$\sum_{j=-\infty}^{j_0} |\partial^{\alpha} K_j(x)| \leq c_3 \sum_{j=-\infty}^{j_0} 2^{j(n+|\alpha|)}$$
$$= \frac{c_3}{1-2^{-n-|\alpha|}} 2^{j_0(n+|\alpha|)}$$
$$\leq \frac{2c_3}{|x|^{n+|\alpha|}},$$

because  $\frac{c_3}{1-2^{-n-|\alpha|}} \leq 2c_3$  and  $2^{j_0(n+|\alpha|)} \leq |x|^{-(n+|\alpha|)}$ . This holds for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ . Now assume  $|\alpha| \in \{0,1\}$  and use (6.10) with  $k = n+2 > n+|\alpha|$  to obtain

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j=j_0+1}^{\infty} |\partial^{\alpha} K_j(x)| &\leq c_3 \sum_{j=j_0+1}^{\infty} \frac{2^{j(|\alpha|-2)}}{|x|^{n+2}} \\ &= \frac{c_3}{1-2^{|\alpha|-2}} \frac{2^{(j_0+1)(|\alpha|-2)}}{|x|^{n+2}} \\ &< \frac{2c_3}{|x|^{n+|\alpha|}}, \end{split}$$

because  $\frac{c_3}{1-2^{|\alpha|-2}} \leq 2c_3$  and  $2^{(j_0+1)(|\alpha|-2)} < |x|^{2-|\alpha|}$ . This proves Step 1 with the constant  $c_1 = 4(n+1)c_3$ .

**Step 2.** Let  $c_1, m, K_m$  be as in Step 1. Then the function

$$\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{\Delta_n\} \to \mathbb{C} : (x, y) \mapsto K_m(x - y)$$
(6.11)

satisfies conditions (5.2) and (5.3) in Definition 5.1 with  $\sigma = 1$  and with C replaced by  $2^{n+1}c_1$ .

The estimate (5.2) follows directly from (6.9). To prove (5.3), fix a vector  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$  and let  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $|y| \leq |x|/2$ . Then

$$|\nabla K_m(x - ty)| \le \frac{c_1}{|x - ty|^{n+1}} \le \frac{2^{n+1}c_1}{|x|^{n+1}}$$

for  $0 \le t \le 1$ . Hence it follows from the mean value inequality that

$$|K_m(x) - K_m(x - y)| \le \frac{2^{n+1}c_1|y|}{|x|^{n+1}}$$

Hence the function (6.11) satisfies (5.3) with  $\sigma = 1$  and this proves Step 2.

**Step 3.** Let  $c_1, m, K_m$  be as in Step 1. Then the function (6.11) satisfies condition (5.1) in Definition 5.1 with  $T = T_m$ .

Let  $f, g: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  be continuous functions with compact support and assume  $\operatorname{supp}(f) \cap \operatorname{supp}(g) = \emptyset$ . Define the function  $h: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  by

$$h(x) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \overline{g(y)} f(x+y) \, dy \quad \text{for } x \in \mathbb{R}^n$$

Then h vanishes near the origin and  $\hat{h} = \overline{\hat{g}} \hat{f}$ . Hence

$$\begin{split} \langle g, T_m f \rangle_{L^2} &= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^n} \left\langle \widehat{g}, \widehat{T_m f} \right\rangle_{L^2} \\ &= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^n} \left\langle \widehat{g}, m \widehat{f} \right\rangle_{L^2} \\ &= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} m(\xi) \widehat{h}(\xi) \, d\xi \\ &= \lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{(2\pi)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \sum_{j=-N}^N \widehat{\phi}_j(\xi) m(\xi) \widehat{h}(\xi) \, d\xi \\ &= \lim_{N \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \sum_{j=-N}^N K_j(x) h(-x) \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} K_m(x) h(-x) \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathrm{supp}(g)} K_m(x) \overline{g(y)} f(y-x) \, dy \, dx \\ &= \langle g, K_m * f \rangle_{L^2} \end{split}$$

Here the first equality follows from Plancherel's Theorem, the second equality follows from the definition of the operator  $T_m$ , the third equality uses the formula  $\hat{h} = \overline{\hat{g}} \hat{f}$ , the fourth equality uses Lebesgue dominated convergence, the fifth equality follows again from Plancherel's Theorem, the sixth equality follows from Lebesgue dominated convergence and the fact that h has compact support and vanishes near the origin, the seventh equality follows from the definition of h, and the last equality follows from Fubini's theorem. It follows that  $(T_m f)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} K(x) f(x-y) dx$  for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \text{supp}(f)$ . This proves Step 3. By Step 2 and Step 3 the operator  $T_m$  and the function (6.11) form a Calderón-Zygmund pair on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with constants  $2^{n+1}c_1$  and  $\sigma = 1$ . Hence the assertion follows from Theorem 5.2. This proves Theorem 6.1.  $\Box$  **Corollary 6.2** (Calderón–Zygmund). For every integer  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and every real number 1 there exists a constant <math>c = c(n, p) > 0 such that

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \left\| \partial_{i} \partial_{j} u \right\|_{L^{p}} \le c \left\| \Delta u \right\|_{L^{p}}$$

$$(6.12)$$

for all  $u \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ .

*Proof.* For  $i, j \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$  define

$$T_{ij}f := \partial_i (K_j * f), \qquad K_j(x) := \frac{x_j}{\omega_n |x|^n}, \tag{6.13}$$

for  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then Poisson's identity asserts that

$$T_{ij}\Delta u = \partial_i \partial_j u, \qquad \Delta(K_j * f) = \partial_j f$$
 (6.14)

for all  $u, f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  (e.g. [33, Thm 7.41]). The second equation in (6.14) implies that  $\widehat{K_j * f}(\xi) = -\mathbf{i}\xi_j |\xi|^{-2} \widehat{f}(\xi)$  for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ , and hence

$$\widehat{T_{ij}f} = m_{ij}\widehat{f}, \qquad m_{ij}(\xi) = \frac{\xi_i\xi_j}{|\xi|^2}.$$
(6.15)

This implies that  $T_{ij}$  extends to a bounded linear operator from  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  to itself (see also [33, Lem 7.44]). Since the function  $m_{ij}$  satisfies the requirements of Theorem 6.1, there is a constant c > 0 such that  $||T_{ij}f||_{L^p} \leq c||f||_{L^p}$  for all  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Take  $f := \Delta u$  and use the first equation in (6.14) to obtain the estimate (6.12). This proves Corollary 6.2.

**Corollary 6.3.** For every real number 1 and every <math>C > 0there exists a constant c = c(p,C) > 0 with the following significance. Let  $m : \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\} \to \mathbb{C}$  be a  $C^3$  function such that  $|m^{(k)}(\xi)| \leq C|\xi|^{-k}$  for k = 0, 1, 2, 3 and  $\xi \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ . If  $(X, \mathcal{A}, \mu)$  is a  $\sigma$ -finite measure space,  $L^p(X, \mu)$  is the complex  $L^p$ -space,  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}, L^p(X, \mu)) \cap L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu))$ , and the function  $\mathcal{T}_m f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu))$  is defined by

$$\widehat{\mathcal{T}_m f}(\xi) := m(\xi)\widehat{f}(\xi)$$

for  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ , then  $\mathcal{T}_m f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}, L^p(X, \mu))$  and

$$\|\mathcal{T}_m f\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}, L^p(X, \mu))} \le c \, \|f\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}, L^p(X, \mu))} \,. \tag{6.16}$$

*Proof.* For functions  $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$ , where X is a singleton, the assertion follows from Theorem 6.1. The general case then follows from Fubini's theorem.  $\Box$ 

# 7 The Khinchin inequality

The present section of preparatory nature. It is used in the proof of the Littlewood–Paley inequality in Section 8, which in turn is useful for understanding Besov spaces. Neither this nor the next section are needed for the proof of Theorem 1.1. They are placed here because the Mikhlin Multiplier Theorem in Section 6 and the Khinchin inequality play central roles in the proof of the Littlewood–Paley inequality in Section 8.

The **Khinchin Inequality** was discovered by Alexandr Khinchin [19] in 1923. It is an estimate for the  $L^p$  norms of linear combinations of the **Rademacher functions**  $\rho_k : [0, 1] \to \mathbb{R}$ , defined by

$$\rho_k(t) := \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \sin(2^k \pi t) \ge 0, \\ -1, & \text{if } \sin(2^k \pi t) < 0 \end{cases}$$
(7.1)

for  $0 \le t \le 1$  and  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . These functions form an orthonormal sequence in the Hilbert space  $L^2([0, 1])$ . In the language of probability theory they are independent random variables with values  $\pm 1$ , each with probability 1/2.

**Theorem 7.1** (Khinchin Inequality). Fix a real number 0 . $Then there exist constants <math>A_p > 0$  and  $B_p > 0$  such that

$$A_p \left(\sum_{k=1}^n |\lambda_k|^2\right)^{1/2} \le \left(\int_0^1 \left|\sum_{k=1}^n \lambda_k \rho_k(t)\right|^p dt\right)^{1/p} \le B_p \left(\sum_{k=1}^n |\lambda_k|^2\right)^{1/2} \quad (7.2)$$

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and all n-tuples of complex numbers  $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n \in \mathbb{C}$ .

*Proof.* If 0 then, by Hölder's inequality with exponent <math>2/p, every Lebesgue measurable function  $f : [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$  satisfies  $||f||_{L^p} \leq ||f||_{L^2}$ , so the second inequality in (7.2) holds with  $B_p = 1$ , because the  $\rho_k$  form an orthonormal sequence in  $L^2([0,1])$ . To prove the inequality for p > 2, define

$$\mathcal{E}_n := \{\pm 1\}^n = \{\varepsilon = (\varepsilon_1, \dots, \varepsilon_n) \mid \varepsilon_i \in \{-1, +1\} \text{ for } i = 1, \dots, n\}.$$

For  $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n$  define the function  $f_{\lambda} : [0, 1] \to \mathbb{C}$  by

$$f_{\lambda}(t) := \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i \rho_i(t) dt \quad \text{for } 0 \le t \le 1.$$

Then

$$\int_0^1 |f_{\lambda}(t)|^p \, dt = \frac{1}{2^n} \sum_{\varepsilon \in \mathcal{E}_n} \left| \sum_{i=1}^n \varepsilon_i \lambda_i \right|^p$$

for all p > 0.

Fix an even integer  $p = 2m \ge 2$  and let  $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Then

$$\begin{split} \|f_{\lambda}\|_{L^{2m}}^{2m} &= \frac{1}{2^{n}} \sum_{\varepsilon \in \mathcal{E}_{n}} \left( \sum_{i=1}^{n} \varepsilon_{i} \lambda_{i} \right)^{2m} \\ &= \frac{1}{2^{n}} \sum_{\varepsilon \in \mathcal{E}_{n}} \sum_{|\beta|=2m} \frac{(2m)!}{\beta_{1}! \cdots \beta_{n}!} \varepsilon^{\beta} \lambda^{\beta} \\ &= \frac{1}{2^{n}} \sum_{|\beta|=2m} \frac{(2m)!}{\beta_{1}! \cdots \beta_{n}!} \left( \sum_{\varepsilon \in \mathcal{E}_{n}} \varepsilon^{\beta} \right) \lambda^{\beta} \\ &= \sum_{|\alpha|=m} \frac{(2m)!}{(2\alpha_{1})! \cdots (2\alpha_{n})!} (\lambda_{1}^{2})^{\alpha_{1}} \cdots (\lambda_{n}^{2})^{\alpha_{n}}. \end{split}$$

Here the  $\beta$ -sums are over all multi-indices  $\beta = (\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_n) \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  that satisfy  $|\beta| = \beta_1 + \cdots + \beta_n = 2m$ . The last step uses the identities  $\sum_{\varepsilon \in \mathcal{E}_n} \varepsilon^{\beta} = 0$  for every multi-index  $\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  such that one of the numbers  $\beta_i$  is odd and  $\sum_{\varepsilon \in \mathcal{E}_n} \varepsilon^{\beta} = 2^n$  when all the  $\beta_i$  are even. Since  $\ell! 2^{\ell} \leq (2\ell)! \leq \ell! (2\ell)^{\ell}$  for every integer  $\ell \geq 0$  (with equality for  $\ell = 0$  and  $\ell = 1$ ), we obtain

$$\|f_{\lambda}\|_{L^{2m}}^{2m} \leq \sum_{|\alpha|=m} \frac{m!(2m)^m}{2^{\alpha_1+\cdots+\alpha_n}\alpha_1!\cdots\alpha_n!} (\lambda_1^2)^{\alpha_1}\cdots(\lambda_n^2)^{\alpha_n}$$
  
$$= m^m \sum_{|\alpha|=m} \frac{m!}{\alpha_1!\cdots\alpha_n!} (\lambda_1^2)^{\alpha_1}\cdots(\lambda_n^2)^{\alpha_n}$$
  
$$= m^m \left(\sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i^2\right)^m.$$

This implies

$$\|f_{\lambda}\|_{L^{2m}}^{2} \le m \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i}^{2}$$
(7.3)

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  all  $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and all  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . For m = 2 a slightly better estimate is  $4!/(2\alpha)! \leq 3 \cdot (2!/\alpha!)$  for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  with  $|\alpha| = 2$ , and so

$$\|f_{\lambda}\|_{L^{4}}^{2} \leq \sqrt{3} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i}^{2}$$
(7.4)

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and all  $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ .

Now let p > 2 and choose an integer  $m \ge 2$  such that  $2m - 2 \le p < 2m$ . Use Hölder's inequality with exponents

$$q := \frac{2m-2}{2m-p}, \qquad r := \frac{2m-2}{p-2}, \qquad \frac{1}{q} + \frac{1}{r} = 1$$

to obtain

$$\int_{0}^{1} |f_{\lambda}|^{p} = \int_{0}^{1} |f_{\lambda}|^{\frac{2m-p}{m-1}} |f_{\lambda}|^{\frac{pm-2m}{m-1}}$$

$$\leq \left(\int_{0}^{1} |f_{\lambda}|^{2}\right)^{\frac{2m-p}{2m-2}} \left(\int_{0}^{1} |f_{\lambda}|^{2m}\right)^{\frac{p-2}{2m-2}} = \|f_{\lambda}\|_{L^{2}}^{\frac{2m-p}{m-1}} \|f_{\lambda}\|_{L^{2m}}^{\frac{pm-2m}{m-1}}$$
hence

and hence

$$\begin{split} \|f_{\lambda}\|_{L^{p}} &\leq \|f_{\lambda}\|_{L^{2}}^{\frac{2m-p}{pm-p}} \|f_{\lambda}\|_{L^{2m}}^{\frac{pm-2m}{pm-p}} \leq \|\lambda\|_{2}^{\frac{2m-p}{pm-p}} \left(m^{1/2} \|\lambda\|_{2}\right)^{\frac{pm-2m}{pm-p}} \\ &= m^{\frac{pm-2m}{2pm-2p}} \|\lambda\|_{2} \leq \sqrt{\frac{p}{2}+1} \|\lambda\|_{2} \,. \end{split}$$

This proves the second inequality in (7.2) for  $\lambda_i \in \mathbb{R}$  with  $B_p := \sqrt{p/2 + 1}$ . Hence it holds for  $\lambda_i \in \mathbb{C}$  with  $B_p := 2\sqrt{p/2 + 1} = \sqrt{2p + 4}$ .

The first inequality in (7.2) holds for  $p \ge 2$  with  $A_p = 1$  by Hölder's inequality. To prove it for  $1 \le p < 2$ , we use Young's inequality  $ab \le \frac{1}{q}a^q + \frac{1}{r}b^r$  with q := 3/2, r := 3,  $a := |\sum_i \varepsilon_i \lambda_i|^{2/3}$ , and  $b := t |\sum_i \varepsilon_i \lambda_i|^{4/3}$  to obtain

$$t\left|\sum_{i}\varepsilon_{i}\lambda_{i}\right|^{2} \leq \frac{2}{3}\left|\sum_{i}\varepsilon_{i}\lambda_{i}\right| + \frac{t^{3}}{3}\left|\sum_{i}\varepsilon_{i}\lambda_{i}\right|^{4} \quad \text{for all } t \geq 0$$

Multiply by 3/2 and take take the average over all  $\varepsilon \in \mathcal{E}_n$ . Then

$$\|f_{\lambda}\|_{L^{1}} \geq \frac{3t}{2} \|f_{\lambda}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} - \frac{t^{3}}{2} \|f_{\lambda}\|_{L^{4}}^{4} \geq \frac{3t}{2} \|\lambda\|_{2}^{2} - \frac{3t^{3}}{2} \|\lambda\|_{2}^{4} = t \|\lambda\|_{2}^{2} = 3^{-1/2} \|\lambda\|_{2}.$$

Here the second step uses (7.4) and the last two steps use  $t := 3^{-1/2} \|\lambda\|_2^{-1}$ . This proves the first inequality in (7.2) for p = 1 with  $A_1 = 3^{-1/2}$ . For  $1 use the Riesz–Thorin Interpolation Theorem 3.1 gith <math>q_0 = q_1 = 2$ ,  $p_0 = 1, p_1 = 2, c_0 = \sqrt{3}, c_1 = 1, (2/p - 1)/p_0 + (2 - 2/p)/p_1 = 1/p$ . Then  $\|\lambda\|_2 \le (\sqrt{3})^{\frac{2}{p}-1} \|f_\lambda\|_{L^p} = 3^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{2}} \|f_\lambda\|_{L^p}$ .

This proves the first inequality in (7.2) for  $1 \leq p < 2$  and  $\lambda_i \in \mathbb{R}$  with  $A_p := 3^{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}}$ . Hence it holds for  $\lambda_i \in \mathbb{C}$  with  $A_p := 3^{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}}/2$ . This proves Theorem 7.1 for  $p \geq 1$ .

**Remark 7.2.** Sharp constants for the Khinchin inequalities in (7.2) (for tuples of real numbers  $\lambda_i$ ) were found by Haagerup [14]. They are

$$A_{p} = 2^{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}} \min\left\{1, \left(\frac{\Gamma(\frac{p+1}{2})}{\Gamma(\frac{3}{2})}\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}\right\},$$

$$B_{p} = 2^{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}} \max\left\{1, \left(\frac{\Gamma(\frac{p+1}{2})}{\Gamma(\frac{3}{2})}\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}\right\}.$$
(7.5)

Another proof that this number  $A_p$  is the sharp constant for the first inequality in (7.2) was given by Nazarov–Potkorytov [27].

Proof of Theorem 7.1 for p > 0. The second inequality in (7.2) was proved above for all p > 0. We prove the first inequality in (7.2) for p > 0 following the argument in [27]. If  $p \ge 2$  then, by Hölder's inequality with exponent p/2, every Lebesgue measurable function  $f : [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$  satisfies  $||f||_{L^2} \le ||f||_{L^p}$ , so the first inequality in (7.2) holds with  $A_p = 1$ , because the  $\rho_k$  form an orthonormal sequence in  $L^2([0,1])$ . Now assume 0 and define the $number <math>c_p > 0$  and the function  $\kappa_p : (0,1] \to (0,\infty)$  by

$$c_p := \int_0^\infty \frac{1 - \cos(r)}{r^{p+1}} \, dr \tag{7.6}$$

and

$$\kappa_p(\lambda) := \int_0^\infty \frac{1 - \left|\cos(\lambda r)\right|^{1/\lambda^2}}{r^{p+1}} \, dr \qquad \text{for } 0 < \lambda \le 1. \tag{7.7}$$

The function  $\kappa_p: (0,1] \to (0,\infty)$  is continuous. We prove that it satisfies

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \kappa_p(\lambda) = \int_0^\infty \frac{1 - e^{-r^2/2}}{r^{p+1}} \, dr > 0. \tag{7.8}$$

To see this, choose  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that  $\log(1 - x^2/2) > -x^2$  for  $0 < x < \varepsilon$ . Since  $1 - x^2/2 \le |\cos(x)| \le 1$  for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ , this implies

$$0 = \log\left(|\cos(\lambda r)|^{1/\lambda^2}\right) \ge \frac{1}{\lambda^2} \log\left(1 - \frac{(\lambda r)^2}{2}\right) > -r^2$$

for all  $\lambda, r > 0$  such that  $0 < r < \varepsilon/\lambda$ .

This implies  $|\cos(\lambda r)|^{1/\lambda^2} \ge e^{-r^2}$  and hence

$$1 - \left|\cos(\lambda r)\right|^{1/\lambda^2} \le 1 - e^{-r^2} \le r^2 \qquad \text{for } 0 < r < \varepsilon \le \frac{\varepsilon}{\lambda}.$$

Thus  $(1 - |\cos(\lambda r)|^{1/\lambda^2})/r^{p+1} \leq r^{1-p}$  for  $0 < r < \varepsilon$  and the function  $r \mapsto r^{1-p}$  is integrable on the interval  $(0, \varepsilon)$  because p < 2. Second, the inequality  $(1 - |\cos(\lambda r)|^{1/\lambda^2})/r^{p+1} \leq r^{p+1}$  holds for all r and the function  $r \mapsto r^{p+1}$  is integrable on the interval  $[\varepsilon, \infty)$  because p > 0. Third, take the logarithm and use l'Hospital's rule to obtain

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \left| \cos(\lambda r) \right|^{1/\lambda^2} = e^{-r^2/2} \quad \text{for all } r > 0.$$

Hence (7.8) follows from the Lebesgue Dominated Convergence Theorem. By (7.8) and continuity, we have

$$\delta_p := \inf_{0 < \lambda \le 1} \int_0^\infty \frac{1 - |\cos(\lambda r)|^{1/\lambda^2}}{r^{p+1}} \, dr > 0. \tag{7.9}$$

Moreover, by definition of the constant  $c_p > 0$  in (7.6), we have

$$c_p |s|^p = \int_0^\infty \frac{1 - \cos(rs)}{r^{p+1}} \, dr \tag{7.10}$$

for all  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ . Choose  $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$  such that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} |\lambda_k|^2 = 1.$$

Now take  $s := \sum_{k=1}^{n} \lambda_k \rho_k(t)$  in (7.10) to obtain

$$c_p \left| \sum_{k=1}^n \lambda_k \rho_k(t) \right|^p = \int_0^\infty \frac{1 - \cos(r \sum_{k=1}^n \lambda_k \rho_k(t))}{r^{p+1}} dr$$
$$= \operatorname{Re} \int_0^\infty \frac{1 - \exp(\operatorname{ir} \sum_{k=1}^n \lambda_k \rho_k(t))}{r^{p+1}} dr$$
$$= \operatorname{Re} \int_0^\infty \frac{1 - \prod_{k=1}^n \exp(\operatorname{ir} \lambda_k \rho_k(t))}{r^{p+1}} dr.$$

Integrate this identity over the interval  $0 \le t \le 1$ . Then

$$c_p \int_0^1 \left| \sum_{k=1}^n \lambda_k \rho_k(t) \right|^p dt = \operatorname{Re} \int_0^\infty \frac{1 - \int_0^1 \prod_{k=1}^n \exp(\mathbf{i} r \lambda_k \rho_k(t)) dt}{r^{p+1}} dr$$
$$= \operatorname{Re} \int_0^\infty \frac{1 - 2^{-n} \sum_{\varepsilon_k = \pm 1} \prod_{k=1}^n \exp(\mathbf{i} r \varepsilon_k \lambda_k)}{r^{p+1}} dr$$
$$= \int_0^\infty \frac{1 - \prod_{k=1}^n \cos(r \lambda_k)}{r^{p+1}} dr.$$

This formula is called **Haagerup's Integral Representation**. Young's inequality asserts that

$$\prod_{k=1}^{n} a_k \le \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{p_k} a_k^{p_k}$$

for  $a_k \ge 0$  and  $1 \le p_k < \infty$  such that  $\sum_{k=1}^n 1/p_k = 1$ . Take

$$p_k := \frac{1}{\lambda_k^2}, \qquad a_k := |\cos(r\lambda_k)|$$

to obtain

$$\prod_{k=1}^{n} |\cos(r\lambda_k)| \le \sum_{k=1}^{n} \lambda_k^2 |\cos(r\lambda_k)|^{1/\lambda_k^2} = 1 - \sum_{k=1}^{n} \lambda_k^2 \left( 1 - |\cos(r\lambda_k)|^{1/\lambda_k^2} \right)$$

for all r > 0 and hence

$$c_p \int_0^1 \left| \sum_{k=1}^n \lambda_k \rho_k(t) \right|^p dt \geq \int_0^\infty \frac{1 - \prod_{k=1}^n |\cos(r\lambda_k)|}{r^{p+1}} dr$$
$$\geq \sum_{k=1}^n \lambda_k^2 \int_0^\infty \frac{1 - |\cos(r\lambda_k)|^{1/\lambda_k^2}}{r^{p+1}} dr$$
$$\geq \delta_p.$$

Here the last step follows from (7.9). This proves the first inequality in (7.2) with the constant

$$A_p := (\delta_p / c_p)^{1/p}$$

for *n*-tuples of nonzero real numbers  $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n$  with  $\sum_{k=1}^n \lambda_k^2 = 1$ . Hence it holds for all *n*-tuples of real numbers by linearity and continuity. This completes the second proof of Theorem 7.1.

It is shown in Nazarov–Potkorytov [27] that the number  $A_p = (\delta_p/c_p)^{1/p}$ in the above proof is the sharp constant in (7.5).

### 8 The Littlewood–Paley inequality

The Littlewood–Paley decomposition expresses a function  $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  as a sum of functions  $f_k$  whose Fourier transforms are supported in the domain  $2^{k-1} \leq |\xi| \leq 2^{k+1}$ . Such a decomposition is a powerful tool for obtaining  $L^p$ estimates via the Fourier transform. It was already used in the proof of the Mikhlin Multiplier Theorem 6.1.

**Definition 8.1.** Fix an integer  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and a smooth function  $\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  in the Schwartz space  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Assume

$$\phi(x) = \phi(-x) \qquad \text{for all } x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \tag{8.1}$$

so that the Fourier transform (6.1) is real valued and satisfies  $\widehat{\phi}(\xi) = \widehat{\phi}(-\xi)$ for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . The function  $\phi$  is called a Littlewood–Paley function if it satisfies the conditions

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{\phi}(\xi) &> 0, & for \ 1/\sqrt{2} \le |\xi| \le \sqrt{2}, \\ \widehat{\phi}(\xi) \ge 0, & for \ 1/2 \le |\xi| \le 2, \\ \widehat{\phi}(\xi) = 0, & for \ |\xi| \notin [1/2, 2], \\ \widehat{\phi}(\xi/2) + \widehat{\phi}(\xi) = 1, & for \ 1 \le |\xi| \le 2, \end{aligned}$$
(8.2)

and hence

$$\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \widehat{\phi}(2^{-k}\xi) = 1 \qquad \text{for all } \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}.$$
(8.3)

**Example 8.2.** Let  $\beta_0 : [0, \infty) \to [0, 1]$  be a smooth function such that

$$\begin{array}{ll} \beta_0(r) = 1, & \text{for } r \leq 1, \\ \beta_0(r) > 0, & \text{for } 1 \leq r \leq \sqrt{2}, \\ \beta_0(r) < 1, & \text{for } \sqrt{2} \leq r \leq 2, \\ \beta_0(r) = 0, & \text{for } r \geq 2. \end{array}$$

Define the function  $\beta : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$\beta(\xi) := \beta_0(|\xi|) - \beta_0(2|\xi|) \quad \text{for } \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

Then  $\beta$  satisfies the conditions in (8.2) and hence its inverse Fourier transform  $\phi$  is a Littlewood–Paley function.

**Theorem 8.3 (Littlewood–Paley).** Fix an integer  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , a real number  $1 , and a Littlewood–Paley function <math>\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ . Then there exists a constant  $c = c(n, p, \phi) \ge 1$  with the following significance. For  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  define the function  $\phi_k : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  by  $\phi_k(x) := 2^{nk}\phi(2^kx)$ . Let  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and define the function  $S_{\phi}(f) : \mathbb{R}^n \to [0, \infty]$  by

$$(S_{\phi}(f))(x) := \left(\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} |(\phi_k * f)(x)|^2\right)^{1/2} \quad \text{for } x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
(8.4)

Then  $(S_{\phi}f)(x) < \infty$  for almost every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and

$$c^{-1} \|f\|_{L^p} \le \|S_{\phi}(f)\|_{L^p} \le c \|f\|_{L^p}.$$
(8.5)

Proof. See page 48.

**Lemma 8.4.** Let  $\theta : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  be a function in the Schwartz space  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , whose Fourier transform has compact support, and assume  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \theta(x) dx = 1$ . For  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  define the function  $\theta_k : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$\theta_k(x) := 2^{kn} \theta(2^k x), \qquad \widehat{\theta}_k(\xi) = \widehat{\theta}(2^{-k} \xi) \qquad \text{for } x, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
(8.6)

Let p > 1. Then

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \|f - \theta_k * f\|_{L^p} = 0, \qquad \lim_{k \to -\infty} \|\theta_k * f\|_{L^p} = 0.$$
(8.7)

for all  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . The convergence is in  $L^{\infty}$  whenever  $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  is continuous and has compact support.

*Proof.* Since  $\|\theta_k\|_{L^1} = \|\theta\|_{L^1} < \infty$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ , the family of convolution operators  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^n) : f \mapsto \theta_k * f$  is uniformly bounded. Hence it suffices to prove (8.7) for smooth functions with compact support.

Let  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$ . For r > 0 denote  $B_r := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid |x| < r\}$ and choose R > 0 such that  $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subset B_R$ . Second, choose r > 0 such that, for all  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$|y| \le r \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad |f(x-y) - f(x)| \le \frac{\varepsilon}{3 \|\theta\|_{L^1} \operatorname{Vol}(B_{R+r})^{1/p}}.$$

Third, choose  $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  so large that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_{2^{k_0}r}} |\theta(y)| \, dy < \frac{\varepsilon}{3 \, \|f\|_{L^p}}.$$

Now let  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $k \ge k_0$ . Then  $\theta_k * f - f = f_k + g_k - c_k f$ , where

$$f_k(x) := \int_{B_r} \theta_k(y) (f(x-y) - f(x)) \, dy,$$
  
$$g_k(x) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_r} \theta_k(y) f(x-y) \, dy,$$
  
$$c_k := \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_r} \theta_k(y) \, dy.$$

The function  $f_k$  is supported in  $B_{R+r}$  and satisfies the inequality

$$|f_k(x)| \le ||\theta||_{L^1} \sup_{|y| \le r} |f(x-y) - f(x)| \le \frac{\varepsilon}{3\mathrm{Vol}(B_{R+r})^{1/p}}$$

for all  $x \in B_{R+r}$ . Hence  $||f_k||_{L^p} \leq \varepsilon/3$ . Moreover, it follows from Young's inequality that

$$||g_k|| \le ||\theta_k||_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_r)} ||f||_{L^p} = ||\theta||_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_{2^k r})} ||f||_{L^p} < \varepsilon/3,$$

and we have  $\|c_k f\|_{L^p} \leq \|\theta_k\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_r)} \|f\|_{L^p} < \varepsilon/3$ . Hence  $\|\theta_k * f - f\|_{L^p} < \varepsilon$ for every integer  $k \geq k_0$  and this proves the first assertion in (8.7). To prove the second assertion, observe that  $\|\theta_k\|_{L^p} = 2^{kn(1-1/p)} \|\theta\|_{L^p}$  and so, by Young's inequality,  $\|\theta_k * f\|_{L^p} \leq 2^{kn(1-1/p)} \|\theta\|_{L^p} \|f\|_{L^1}$ . Since p > 1, this shows that

$$\lim_{k \to -\infty} \|\theta_k * f\|_{L^p} = 0.$$

The verification of the assertion about uniform convergence will be omitted. This proves Lemma 8.4.  $\hfill \Box$ 

Proof of Theorem 8.3. The proof follows the exposition of Machedon [24]. Fix a constant  $1 , let <math>A_p > 0$  be the constant in the Khinchin inequality (7.2), and, for  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , let  $\rho_k : [0,1] \to \mathbb{R}$  be the Rademacher function in (7.1). First observe that  $\phi_k$  is a Schwartz function and hence belongs to  $L^q(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  for q := p/(p-1). Hence  $\phi_k * f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  is continuous for each k. For  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  define the function  $S^N_{\phi}(f) : \mathbb{R}^n \to [0, \infty)$  by

$$(S_{\phi}^{N}(f))(x) := \left(\sum_{k=-N}^{N} |(\phi_{k} * f)(x)|^{2}\right)^{1/2} \quad \text{for } x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}.$$
(8.8)

Define the bijection  $\kappa : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{Z}$  by  $\kappa(2j) = j$  for  $j \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\kappa(2j+1) := -j$  for  $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$ . Then  $\kappa$  restricts to a bijection from  $\{1, \ldots, 2N+1\}$  to  $\{-N, \ldots, N\}$  for each  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ . Hence Theorem 7.1 asserts that

$$\left| (S_{\phi}^{N}f)(x) \right| = \left( \sum_{k=-N}^{N} \left| (\phi_{k} * f)(x) \right|^{2} \right)^{1/2} \le \frac{1}{A_{p}} \left\| \sum_{j=1}^{2N+1} (\phi_{\kappa(j)} * f)(x)\rho_{j} \right\|_{L^{p}([0,1])}$$

for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and so

$$\|S_{\phi}^{N}f\|_{L^{p}}^{p} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(\sum_{k=-N}^{N} |(\phi_{k} * f)(x)|^{2}\right)^{p/2} dx$$

$$\leq \left(\frac{1}{A_{p}}\right)^{p} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left|\sum_{j=1}^{2N+1} \rho_{j}(t)(\phi_{\kappa(j)} * f)(x)\right|^{p} dx \, dt$$

$$(8.9)$$

for  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ . For  $0 \leq t \leq 1$  and  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  define the function  $m_t^N : \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\} \to \mathbb{C}$  and the operator  $T_t^N : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  by

$$m_t^N := \sum_{j=1}^{2N+1} \rho_j(t) \hat{\phi}_{\kappa(j)}, \qquad T_t^N f := \sum_{j=1}^{2N+1} \rho_j(t) \phi_{\kappa(j)} * f$$

for  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . Then  $\widehat{T_t^N f} = m_t^N \widehat{f}$  for all  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and all t. We prove that  $m_t^N$  satisfies condition (6.3) in the Mikhlin Multiplies Theorem 6.1 with a constant C > 0 that is independent of t and N. To see this, define

$$C_{\alpha} := \sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n} \left| \partial^{\alpha} \widehat{\phi}(\xi) \right| \qquad \text{for } \alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n.$$

Fix an element  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$  and choose  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that  $2^k \leq |\xi| \leq 2^{k+1}$ . Then  $\widehat{\phi}_{\kappa(j)}(\xi) = \widehat{\phi}(2^{-\kappa(j)}\xi) = 0$  for  $\kappa(j) \neq k, k+1$ . Hence

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \partial^{\alpha} m_{t}^{N}(\xi) \right| &\leq \left| \rho_{\kappa^{-1}(k)}(t) (\partial^{\alpha} \widehat{\phi}_{k})(\xi) + \rho_{\kappa^{-1}(k+1)}(t) (\partial^{\alpha} \widehat{\phi}_{k+1})(\xi) \right| \\ &\leq \left| (\partial^{\alpha} \widehat{\phi}_{k})(\xi) \right| + \left| (\partial^{\alpha} \widehat{\phi}_{k+1})(\xi) \right| \\ &= 2^{-|\alpha|k} \left| (\partial^{\alpha} \widehat{\phi})(2^{-k}\xi) \right| + 2^{-|\alpha|(k+1)} \left| (\partial^{\alpha} \widehat{\phi})(2^{-k-1}\xi) \right| \\ &\leq 2C_{\alpha} 2^{-|\alpha|(k+1)} \\ &\leq 2C_{\alpha} \left| \xi \right|^{-|\alpha|} \end{aligned}$$

for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ ,  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ , and  $0 \le t \le 1$ .

By Theorem 6.1 there exists a constant  $c = c(n, p, \phi) > 0$  such that

$$\left\|T_{t}^{N}f\right\|_{L^{p}} \le c \left\|f\right\|_{L^{p}} \tag{8.10}$$

for all  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ ,  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ , and  $0 \le t \le 1$ . By (8.9) and (8.10), we have

$$\left\|S_{\phi}^{N}f\right\|_{L^{p}}^{p} \leq \left(\frac{1}{A_{p}}\right)^{p} \int_{0}^{1} \left\|T_{t}^{N}f\right\|_{L^{p}}^{p} dt \leq \left(\frac{c}{A_{p}}\right)^{p} \left\|f\right\|_{L^{p}}^{p}$$
(8.11)

for all  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ . For each  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  this implies that the monotonically increasing sequence  $((S^N_{\phi}f)(x))_{N\in\mathbb{N}}$  is bounded for almost every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  (see [33, Lem 1.47]). Moreover, the second inequality in (8.5) follows from (8.11) and the Lebesgue Monotone Convergence Theorem by taking the limit  $N \to \infty$ .

It suffices to prove the first inequality in (8.5) for real valued functions. Consider the real Hilbert space  $H := \ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$  and, for  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ , define the linear operator  $\mathscr{S}^N : L^p(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, H)$  by

$$(\mathscr{S}^N f)(x) := \left( (\phi_k * f)(x) \right)_{k=-N}^N$$

for  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Then

$$\left\|\mathscr{S}^{N}f\right\|_{L^{p}} = \left\|S_{\phi}^{N}(f)\right\|_{L^{p}} \le \frac{c}{A_{p}}\left\|f\right\|_{L^{p}}$$

for all  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  by (8.11), and so the operator sequence  $\mathscr{S}^N$  is uniformly bounded. A function  $g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, H)$  assigns to (almost) every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ a square summable sequence  $(g_k(x))_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$  of real numbers, such that each function  $g_k$  is *p*-integrable. Thus *g* is a bi-infinite sequence of  $L^p$  functions such that

$$\|g\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n,H)} = \left\| \left( \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} |g_k|^2 \right)^{1/2} \right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty.$$

Define the linear operator  $\mathscr{T}^N : L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, H) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  by

$$\mathscr{T}^N g := \sum_{k=-N}^N \phi_k * g_k$$

for  $g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, H)$ . Since  $\phi_k(-x) = \phi_k(x)$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  and all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $\mathscr{T}^N$  is the dual of the operator  $\mathscr{S}^N : L^q(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^q(\mathbb{R}^n, H)$  with q := p/(p-1).

Hence the operator sequence  $\mathscr{T}^N$  is uniformly bounded and so is the operator sequence  $\mathscr{U}^N : L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, H) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  defined by

$$\mathscr{U}^N g := \sum_{k=-N}^N (\phi_{k-1} + \phi_k + \phi_{k+1}) * g_k \quad \text{for } g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, H).$$

Thus there exists a constant  $C = C(n, p, \phi) > 0$  such that

$$\left\| \mathscr{U}^{N} g \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq C \left\| g \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n},H)}$$

$$(8.12)$$

for all  $g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, H)$ .

Now let  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then  $\|\phi_k * f\|_{L^1} \leq \|\phi\|_{L^1} \|f\|_{L^1}$ , so  $\phi_k * f$  is integrable for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Moreover, since  $\phi$  is a Littlewood–Paley function, we have  $\widehat{\phi}_{k-1}(\xi) + \widehat{\phi}_k(\xi) + \widehat{\phi}_{k+1}(\xi) = 1$  for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$  that satisfy  $2^{k-1} \leq |\xi| \leq 2^{k+1}$ and thus for all  $\xi \in \text{supp}(\widehat{\phi}_k)$ . This implies

$$\widehat{\mathscr{U}^{N}}\widehat{\mathscr{I}^{N+1}}f = \sum_{k=-N}^{N} \left(\widehat{\phi}_{k-1} + \widehat{\phi}_{k} + \widehat{\phi}_{k+1}\right)\widehat{\phi}_{k}\widehat{f} = \sum_{k=-N}^{N} \widehat{\phi}_{k}\widehat{f}$$

and hence

$$\mathscr{U}^{N}\mathscr{S}^{N+1}f = \sum_{k=-N}^{N} \phi_{k} * f$$
(8.13)

for all  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  and all  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Since both sides of this equation depend continuously on f in  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is dense in  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , equation (8.13) continues to hold for all  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Hence

$$\left\|\sum_{k=-N}^{N} \phi_{k} * f\right\|_{L^{p}} = \left\|\mathscr{U}^{N}\mathscr{S}^{N+1}f\right\|_{L^{p}} \le C \left\|\mathscr{S}^{N+1}f\right\|_{L^{p}} = C \left\|S_{\phi}^{N+1}(f)\right\|_{L^{p}}$$

for all  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , where C is the constant in (8.12). Take the limit  $N \to \infty$ and use Lemma 8.4 to obtain the inequality

$$||f||_{L^p} \le C ||S_{\phi}(f)||_{L^p}$$

for all  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . This proves Theorem 8.3.

The Littlewood–Paley inequality is used in Corollary 13.9 to relate the Besov space  $B_2^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n,\mathbb{C})$  to the Sobolev space  $W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n,\mathbb{C})$ .

### 9 Maximal regularity for semigroups

Let X be a complex Banach space and let  $\{S(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$  be a strongly continuous semigroup of operators, i.e. the map  $[0,\infty) \to X : t \mapsto S(t)x$  is continuous for every  $x \in X$ , S(0) = id, and S(s+t) = S(s)S(t) for all  $s,t \geq 0$ . Its *infinitesimal generator* is the linear operator  $A : dom(A) \to X$  defined by

$$Ax := \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \left( S(t)x - x \right)$$

for  $x \in \text{dom}(A)$  (the linear subspace of all elements  $x \in X$  such that the limit exists); the domain is dense and the operator A has a closed graph.

**Example 9.1.** The main example in the present setting is the Banach space  $X := L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and the semigroup associated to the heat equation. Its infinitesimal generator is the Laplace operator

$$A = \Delta : W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$$
(9.1)

and the semigroup  $S(t): L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  generated by A is given by

$$S(t)u_0 = K_t * u_0 (9.2)$$

for  $t \geq 0$  and  $u_0 \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ , where  $K_t : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  is the fundamental solution (1.9). That the Laplace operator (9.1) is closed is a consequence of the Calderón–Zygmund inequality in Corollary 6.2. Namely, if two functions  $u, f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  satisfy

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u\Delta\phi = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f\phi$$

for all  $\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , then the standard local regularity theory, based on the Calderón–Zygmund inequality, asserts that  $u \in W^{2,p}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and  $\Delta u = f$ . Moreover, using a suitable smooth cutoff function one obtains an inequality

$$\|u\|_{W^{2,p}(Q)}^{p} \le c \left( \|u\|_{L^{p}(\Omega)}^{p} + \|\Delta u\|_{L^{p}(\Omega)}^{p} \right)$$

for  $Q := [0, 1]^n$  and  $\Omega = (-1, 2)^n$ . Take a countable sum of such inequalities over appropriately shifted domains with the same constant c to obtain

$$||u||_{W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p \le 3^n c \left( ||u||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p + ||\Delta u||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p \right).$$

This shows that  $u \in W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . It follows that the operator (9.1) has a closed graph and that the subspace  $W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  is indeed the domain of the infinitesimal generator of the semigroup (9.2).

If  $f: [0,T] \to X$  is continuously differentiable, then the general theory of semigroups asserts that the function  $u: [0,T] \to X$ , defined by

$$u(t) := \int_0^t S(t-s)f(s) \, ds \qquad \text{for } 0 \le t \le T, \tag{9.3}$$

is continuously differentiable, takes values in the domain of A, and satisfies

$$\dot{u} = Au + f. \tag{9.4}$$

Thus  $Au: [0,T] \to X$  is continuous whenever  $f: [0,T] \to X$  is continuously differentiable.

**Definition 9.2.** Fix a constant p > 1. A strongly continuous semigroup  $[0, \infty) \rightarrow \mathcal{L}(X) : t \mapsto S(t)$  with infinitesimal generator A is called **maximal** *p*-regular if, for every T > 0, there exists a constant  $c_T > 0$ , such that every continuously differentiable function  $f : [0, T] \rightarrow X$  satisfies the inequality

$$\left(\int_{0}^{T} \left\| A \int_{0}^{t} S(t-s)f(s) \, ds \right\|^{p} \, dt \right)^{1/p} \le c_{T} \left(\int_{0}^{T} \left\| f(t) \right\|^{p} \, dt \right)^{1/p}.$$
 (9.5)

This condition is independent of T. The semigroup S is called **uniformly** maximal *p*-regular if it is maximal *p*-regular and the constant in (9.5) can be chosen independent of T.

The next theorem is due to Benedek–Calderón–Panzone [2].

**Theorem 9.3 (Benedek–Calderón–Panzone).** Let X be a complex reflexive Banach space and let S(t) be a strongly continuous semigroup on X with infinitesimal generator A. Suppose that

$$\operatorname{im} S(t) \subset \operatorname{dom}(A^2) \qquad \text{for all } t > 0$$

and that there exists a constant c > 0 such that

$$||A^2 S(t)x|| \le \frac{c}{t^2} ||x||$$
 (9.6)

for all t > 0 and all  $x \in X$ . If S is (uniformly) maximal p-regular for some p > 1 then S is (uniformly) maximal p-regular for every p > 1.

*Proof.* See page 60.

We reproduce the proof in [2]. It relies on the following three lemmas.

**Lemma 9.4.** Let S(t) be a strongly continuous semigroup of operators with infinitesimal generator A that satisfies (9.6) for some constant c > 0. Then

$$\int_{2|s|}^{\infty} \|AS(t-s) - AS(t)\|_{\mathcal{L}(X)} dt \le C$$
(9.7)

for all  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , where  $C := c \log(2)$ .

*Proof.* If t > 2|s| then t > 0 and t - s > 0 and hence

$$\begin{aligned} \|AS(t-s) - AS(t)\| &= \left\| \int_{t}^{t-s} A^{2}S(r) dr \right\| \\ &\leq \left| \int_{t}^{t-s} \|A^{2}S(r)\| dr \right| \\ &\leq c \left| \int_{t}^{t-s} \frac{1}{r^{2}} dr \right| \\ &= c \left| \frac{1}{t} - \frac{1}{t-s} \right| \\ &= \frac{c|s|}{t(t-s)} \\ &\leq \frac{c|s|}{t(t-|s|)}. \end{aligned}$$

Hence

$$\begin{split} \int_{2|s|}^{\infty} \|AS(t-s) - AS(t)\| \ dt &\leq \int_{2|s|}^{\infty} \frac{c|s|}{t(t-|s|)} \ dt \\ &= \int_{|s|}^{\infty} \frac{c|s|}{(t+|s|)t} \ dt \\ &= c \int_{|s|}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{t} - \frac{1}{t+|s|}\right) \ dt \\ &= c \int_{|s|}^{\infty} \frac{d}{dt} \left(\log(t) - \log(t+|s|)\right) \ dt \\ &= c \left(\log(2|s|) - \log(|s|\right) \\ &= c \log(2). \end{split}$$

This proves Lemma 9.4.

**Lemma 9.5.** Let S(t) be a strongly continuous semigroup of operators with infinitesimal generator A that satisfies (9.7) for some constant C > 0. Then the following holds. If  $t_0 \ge 0$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $f : [0, \infty) \to X$  is a bounded function whose restriction to the interval  $(t_0 - \varepsilon, t_0 + \varepsilon) \cap [0, \infty)$  is continuous and which satisfies

$$\operatorname{supp}(f) \subset [t_0 - \varepsilon, t_0 + \varepsilon], \qquad \int_{t_0 - \varepsilon}^{t_0 + \varepsilon} f(t) \, dt = 0, \tag{9.8}$$

then

$$\int_{t_0+2\varepsilon}^{\infty} \left\| A \int_0^t S(t-s)f(s) \, ds \right\| \, dt \le C \int_{t_0-\varepsilon}^{t_0+\varepsilon} \|f(t)\| \, dt. \tag{9.9}$$

*Proof.* Define the function  $u: [0, \infty) \to X$  by

$$u(t) := \int_0^t S(t-s)f(s) \, ds \qquad \text{for } t \ge 0.$$

Since f(t) = 0 for  $t \notin [t_0 - \varepsilon, t_0 + \varepsilon]$  we have u(t) = 0 for  $t \le t_0 - \varepsilon$  and

$$u(t) := S(t - t_0 - \varepsilon) \int_{t_0 - \varepsilon}^{t_0 + \varepsilon} S(t_0 + \varepsilon - s) f(s) \, ds \in \operatorname{dom}(A) \quad \text{for } t > t_0 + \varepsilon.$$

Since f has mean value zero (the fourth equality below) it follows that

$$\begin{split} \int_{t_0+2\varepsilon}^{\infty} \|Au(t)\| \ dt &= \int_{2\varepsilon}^{\infty} \|Au(t_0+t)\| \ dt \\ &= \int_{2\varepsilon}^{\infty} \left\|A \int_{t_0-\varepsilon}^{t_0+\varepsilon} S(t_0+t-s)f(s) \ ds\right\| \ dt \\ &= \int_{2\varepsilon}^{\infty} \left\|A \int_{-\varepsilon}^{\varepsilon} S(t-s)f(t_0+s) \ ds\right\| \ dt \\ &= \int_{2\varepsilon}^{\infty} \left\|A \int_{-\varepsilon}^{\varepsilon} (S(t-s)-S(t))f(t_0+s) \ ds\right\| \ dt \\ &\leq \int_{2\varepsilon}^{\infty} \int_{-\varepsilon}^{\varepsilon} \|AS(t-s)-AS(t)\| \ \|f(t_0+s)\| \ ds \ dt \\ &\leq \int_{-\varepsilon}^{\varepsilon} \int_{2|s|}^{\infty} \|AS(t-s)-AS(t)\| \ dt \ \|f(t_0+s)\| \ ds \ dt \\ &\leq C \int_{-\varepsilon}^{\varepsilon} \|f(t_0+s)\| \ ds. \end{split}$$

This proves Lemma 9.5.

The next lemma is the heart of the proof of Theorem 9.3. It can be stated in two versions, namely for a finite interval [0, T] or for the half infinite interval  $[0, \infty)$ . We choose the latter version because it is relevant for the Laplace operator on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . More precisely, we shall assume that our semigroup is uniformly maximal q-regular for some q > 1. This means that there exists a constant  $c_q > 0$  such that the inequality

$$\left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \left\| A \int_{0}^{t} S(t-s)f(s) \, ds \right\|^{q} \, dt \right)^{1/q} \le c_{q} \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \left\| f(t) \right\|^{q} \, dt \right)^{1/q} \tag{9.10}$$

holds for every continuously differentiable function  $f : [0, \infty) \to X$  with compact support. Denote by  $\mu$  the Lebesgue measure on  $[0, \infty)$ .

**Lemma 9.6.** Let S(t) be a strongly continuous semigroup of operators with infinitesimal generator A that satisfies (9.9) for some constant C > 0. Assume also that there exist constants q > 1 and  $c_q > 0$  such that (9.10) holds for every continuously differentiable function  $f : [0, \infty) \to X$  with compact support. Then every continuously differentiable function  $f : [0, \infty) \to X$  with compact support satisfies the inequality

$$\mu\left(\left\{t \ge 0 \ \middle| \ \left\|A \int_0^t S(t-s)f(s) \, ds\right\| > r\right\}\right) \le \frac{c_1}{r} \int_0^\infty \|f(t)\| \, dt \qquad (9.11)$$

for all r > 0, where  $c_1 := 4 + 4C + (2c_q)^q$ .

*Proof.* By assumption there exists a unique bounded linear operator

$$\mathcal{T}: L^q([0,\infty),X) \to L^q([0,\infty),X)$$

such that

$$(\mathcal{T}f)(t) = A \int_0^t S(t-s)f(s) \, ds$$
 (9.12)

for every continuously differentiable function  $f : [0, \infty) \to X$  with compact support. For  $h \in L^q([0, \infty), X)$  define the function  $\kappa_{\mathcal{T}h} : (0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$  by

$$\kappa_{\mathcal{T}h}(r) := \mu\left(\left\{t \ge 0 \mid \|(\mathcal{T}h)(t)\| > r\right\}\right).$$

Although  $\mathcal{T}h$  is only an equivalence class of measurable functions from  $[0, \infty)$  to X, the number  $\kappa_{\mathcal{T}h}(r)$  is independent of the choice of the representative of this equivalence class and it is finite because  $\mathcal{T}h$  is *q*-integrable. We prove in three steps that the operator  $\mathcal{T}$  satisfies (9.11) for some constant  $c_1 > 0$ .

**Step 1.** Let  $h \in L^q([0,\infty), X) \cap L^1([0,\infty), X)$  and suppose that there exists a countable collection of compact intervals  $I_i \subset \mathbb{R}$  with pairwise disjoint interiors such that h is continuous in the interior of  $I_i$ , satisfies

$$\int_{I_i} h(t) \, dt = 0 \qquad \text{for all } i \in \mathbb{N},$$

and vanishes on the complement of the set  $B := \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} I_i$ . Then

$$\kappa_{\mathcal{T}h}(r) \le 2\mu(B) + \frac{C}{r} \|h\|_{L^1}$$
(9.13)

for every r > 0.

For  $i \in \mathbb{N}$  denote by  $t_i$  the center of the interval  $I_i$ , let  $\varepsilon_i := \frac{1}{2}|I_i|$  be half its length, so  $I_i = [t_i - \varepsilon_i, t_i + \varepsilon_i]$ , and define the function  $h_i : [0, \infty) \to X$  by

$$h_i(t) := \begin{cases} h(t), & \text{if } t \in I_i, \\ 0, & \text{if } t \notin I_i. \end{cases}$$

Then it follows from Lemma 9.5 that

$$\int_{t_i+2\varepsilon_i} \|(\mathcal{T}h_i)(t)\| \ dt \le C \int_{t_i-\varepsilon_i}^{t_i+\varepsilon_i} \|h_i(t)\| \ dt \tag{9.14}$$

for all  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ . Now recall that the functions  $\mathcal{T}h_i$  and  $\mathcal{T}h$  are only defined as equivalence classes in  $L^q([0,\infty), X)$ . Choose representatives of these equivalence classes and denote them by the same letters  $\mathcal{T}h_i$  and  $\mathcal{T}h$ . We claim that there exists a Lebesgue null set  $E \subset [0,\infty)$  such that

$$\|(\mathcal{T}h)(t)\| \le \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \|(\mathcal{T}h_i)(t)\| \quad \text{for all } t \in [0,\infty) \setminus E.$$
(9.15)

To see this, note that the sequence  $\sum_{i=1}^{\ell} h_i$  converges to h in  $L^q$  as  $\ell$  tends to infinity. Hence the sequence  $\sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \mathcal{T}h_i$  converges to  $\mathcal{T}h$  in  $L^q$ . Hence a subsequence converges to  $\mathcal{T}h$  almost everywhere. This means that there exists a Lebesque null set  $E \subset \mathbb{R}$  and a sequence of integers  $0 < \ell_1 < \ell_2 < \cdots$ such that the sequence  $\sum_{i=1}^{\ell_{\nu}} (\mathcal{T}h_i)(t)$  converges to  $(\mathcal{T}h)(t)$  as  $\nu$  tends to infinity for all  $t \in [0, \infty) \setminus E$ . Since  $\|\sum_{i=1}^{\ell_{\nu}} (\mathcal{T}h_i)(t)\| \leq \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \|(\mathcal{T}h_i)(t)\|$  for all t and all  $\nu$ , this proves (9.15). Now define the set

$$A := \left(\bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} [t_i - 2\varepsilon_i, t_i + 2\varepsilon_i]\right) \cap [0, \infty).$$

Then it follows from (9.14) and (9.15) that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}\setminus A} \|(\mathcal{T}h)(t)\| dt \leq \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}\setminus A} \|(\mathcal{T}h_i)(t)\| dt$$
$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \int_{t_i+2\varepsilon_i}^{\infty} \|(\mathcal{T}h_i)(t)\| dt$$
$$\leq C \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \int_{t_i-\varepsilon_i}^{t_i+\varepsilon_i} \|h_i(t)\| dt$$
$$= C \int_0^{\infty} \|h(t)\| dt.$$

Moreover,

$$\mu(A) \le 2\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \mu(I_i) = 2\mu(B).$$

Hence

$$\kappa_{\mathcal{T}h}(r) \leq \mu(A) + \mu\left(\left\{t \in [0,\infty) \setminus A \mid \|(\mathcal{T}h)(t)\| > r\right\}\right)$$
  
$$\leq \mu(A) + \frac{1}{r} \int_{[0,\infty) \setminus A} \|(\mathcal{T}h)(t)\| dt$$
  
$$\leq 2\mu(B) + \frac{C}{r} \int_0^\infty \|h(t)\| dt.$$

This proves Step 1.

**Step 2.** Fix a continuously differentiable function  $f : [0, \infty) \to X$  with compact support and a constant r > 0. Then there exists a countable collection of compact intervals  $I_i \subset [0, \infty)$  with pairwise disjoint interiors such that

$$|I_i| < \frac{1}{r} \int_{I_i} ||f(t)|| \ dt \le 2|I_i| \qquad for \ all \ i \in \mathbb{N}$$
 (9.16)

and  $||f(t)|| \leq r$  for almost all  $t \in [0,\infty) \setminus B$ , where  $B := \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} I_i$ . Here  $|I_i| = \mu(I_i)$  denotes the length of the interval  $I_i$ .

For  $k, \ell \in \mathbb{Z}$  define

$$I(k,\ell) := [2^{-\ell}k, 2^{-\ell}(k+1)].$$

Let  $\mathscr{I} := \{ I(k,\ell) \mid k \in \mathbb{N}_0, \, \ell \in \mathbb{Z} \}$  and define the subset  $\mathscr{I}_0 \subset \mathscr{I}$  by

$$\mathscr{I}_0 := \left\{ I \in \mathscr{I} \middle| \begin{array}{c} r|I| < \int_I ||f|| \text{ and, for all } I' \in \mathscr{I}, \\ I \subsetneq I' \implies \int_{I'} ||f|| \le r|I'| \end{array} \right\}.$$

Then every decreasing sequence of intervals in  $\mathscr{I}$  contains at most one element of  $\mathscr{I}_0$ . Hence every element of  $\mathscr{I}_0$  satisfies (9.16) and any two intervals in  $\mathscr{I}_0$  have disjoint interiors. Define  $B := \bigcup_{I \in \mathscr{I}_0} I$ . We prove that

$$t \in [0,\infty) \setminus B, \quad t \in I \in \mathscr{I} \implies \frac{1}{|I|} \int_{I} ||f|| \le r.$$
 (9.17)

Suppose, by contradiction, that there is a  $t \in [0, \infty) \setminus B$  and an interval  $I \in \mathscr{I}$  such that  $t \in I$  and  $r|I| < \int_{I} ||f||$ . Then, since  $||f||_{L^{1}} < \infty$ , there is a maximal interval  $I \in \mathscr{I}$  such that  $t \in I$  and  $r|I| < \int_{I} ||f||$ . Such a maximal interval would be an element of  $\mathscr{I}_{0}$  and hence  $t \in B$ , a contradiction. This proves (9.17). Now the Lebesgue differentiation theorem [33, Theorem 6.14] asserts that there exists a Lebesgue null set  $E \subset [0, \infty) \setminus B$  such that every element of  $[0, \infty) \setminus (B \cup E)$  is a Lebesgue point of the integrable function ||f||. By (9.17), every  $t \in [0, \infty) \setminus (B \cup E)$  is the intersection point of a decreasing sequence of intervals over which ||f|| has mean value at most r. Hence  $||f(t)|| \leq r$  for all  $r \in [0, \infty) \setminus (B \cup E)$  by Lebesgue differentiation. This proves Step 2.

#### Step 3. We prove the lemma.

Fix a continuously differentiable function  $f : [0, \infty) \to X$  with compact support and a constant r > 0. Let  $I_i$  be as in Step 2 and define  $B := \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} I_i$ . Then the set B has Lebesgue measure

$$\mu(B) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} |I_i| \le \frac{1}{r} \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \int_{I_i} \|f(t)\| dt \le \frac{1}{r} \int_0^{\infty} \|f(t)\| dt.$$

For each subset  $A \subset [0, \infty)$  denote by  $\chi_A : [0, \infty) \to \{0, 1\}$  the characteristic function of A. Define  $g, h : [0, \infty) \to X$  by

$$g := f\chi_{[0,\infty)\setminus B} + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{|I_i|} \left( \int_{I_i} f(t) \, dt \right) \chi_{I_i}, \qquad h := f - g.$$

Then f = g + h and  $||g||_{L^1} \leq ||f||_{L^1}$  and  $||h||_{L^1} \leq 2 ||f||_{L^1}$ . Since h vanishes on  $\mathbb{R} \setminus B$  and has mean value zero on  $I_i$  for all i it follows from Step 1 that

$$\kappa_{\mathcal{T}h}(r) \le 2\mu(B) + \frac{C}{r} \|h\|_{L^1} \le \frac{2+2C}{r} \|f\|_{L^1}$$

Moreover, it follows from Step 2 that  $||g(t)|| \le 2r$  almost everywhere. Hence it follows from [33, Lemma 7.36] that

$$\kappa_{\mathcal{T}g}(r) \leq \frac{1}{r^q} \int_0^\infty \|(\mathcal{T}g)(t)\|^q \, dt \leq \frac{c_q^q}{r^q} \int_0^\infty \|g(t)\|^q \, dt$$
$$\leq \frac{c_q^q}{r^q} \int_0^\infty (2r)^{q-1} \|g(t)\| \, dt \leq \frac{2^{q-1}c_q^q}{r} \|f\|_{L^1}.$$

Hence

$$\kappa_{\mathcal{T}f}(2r) \le \kappa_{\mathcal{T}g}(r) + \kappa_{\mathcal{T}h}(r) \le \frac{2 + 2C + 2^{q-1}c_q^q}{r} \|f\|_{L^1}$$

This proves Step 3 and Lemma 9.6.

Proof of Theorem 9.3. Let q > 1 and assume that S is uniformly maximal q-regular and satisfies (9.6). Then, by Lemma 9.6, there exist constants  $c_1 > 0$  and  $c_q > 0$  such that the operator

$$\mathcal{T}: L^q([0,\infty), X) \to L^q([0,\infty), X)$$

in (9.12) satisfies the inequalities

$$\|\mathcal{T}f\|_{L^q} \le c_q \|f\|_{L^q}, \qquad \sup_{r>0} r\kappa_{\mathcal{T}f}(r) \le c_1 \|f\|_{L^1}$$

for all  $f \in L^q([0,\infty), X) \cap L^1([0,\infty), X)$ . Hence, by Corollary 4.3,

$$\|\mathcal{T}f\|_{L^p} \le c_p \|f\|_{L^p}, \qquad c_p := 2\left(\frac{p(q-1)}{(q-p)(p-1)}\right)^{1/p} c_1^{\frac{q-p}{p(q-1)}} c_q^{\frac{q(p-1)}{p(q-1)}}$$

for  $1 and <math>f \in L^q([0,\infty), X) \cap L^1([0,\infty), X) \subset L^p([0,\infty), X)$ . This shows that S is uniformly maximal p-regular for 1 . Moreover thedual semigroup S<sup>\*</sup> also satisfies (9.6) and is uniformly maximal q<sup>\*</sup>-regular, $where <math>1/q + 1/q^* = 1$ . Hence, by what we have just proved, it is uniformly maximal p<sup>\*</sup>-regular for  $1 < p^* < q^*$ . By duality this implies that S is uniformly maximal p-regular for  $1/p + 1/p^* = 1$  and hence for all p with q . This proves Theorem 9.3.

# 10 Coifman–Weiss Transference

Fix a positive integer n and a constant  $1 \leq p < \infty$ . For an integrable function  $\phi \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and a complex Banach space X define

$$N_p^X(\phi) := \sup_{f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, X) \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\|\phi * f\|_{L^p}}{\|f\|_{L^p}}.$$

For  $X = \mathbb{C}$  abbreviate

$$N_p(\phi) := N_p^{\mathbb{C}}(\phi) = \sup_{f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\|\phi * f\|_{L^p}}{\|f\|_{L^p}}.$$
 (10.1)

The map  $N_p : L^1(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \to [0, \infty)$  is a norm and  $N_p(\phi) \leq ||\phi||_{L^1}$  for all  $\phi \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ , by Young's inequality. For many functions this inequality is strict and it may then be interesting to obtain estimates in terms of the number  $N_p(\phi)$  instead of the  $L^1$ -norm. A specific instance of this is Theorem 10.4 below, which is an example of the **Coifman–Weiss transference principle**.

**Lemma 10.1.** Fix a constant  $1 \leq p < \infty$ , let  $(Y, \mathcal{B}, \nu)$  be a measure space, and denote by  $L^p(Y, \nu)$  the Banach space of complex valued  $L^p$  functions on  $(Y, \mathcal{B}, \nu)$ . Then  $N_p^{L^p(Y,\nu)}(\phi) = N_p(\phi)$  for all  $\phi \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ .

Proof. Denote by  $\mu$  the Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and fix a Lebesgue integrable function  $\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$ . Let  $\mathscr{Y} \subset L^p(Y, \nu)$  be the space of (equivalence classes of)  $\mathcal{B}$ -measurable step functions on Y with  $\nu$ -finite support (up to equality  $\nu$ -almost everywhere). Then  $\mathscr{Y}$  is dense in  $L^p(Y, \nu)$  by [33, Lem 4.12]. Hence the space of (equivalence classes of) Lebesgue measurable step functions on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with values in  $\mathscr{Y}$  (up to equality almost everywhere) is dense in  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, L^p(Y, \nu))$ . Now fix a Lebesgue measurable step function  $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to Y$ . Then there exists a finite sequence of pairwise disjoint Lebesgue measurable sets  $A_1, \ldots, A_\ell \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  with  $\mu(A_i) < \infty$  for all i, and a finite sequence  $g_1, \ldots, g_\ell \in \mathscr{Y}$  such that

$$f(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \chi_{A_i}(t) g_i$$

for  $t \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . With this notation, we have

$$||f||_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n},L^{p}(Y,\nu))}^{p} = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \mu(A_{i}) \int_{Y} |g_{i}|^{p} d\nu.$$

Now abbreviate

$$f^{y}(t) := (f(t))(y) = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \chi_{A_{i}}(t)g_{i}(y)$$

for  $t \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $y \in Y$ . Then

$$((\phi * f)(t))(y) = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \left( \int_{A_i} \phi(t-s) \, d\mu(s) \right) g_i(y) = (\phi * f^y)(t)$$

for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and all  $y \in Y$ . Since each of the functions  $g_i : Y \to \mathbb{C}$  is supported on a subset of finite measure, it follows from Fubini's Theorem for  $\sigma$ -finite measure spaces (see [33, Thm 7.20]) that

$$\|\phi * f\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n}, L^{p}(Y, \nu))}^{p} = \int_{Y} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |(\phi * f^{y})(t)|^{p} d\mu(t) \right) d\nu(y)$$

Now it follows from the definition of  $N_p(\phi)$  that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |(\phi * f^{y})(t)|^{p} d\mu(t) \leq N_{p}(\phi)^{p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |f^{y}(t)|^{p} d\mu(t)$$
$$= N_{p}(\phi)^{p} \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \mu(A_{i}) |g_{i}(y)|^{p}$$

for all  $y \in Y$ . Integrate this inequality over Y to obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|\phi * f\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n}, L^{p}(Y, \nu))}^{p} &\leq N_{p}(\phi)^{p} \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \mu(A_{i}) \int_{Y} |g_{i}|^{p} d\nu \\ &= N_{p}(\phi)^{p} \|f\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n}, L^{p}(Y, \nu))}^{p}. \end{aligned}$$

Since the space of measurable step functions  $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathscr{Y}$  with support of finite Lebesgue measure is dense in  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, L^p(Y, \nu))$ , this implies

$$\|\phi * f\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n}, L^{p}(Y, \nu))} \leq N_{p}(\phi) \|f\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n}, L^{p}(Y, \nu))}$$

for all  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, L^p(Y, \nu))$ . Thus

$$N_p^{L^p(Y,\nu)}(\phi) \le N_p(\phi)$$

The converse inequality is obvious and this proves Lemma 10.1.

The next lemma is a special case of the transference principle in Coifman–Weiss [7, 8]. Let X be a complex Banach space and denote by Aut(X) the group of invertible bounded complex linear operators on X.

**Lemma 10.2** (Coifman–Weiss). Let  $U : \mathbb{R}^n \to \operatorname{Aut}(X)$  be a strongly continuous group homomorphisms and suppose that there is an  $M \ge 1$  such that

$$||U(s)|| \le M$$
 for all  $s \in \mathbb{R}^n$ .

Then

$$\left\| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi(s) U(s) x \, ds \right\| \le M^2 N_p^X(\phi) \, \|x\| \tag{10.2}$$

for all  $x \in X$ , all  $p \ge 1$ , and all  $\phi \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ .

Proof. Fix a constant  $p \geq 1$  and an element  $x \in X$ . Since both sides of the inequality (10.2) depend continuously on  $\phi \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ , and  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  is dense in  $L^1(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ , it suffices to prove the estimate for  $\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . Fix a smooth function  $\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  with compact support and choose vectors  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $a_i < b_i$  for all i and  $\operatorname{supp}(\phi) \subset [a_1, b_1] \times \cdot \times [a_n, b_n]$ . For  $T = (T_1, \ldots, T_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$  with  $T_i > b_i$  define the function  $f_T : \mathbb{R}^n \to X$  by

$$f_T(s) := \begin{cases} U(T-s)x, & \text{if } 0 \le s_i \le T_i - a_i \text{ for all } i, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Then  $||f_T||_{L^p} \leq \prod_i (T_i - a_i)^{1/p} M ||x||$ . Let  $t = (t_1, \ldots, t_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $b_i \leq t_i \leq T_i$  for all *i*. Then  $0 \leq t_i - s_i \leq T_i - a_i$  for all  $s_i \in [a_i, b_i]$  and hence

$$(\phi * f_T)(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi(s) f_T(t-s) \, ds = U(T-t) \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi(s) U(s) x \, ds.$$

Thus  $\|\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi(s)U(s)x\,ds\| = \|U(t-T)(\phi*f_T)(t)\| \le M \|(\phi*f_T)(t)\|$  when  $b_i \le t_i \le T_i$ . Take the  $L^p$  norm over the product of these intervals to obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi(s) U(s) x \, ds \right\| &\leq \frac{M \left\| \phi * f_T \right\|_{L^p}}{\prod_i (T_i - b_i)^{1/p}} \leq \frac{M N_p^X(\phi) \left\| f_T \right\|_{L^p}}{\prod_i (T_i - b_i)^{1/p}} \\ &\leq \prod_i \left( \frac{T_i - a_i}{T_i - b_i} \right)^{1/p} M^2 N_p^X(\phi) \| x \|. \end{split}$$

The inequality (10.2) follows by taking the limit  $T_i \to \infty$ . This completes the proof of Lemma 10.2.

The Coifman–Weiss transference principle extends to strongly continuous positive contraction semigroups on  $L^p$  spaces. Fix a number 1 and $any measure space <math>(Y, \mathcal{B}, \nu)$ . Let  $L^p(Y, \nu)$  be the Banach space of complex valued  $L^p$  functions on  $(Y, \mathcal{B}, \nu)$ . A strongly continuous semigroup S(t) of bounded linear operators on  $L^p(Y, \nu)$  is called a **contraction semigroup** if  $||S(t)|| \leq 1$  for all  $t \geq 0$ . It is called a **positive semigroup** if it is the complexification of a strongly continuous semigroup on the real  $L^p$  space and

$$f \ge 0 \qquad \implies \qquad S(t)f \ge 0$$

for all  $t \geq 0$  and every real valued  $L^p$  function  $f: Y \to \mathbb{R}$ .

**Theorem 10.3.** Let S(t) be a strongly continuous positive contraction semigroup on  $L^p(Y, \nu)$ . Then there exist

- a measure space  $(\widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}, \widetilde{\nu})$ ,
- linear operators  $\iota: L^p(Y, \nu) \to L^p(\widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{\nu})$  and  $\pi: L^p(\widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{\nu}) \to L^p(Y, \nu)$ ,
- and a strongly continuous group of linear operators  $\{\widetilde{S}(t)\}_{t\in\mathbb{R}}$  on  $L^p(\widetilde{Y},\widetilde{\nu})$ , satisfying the following conditions.
- (i) For all  $t \ge 0$  we have

$$\pi \circ \widetilde{S}(t) \circ \iota = S(t) \tag{10.3}$$

and, in particular,  $\pi \circ \iota = id$ .

(ii)  $\iota$  is an isometric embedding, i.e.

$$\|\iota(f)\|_{L^p(\widetilde{Y},\widetilde{\nu})} = \|f\|_{L^p(Y,\nu)} \quad \text{for all } f \in L^p(Y,\nu).$$

(iii)  $\pi$  is a contraction, i.e.

$$\|\pi(\widetilde{f})\|_{L^p(Y,\nu)} \le \|\widetilde{f}\|_{L^p(\widetilde{Y},\widetilde{\nu})} \quad \text{for all } \widetilde{f} \in L^p(\widetilde{Y},\widetilde{\nu}).$$

(iv)  $\widetilde{S}(t): L^p(\widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{\nu}) \to L^p(\widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{\nu})$  is a group of isometries, i.e.

$$\|\widetilde{S}(t)\widetilde{f}\|_{L^{p}(\widetilde{Y},\widetilde{\nu})} = \|\widetilde{f}\|_{L^{p}(\widetilde{Y},\widetilde{\nu})} \quad \text{for all } t \in \mathbb{R} \text{ and all } \widetilde{f} \in L^{p}(\widetilde{Y},\widetilde{\nu}).$$

(v) The operator  $\widetilde{S}(t)$  is positive for every  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , i.e. it is the complexification of a bounded linear operator on the real  $L^p$  space and

$$\widetilde{f} \ge 0 \implies \widetilde{S}(t)\widetilde{f} \ge 0$$

for every  $L^p$ -function  $\widetilde{f}: \widetilde{Y} \to \mathbb{R}$ .

*Proof.* The proof of Theorem 10.3 is a rather lengthy construction. The starting point is the case where Y is a finite set and the semigroup S(t) is replaced by the iterates of a single operator S. In this situation the assertion is a theorem of Akcoglu–Sucheston [1]. We explain their result, following the exposition in Fendler [11, Theorem 2.2.1].

Assume Y is a finite set. Then the space  $L^p(Y,\nu)$  of complex valued  $L^p$ functions can be identified with the vector space  $\mathbb{C}^n$  and it suffices to consider the standard  $\ell^p$ -norm  $\|y\|_p := (\sum_{i=1}^n |y_i|^p)^{1/p}$ . (Otherwise conjugate first by the diagonal matrix whose diagonal entries are the *p*th roots of the weights.) A positive linear operator is then a matrix  $S = (S_{ji})_{i,j=1}^n \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  with nonnegative entries. Given such a matrix with  $\ell^p$  operator norm  $\|S\| \leq 1$ , the **Akcoglu–Sucheston Theorem** asserts that there is a  $\sigma$ -finite measure space  $(\widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}, \widetilde{\nu})$ , a Banach space isometry  $\widetilde{S} : L^p(\widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{\nu}) \to L^p(\widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{\nu})$ , an isometric embedding  $\iota : \mathbb{C}^n \to L^p(\widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{\nu})$ , and a contracting projection  $\pi : L^p(\widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{\nu}) \to \mathbb{C}^n$  such that  $\pi \circ \widetilde{S}^k \circ \iota = S^k$  for every integer  $k \geq 0$ .

Let  $S \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  be a matrix with nonnegative entries and  $||S|| \leq 1$ . Denote the transposed matrix by  $S^* = (S_{ij})_{i,j=1}^n$  and think of it as as the dual operator on  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , equipped with the norm  $||\cdot||_q$ , where 1/p + 1/q = 1. Denote by  $\mathbb{R}^n_+ \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  the subset of vectors with nonnegative entries and, for  $y = (y_1, \ldots, y_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$  and r > 0, abbreviate  $y^r := (y_1^r, \ldots, y_n^r)$ .

For  $I \subset \{1, \ldots, n\}$  denote by  $\iota_I : \mathbb{R}^I \to \mathbb{R}^n$  the obvious injection and by  $\pi_I : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^I$  the obvious projection. Define  $S_I := S \circ \iota_I : \mathbb{R}^I \to \mathbb{R}^n$ . Then

$$y \in \mathbb{R}_{+}^{I}, \quad \|S_{I}y\|_{p} = \|S_{I}\| \, \|y\|_{p} \implies S_{I}^{*}(S_{I}y)^{p-1} = \|S_{I}\|^{p} \, y^{p-1}.$$
 (10.4)

To see this, let  $y \in \mathbb{R}_{+}^{I}$  with  $||S_{I}y||_{p} = ||S_{I}|| ||y||_{p}$  and define  $x := (S_{I}y)^{p-1}$ . Then  $||x||_{q}^{q} = ||S_{I}y||_{p}^{p}$ , hence  $||x||_{q} = ||S_{I}y||_{p}^{p-1}$ , and therefore

$$\langle y, S_I^* x \rangle \le \|y\|_p \|S_I^* x\|_q \le \|S_I\| \|y\|_p \|x\|_q = \|S_I y\|_p^p = \langle S_I y, x \rangle = \langle y, S_I^* x \rangle.$$

This implies  $\langle y, S_I^* x \rangle = \|y\|_p \|S_I^* x\|_q$ , hence  $S_I^* x$  is a positive multiple of  $y^{p-1}$ , and so  $S_I^* x = \|S_I\|^p y^{p-1}$ . This proves (10.4).

Next observe that any two vectors  $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$  satisfy

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{c} \langle y, z \rangle = 0, \\ S^*(Sy)^{p-1} \le y^{p-1} \end{array} \right\} \implies \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \langle Sy, Sz \rangle = 0, \\ S(y+z)^{p-1} = (Sy)^{p-1} + (Sz)^{p-1}. \end{array} \right.$$
(10.5)

To see this, note that  $0 \leq \langle Sz, (Sy)^{p-1} \rangle = \langle z, S^*(Sy)^{p-1} \rangle \leq \langle z, y^{p-1} \rangle = 0$ and hence  $\langle Sz, (Sy)^{p-1} \rangle = 0$ . This shows that when  $(Sy)_i \neq 0$  we must have  $(Sz)_i = 0$  and vice versa. Hence  $(S(y+z))^{p-1} = (Sy)^{p-1} + (Sz)^{p-1}$  and this proves (10.5). Next observe that, since  $||S|| \leq 1$ , there exists a vector  $u \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$  with strictly positive entries such that

$$S^*(Su)^{p-1} \le u^{p-1}.$$
(10.6)

To see this, choose a vector  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$  such that  $\|y\|_p = 1$  and  $\|Sy\|_p = \|S\|$ . Then  $S^*(Sy)^{p-1} = \|S\|^p y^{p-1} \le y^{p-1}$  by (10.4). Assume that the set

$$I := \{i \in \{1, \dots, n\} \mid y_i = 0\}$$

is nonempty and choose  $z \in \mathbb{R}_+^I$  such that  $||z||_p = 1$  and  $||S_I z||_p = ||S_I||$ . Then  $S_I^*(S_I z)^{p-1} = ||S_I||^p z^{p-1} \le z^{p-1}$  by (10.4) and  $\langle y, \iota_I(z) \rangle = 0$  by definition. Hence  $\langle Sy, S\iota_I(z) \rangle = 0$  by (10.5) and so

$$S^*(S\iota_I(z))^{p-1} = \iota_I(S^*_I(S\iota_I(z))^{p-1}) \le \iota_I(z)^{p-1}.$$

With this understood, it follows also from (10.5) that

$$S^*(Sx)^{p-1} = S^*(Sy)^{p-1} + S^*(S\iota_I(z))^{p-1} \le y^{p-1} + \iota_I(z)^{p-1} = x^{p-1}.$$

If  $\{i \in \{1, \ldots, n\} | x_i = 0\} \neq \emptyset$ , continue by induction to obtain a vector  $u \in \mathbb{R}^n$  with positive entries that satisfies (10.6).

The measure space  $(\tilde{Y}, \tilde{\mathcal{B}}, \tilde{\nu})$  will be constructed as a Borel subset of  $\mathbb{R}^2$  equipped with the Borel  $\sigma$ -algebra  $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$  and the restriction of the Lebesgue measure to  $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$ . Choose two *n*-tuples of pairwise disjoint compact intervals of length one, denoted by  $I_1, \ldots, I_n$  and  $J_1, \ldots, J_n$ , and define

$$Z_0 := \bigcup_{i=1}^n I_i \times J_i.$$

Now choose a bi-infinite sequence of pairwise disjoint compact rectangles

$$Z_k \subset \mathbb{R}^2, \qquad k \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\},$$

such that each  $Z_k$  has positive Lebesgue measure and  $Z_k \cap Z_0 = \emptyset$  for all k. By (10.6) there exists a vector  $u = (u_1, \ldots, u_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$  such that

$$S^*(Su)^{p-1} \le u^{p-1}$$
 and  $u_i > 0$  for all  $i$ .

Let v := Su and observe that  $v_j = 0$  if and only if  $S_{ji} = 0$  for all *i*. Define

$$I := \{1, \ldots, n\}, \qquad J := \{j \in I \mid v_j \neq 0\}.$$

Moreover, define

$$\xi_{ij} := S_{ji} \frac{u_i}{v_j} \quad \text{for } (i,j) \in I \times J,$$
  
$$\eta_{ij} := S_{ji} \left(\frac{v_j}{u_i}\right)^{p-1} \quad \text{for } (i,j) \in I \times I.$$
(10.7)

Since  $v_j = (Su)_j = \sum_{i=1}^n S_{ji}u_i$  for all j, we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_{ij} = 1 \quad \text{for all } j \in J.$$

Since  $\sum_{j=1}^{n} S_{ji} v_j^{p-1} = (S^* v^{p-1})_i = (S^* (Su)^{p-1})_i \le u_i^{p-1}$  for all i, we have  $\sum_{j=1}^{n} \eta_{ij} \le 1$  for all  $i \in I$ .

For  $j \in J$  divide the interval  $I_j$  into n compact subintervals  $I_{ij}$  of length  $\xi_{ij}$ whose interiors are disjoint. For  $i \in I$  choose n compact subintervals  $J_{ij} \subset J_i$ of length  $\eta_{ij}$  whose interiors are disjoint. (Thus  $J_{ij}$  is a point when  $j \notin J$ .) Define

$$Q := \bigcup_{i,j \in I \times J} Q_{ij}, \qquad Q_{ij} := I_{ij} \times J_j \subset I_j \times J_j,$$
$$R := \bigcup_{i,j \in I \times J} R_{ij}, \qquad R_{ij} := I_i \times J_{ij} \subset I_i \times J_i.$$

For  $i \in I$  and  $j \in J$  there is a unique affine diffeomorphism

$$\tau_{ij}: R_{ij} \to Q_{ij}, \quad \tau_{ij}(x,y) = (a_{ij}x + b_{ij}, c_{ij}y + d_{ij}), \quad a_{i,j}, c_{ij} > 0.$$

Now define a transformation  $\tau : \bigcup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} Z_k \to \bigcup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} Z_k$  as follows.

(a) The restriction of  $\tau$  to R is the transformation from R to Q given by  $\tau|_{R_{ij}} := \tau_{ij} : R_{ij} \to Q_{ij}$  (up to a set of measure zero).

(b) If  $R \neq Z_0$ , define  $\tau$  as a piecewise affine bijection (up to a set of measure zero) from  $Z_0 \setminus R$  onto  $Z_1$  and from  $Z_k$  onto  $Z_{k+1}$  for  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . If  $R = Z_0$  define  $\tau$  as the identity on  $\bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} Z_k$ .

(c) If  $Q \neq Z_0$ , define  $\tau$  as a piecewise affine bijection (up to a set of measure zero) from  $Z_{-1}$  onto  $Z_0 \setminus Q$  and from  $Z_{-k-1}$  onto  $Z_{-k}$  for  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . If  $Q = Z_0$  define  $\tau$  as the identity on  $\bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} Z_{-k}$ .

With this definition the map

$$\tau: \bigcup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} Z_k \to \bigcup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} Z_k$$

is a diffeomorphism on the complement of a set of measure zero. Now define

$$\widetilde{Y} := \bigcup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} Z_k,$$

let  $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$  be the Borel  $\sigma$ -algebra on  $\widetilde{Y}$ , and denote by  $\widetilde{\nu} = \mu$  the restriction of the Lebesgue measure to  $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ . Then the pushforward measure  $\tau_*\mu$  is absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure and vice versa, by construction. Thus there exists a measurable function

$$\rho: \widetilde{Y} \to (0,\infty),$$

unique almost everywhere, such that

$$(\tau_*\mu)(B) = \mu(\tau^{-1}(B)) = \int_B \rho \, d\mu$$

for every Borel set  $B \subset \widetilde{Y}$ . Since  $\tau^{-1}(Q_{ij}) = R_{ij}$  and the restriction of  $\tau$  to  $R_{ij}$  is an affine diffeomorphism, the restriction  $\rho|_{Q_{ij}} : Q_{ij} \to (0, \infty)$  is the constant function

$$\rho|_{Q_{ij}} = \frac{\mu(R_{ij})}{\mu(Q_{ij})} = \frac{\eta_{ij}}{\xi_{ij}} = \left(\frac{v_j}{u_i}\right)^p \quad \text{for } (i,j) \in I \times J.$$
(10.8)

(See equation (10.7).) Define the linear map  $\widetilde{S}: L^p(\widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{\nu}) \to L^p(\widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{\nu})$  by

$$\widetilde{S}\widetilde{f} := \rho^{1/p}(f \circ \tau^{-1}) \tag{10.9}$$

for  $\widetilde{f} \in L^p(\widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{\nu})$ , define the projection  $\pi : L^p(\widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{\nu}) \to \mathbb{C}^n$  by

$$\pi(\widetilde{f})_j := \int_{I_j \times J_j} \widetilde{f} \, d\mu \tag{10.10}$$

for  $j = 1, \ldots, n$ , and define the injection  $\iota : \mathbb{C}^n \to L^p(\widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{\nu})$  by

$$\iota(y) := \sum_{i=1}^{n} y_i \chi_{I_i \times J_i}$$
(10.11)

for  $y = (y_1, \ldots, y_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Then  $\widetilde{S}$  is an isometry,  $\iota$  is an isometric embedding,  $\pi$  is a contracting projection, and  $\pi \circ \iota = \text{id}$ .

To prove that  $\pi \circ \widetilde{S}^k \circ \iota = S^k$ , call a function  $\widetilde{f} \in L^p(\widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{\nu})$  admissible if it depends only on the first variable in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  and vanishes on  $\bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} Z_{-k}$ .

**Claim.** For every  $y \in \mathbb{C}^n$  the function  $\iota(y)$  is admissible. If  $\tilde{f} \in L^p(\tilde{Y}, \tilde{\nu})$  is admissible then  $\tilde{S}\tilde{f}$  is admissible and  $\pi(\tilde{S}\tilde{f}) = S\pi(\tilde{f})$ .

The first assertion follows directly from the definition. Hence assume that  $\tilde{f} \in L^p(\tilde{Y}, \tilde{\nu})$  is admissible. Then  $\tilde{S}\tilde{f}$  depends only on the first variable, because  $\tau$  is piecewise affine and  $\tau^{-1}$  maps the vertical rectangle  $Q_{ij}$  onto the horizontal rectangle  $R_{ij}$ . And  $\tilde{S}\tilde{f}$  vanishes on  $Z_{-k}$  for each  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  because

$$\tau^{-1}(Z_{-k}) \subset Z_{-k} \cup Z_{-k-1}.$$

So  $\widetilde{S}\widetilde{f}$  is admissible. If  $j \notin J$  then

$$I_j \times J_j \subset Z_0 \setminus Q$$
,

hence  $\widetilde{S}\widetilde{f}$  vanishes on  $I_j \times J_j$ , because  $\tau^{-1}(Z_0 \setminus Q) \subset Z_{-1}$ , and therefore

$$\pi(\widetilde{S}\widetilde{f})_j = 0 = (S\pi(\widetilde{f}))_j.$$

If  $j \in J$  then, by (10.7), (10.8), (10.9), and (10.10),

$$\begin{aligned} \pi(\widetilde{S}\widetilde{f})_{j} &= \int_{I_{j}\times J_{j}} \rho^{1/p}(\widetilde{f}\circ\tau^{-1})d\mu = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{Q_{ij}} \rho^{1/p-1}(\widetilde{f}\circ\tau^{-1})d(\tau_{*}\mu) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\frac{v_{j}}{u_{i}}\right)^{1-p} \int_{R_{ij}} \widetilde{f}d\tau = \sum_{i=1}^{n} S_{ji}\frac{1}{\eta_{ij}} \int_{R_{ij}} \widetilde{f}d\mu \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{n} S_{ji} \int_{I_{i}\times J_{i}} \widetilde{f}d\mu = (S\pi(\widetilde{f}))_{j}. \end{aligned}$$

The last but one equation holds because  $\tilde{f}$  depends only on the first variable. This proves the claim. It follows directly from the claim that  $\pi \circ \tilde{S}^k \circ \iota = S^k$  for every integer  $k \geq 0$  and this proves the Akcoglu–Sucheston theorem [1].

The Akcoglu–Sucheston theorem was carried over to positive contractions on general  $L^p$  spaces by Coifman–Rochberg–Weiss [7]. The extension to strongly continuous positive contraction semigroups on general  $L^p$  spaces as stated above can be found in the manuscript of Fendler [11, Theorem 4.2.1], to which we also refer for further details of the proof of Theorem 10.3. **Theorem 10.4** (Coifman–Weiss). Let  $(Y, \mathcal{B}, \nu)$  be a measure space and let S(t) be a strongly continuous positive contraction semigroup on  $L^p(Y, \nu)$ . Then

$$\left\| \int_{0}^{\infty} \phi(s) S(s) f \, ds \right\|_{L^{p}(Y,\nu)} \le N_{p}(\phi) \left\| f \right\|_{L^{p}(Y,\nu)}$$
(10.12)

for all  $f \in L^p(Y, \nu)$ , all p > 1, and all  $\phi \in L^1([0, \infty), \mathbb{C})$ .

*Proof.* Let

$$\widetilde{X} := L^p(\widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{\nu})$$

and the unitary group

$$\mathbb{R} \to \mathcal{L}(\widetilde{X}) : t \mapsto \widetilde{S}(t)$$

and the linear operators

$$\iota: L^p(Y,\nu) \to L^p(\widetilde{Y},\widetilde{\nu}), \qquad \pi: L^p(\widetilde{Y},\widetilde{\nu}) \to L^p(Y,\nu),$$

be as in Theorem 10.3. Thus

$$S(t) = \pi \circ \widetilde{S}(t) \circ \iota$$

for all  $t \ge 0$ , the map  $\iota : L^p(Y, \nu) \to L^p(\widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{\nu})$  is an isometric embedding, and

$$\left|\pi\left(\widetilde{f}\right)\right\|_{L^{p}(Y,\nu)} \leq \left\|\widetilde{f}\right\|_{L^{p}(\widetilde{Y},\widetilde{\nu})}$$

for all  $\widetilde{f} \in L^p(\widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{\nu})$ . Then

$$N_p^{\widetilde{X}}(\phi) = N_p(\phi)$$

by Lemma 10.1. Since  $\widetilde{S}(t)$  is a unitary group on  $\widetilde{X}$ , it then follows from Lemma 10.2 with M = 1 that

$$\begin{split} \left\| \int_0^\infty \phi(s) S(s) f \, ds \right\|_{L^p(Y,\nu)} &= \left\| \pi \left( \int_0^\infty \phi(s) \widetilde{S}(s) \iota(f) \, ds \right) \right\|_{L^p(Y,\nu)} \\ &\leq \left\| \int_0^\infty \phi(s) \widetilde{S}(s) \iota(f) \, ds \right\|_{L^p(\widetilde{Y},\widetilde{\nu})} \\ &\leq N_p(\phi) \, \|\iota(f)\|_{L^p(\widetilde{Y},\widetilde{\nu})} \\ &= N_p(\phi) \, \|f\|_{L^p(Y,\nu)} \end{split}$$

for all  $f \in L^p(Y, \nu)$ . This proves Theorem 10.4.

# 11 Proof of Theorem 1.1

In view of Theorem 9.3 it suffices to prove Theorem 1.1 for p = q. For this case expositions based on different methods can be found in the paper [20] by Lamberton and in the book [22] by Lieberman. The proof in [22] is close in spirit to the proof of the Calderón–Zygmund inequality in Theorem 5.2. In our proof of Theorem 1.1 for p = q we follow the approach of Lamberton [20] which is based on semigroup theory, Stein interpolation, the Mikhlin and Marcinkiewicz multiplier theorems, and Coifman–Weiss transference.

**Lemma 11.1.** Let  $\zeta \in \mathbb{C} \setminus (-\infty, 0]$ . Then the linear operator

 $\zeta - \Delta : W^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ 

is bijective and satisfies the following estimates. (i) If  $\operatorname{Re}(\zeta) \geq 0$  and  $\zeta \neq 0$  then, for all  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ 

$$\left\| (\zeta - \Delta)^{-1} f \right\|_{L^2} \le \frac{1}{|\zeta|} \| f \|_{L^2}.$$

(ii) If  $\operatorname{Re}(\zeta) < 0$  and  $\operatorname{Im}(\zeta) \neq 0$  then, for all  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ ,

$$\left\| (\zeta - \Delta)^{-1} f \right\|_{L^2} \le \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Im}(\zeta)|} \| f \|_{L^2}.$$

*Proof.* The proof has three steps. Throughout the proof all norms are  $L^2$  norms and all inner products are  $L^2$  inner products for compactly supported functions on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with values in  $\mathbb{R}$ ,  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , or  $\mathbb{C}$ .

**Step 1.** Let  $u, v \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and let  $\zeta = \xi + \mathbf{i}\eta \in \mathbb{C}$  with  $\xi \geq 0$ . Define  $f, g \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  by  $\zeta(f + \mathbf{i}g) := (\zeta - \Delta)(u + \mathbf{i}v)$  so that

$$\Delta u = \xi u - \eta v - \xi f + \eta g,$$
  

$$\Delta v = \eta u + \xi v - \eta f - \xi g.$$
(11.1)

Then  $||u||_{L^2}^2 + ||v||_{L^2}^2 \le ||f||_{L^2}^2 + ||g||_{L^2}^2$ . Integration by parts shows that

$$-\|\nabla u\|^{2} = \langle u, \Delta u \rangle = \xi \|u\|^{2} - \eta \langle u, v \rangle - \xi \langle u, f \rangle + \eta \langle u, g \rangle,$$
  

$$-\|\nabla v\|^{2} = \langle v, \Delta v \rangle = \eta \langle u, v \rangle + \xi \|v\|^{2} - \eta \langle v, f \rangle - \xi \langle v, g \rangle,$$
  

$$- \langle \nabla v, \nabla u \rangle = \langle v, \Delta u \rangle = \xi \langle u, v \rangle - \eta \|v\|^{2} - \xi \langle v, f \rangle + \eta \langle v, g \rangle,$$
  

$$- \langle \nabla u, \nabla v \rangle = \langle u, \Delta v \rangle = \eta \|u\|^{2} + \xi \langle u, v \rangle - \eta \langle u, f \rangle - \xi \langle u, g \rangle.$$
(11.2)

Add the first two inequalities in (11.2) and subtract the last two identities in (11.2) to obtain

$$\xi \left( \|u\|^2 + \|v\|^2 \right) \le \xi \left( \langle u, f \rangle + \langle v, g \rangle \right) + \eta \left( \langle v, f \rangle - \langle u, g \rangle \right)$$

$$\eta \left( \|u\|^2 + \|v\|^2 \right) = \eta \left( \langle u, f \rangle + \langle v, g \rangle \right) - \xi \left( \langle v, f \rangle - \langle u, g \rangle \right).$$

$$(11.3)$$

Multiply the (first) inequality in (11.3) by  $\xi \ge 0$  and multiply the (second) equation in (11.3) by  $\eta$  and take the sum to obtain

$$(\xi^{2} + \eta^{2}) (||u||^{2} + ||v||^{2}) \le (\xi^{2} + \eta^{2}) (\langle u, f \rangle + \langle v, g \rangle).$$

Since  $\xi^2 + \eta^2 > 0$  it follows that

$$||u||^{2} + ||v||^{2} \le \langle u, f \rangle + \langle v, g \rangle \le \frac{1}{2} (||u||^{2} + ||v||^{2} + ||f||^{2} + ||g||^{2}).$$

This proves Step 1.

**Step 2.** Let  $u, v \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and let  $\zeta = \xi + \mathbf{i}\eta \in \mathbb{C}$  with  $\xi < 0$  and  $\eta \neq 0$ . Define  $f, g \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  by  $\zeta(f + \mathbf{i}g) := (\zeta - \Delta)(u + \mathbf{i}v)$  so that (11.1) holds. Then

$$||u||_{L^{2}}^{2} + ||v||_{L^{2}}^{2} \le \left|\eta^{-1}\zeta\right|^{2} \left(||f||_{L^{2}}^{2} + ||g||_{L^{2}}^{2}\right).$$

We argue as in the proof of Step 1 to obtain (11.3). Since  $\eta \neq 0$  the (second) equation in (11.3) can be written in the form

$$\begin{aligned} \|u\|^{2} + \|v\|^{2} &= \langle u, f + \eta^{-1}\xi g \rangle + \langle v, g - \eta^{-1}\xi f \rangle \\ &\leq \|u\| \|f + \eta^{-1}\xi g\| + \|v\| \|g - \eta^{-1}\xi f\| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \left( \|u\|^{2} + \|v\|^{2} \right) + \frac{1}{2} \left( \|f + \eta^{-1}\xi g\|^{2} + \|g - \eta^{-1}\xi f\|^{2} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \left( \|u\|^{2} + \|v\|^{2} \right) + \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 + |\eta^{-1}\xi|^{2} \right) \left( \|f\|^{2} + \|g\|^{2} \right). \end{aligned}$$

This proves Step 2.

Step 3. We prove the lemma.

If  $u \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  then, by Step 1 and Step 2, we have  $||u|| \leq |\zeta|^{-1} ||(\zeta - \Delta)u||$ for  $\operatorname{Re}(\zeta) > 0$  and  $||u|| \leq |\operatorname{Im}(\zeta)|^{-1} ||(\zeta - \Delta)u||$  for  $\operatorname{Re}(\zeta) \leq 0$ ,  $\operatorname{Im}(\zeta) \neq 0$ . These inequalities continue to hold for all  $u \in W^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and show that the linear operator  $\zeta - \Delta : W^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  is injective. By the regularity argument outlined in Example 9.1 it is also surjective. This proves Lemma 11.1. It follows from part (i) of Lemma 11.1 and the Hille–Yoshida–Phillips Theorem that the operator  $\Delta$  generates a strongly continuous contraction semigroup S(t) on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . In Example 9.1 we have seen that this semigroup is given by

$$S(t)u_0 = K_t * u_0 = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} K_t(x - y)u_0(y) \, dy \tag{11.4}$$

for  $u_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and  $t \geq 0$ , where  $K_t : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  is the fundamental solution (1.9) of the heat equation on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Now fix a constant 1 . $Since <math>||K_t||_{L^1} = 1$  for all t > 0 it follows from Young's inequality that

$$\|S(t)u_0\|_{L^p} \le \|u_0\|_{L^p} \tag{11.5}$$

for all  $t \ge 0$  and all  $u_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \cap L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . In [20] Lamberton proved a general  $L^p$  regularity theorem for strongly continuous semigroups on  $L^2$  that satisfy the estimates of Lemma 11.1 and (11.5). Here is his result. As before all  $L^p$  spaces are understood as complex  $L^p$  spaces.

**Theorem 11.2 (Lamberton).** Let  $(X, \mathcal{A}, \mu)$  be a  $\sigma$ -finite measure space and let  $A : \operatorname{dom}(A) \to L^2(X, \mu)$  be the infinitesimal generator of a strongly continuous semigroup S(t) on  $L^2(X, \mu)$ . Assume A and S satisfy the following.

(I) If  $\zeta \in \mathbb{C} \setminus (-\infty, 0]$  then the operator  $\zeta - A : \operatorname{dom}(A) \to L^2(X, \mu)$  is bijective and, for all  $f \in L^2(X, \mu)$ ,

$$\left\| (\zeta - A)^{-1} f \right\|_{L^2} \le \begin{cases} |\zeta|^{-1} \|f\|_{L^2}, & \text{if } \operatorname{Re}(\zeta) > 0, \\ |\operatorname{Im}(\zeta)|^{-1} \|f\|_{L^2}, & \text{if } \operatorname{Re}(\zeta) \le 0, \operatorname{Im}(\zeta) \neq 0. \end{cases}$$
(11.6)

(II) Let 1 . Then <math>S(t) defines a strongly continuous positive contraction semigroup on  $L^p$ , i.e. if  $t \ge 0$  and  $u_0 \in L^2(X,\mu) \cap L^p(X,\mu)$  then

$$\|S(t)u_0\|_{L^p} \le \|u_0\|_{L^p}, \qquad (11.7)$$

and, if  $u_0$  is real valued, then so is  $S(t)u_0$  and  $u_0 \ge 0$  implies  $S(t)u_0 \ge 0$ . Then, for every real number  $1 , there exists a constant <math>C_p > 0$ such that every continuously differentiable function  $f : \mathbb{R} \to L^2(X, \mu)$  with compact support satisfies the inequality

$$\left(\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left\| A \int_{-\infty}^{t} S(t-s)f(s) \, ds \right\|_{L^{p}}^{p} dt \right)^{1/p} \le C_{p} \left(\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \|f(t)\|_{L^{p}}^{p} \, dt \right)^{1/p}.$$
(11.8)

Proof. See page 90

Condition (I) in Theorem 11.2 implies that A generates what in semigroup theory is called an **analytic semigroup**. Lamberton's theorem in [20] is more general in that he merely assumes that A generates an analytic semigroup. This corresponds to a more general estimate than (11.6) and, in particular, the spectrum of A is then not required to be contained in the negative real axis but only in a cone of angle less than  $\pi$  around the negative real axis. The discussion in this section is restricted to the case where (11.6) holds because that suffices for our intended application.

A key ingredient in Lamberton's proof is the **Fourier transform** for  $L^2$  functions on  $\mathbb{R}$  with values in  $L^2(X,\mu)$ . It is the unique bounded linear operator  $\mathscr{F}: L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X,\mu)) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X,\mu))$  given by

$$(\mathscr{F}(u))(\xi) := \widehat{u}(\xi) := \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-\mathbf{i}\xi t} u(t) dt$$
(11.9)

for  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu)) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu))$ . Its inverse is

$$(\mathscr{F}^{-1}(\widehat{u}))(t) = u(t) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{\mathbf{i}\xi t} \widehat{u}(\xi) \, d\xi$$
 (11.10)

for  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\hat{u} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu)) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu))$ . Using the Fourier transform and the operator A one can define an operator family on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu))$  as follows. As before we use the notation  $\mathbb{S} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid 0 \leq \operatorname{Re}(z) \leq 1\}$ .

**Definition 11.3.** Fix two real numbers  $\theta_0, \theta_1$  such that

$$0 < \theta_0 < \frac{\pi}{2} < \theta_1 < \pi$$

and define the function  $\rho : \mathbb{S} \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  by

$$\rho(z,\xi) := |\xi| e^{\mathbf{i}((1-z)\theta_0 + z\theta_1)\operatorname{sign}(\xi)}$$
(11.11)

for  $z \in \mathbb{S}$  and  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ , where  $\operatorname{sign}(\xi) := 1$  for  $\xi \ge 0$  and  $\operatorname{sign}(\xi) := 0$  for  $\xi < 0$ . For  $z \in \mathbb{S}$  define the operator  $U_z : L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu)) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu))$  by

$$U_z := \mathscr{F}^{-1} \circ \widehat{U}_z \circ \mathscr{F}, \qquad (\widehat{U}_z \widehat{f})(\xi) := \rho(z,\xi) \big( \rho(z,\xi) - A)^{-1} \widehat{f}(x) \quad (11.12)$$

for  $\hat{f} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu))$  and  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ . It is well defined because the operator norm of the bounded linear operator  $\rho(z, \xi)(\rho(z, \xi) - A)^{-1}$  on  $L^2(X, \mu)$ satisfies the inequality

$$\|\rho(z,\xi)(\rho(z,\xi) - A)^{-1}\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \leq \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } |(1-\lambda)\theta_0 + \lambda\theta_1| \leq \frac{\pi}{2}, \\ \frac{1}{\sin(\theta_1)}, & \text{if } |(1-\lambda)\theta_0 + \lambda\theta_1| > \frac{\pi}{2}, \end{cases}$$
(11.13)

for all  $z = \lambda + \mathbf{i}\tau \in \mathbb{S}$  and all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ , by (11.6).

With this definition in place, Lamberton's proof of Theorem 11.2 requires the following seven lemmas. The first lemma shows that for a suitable choice of  $\lambda$  the operator  $U_{\lambda}$  agrees with the operator for which we intend to prove an  $L^p$  estimate.

**Lemma 11.4.** Choose a constant  $0 < \lambda < 1$  such that

$$(1-\lambda)\theta_0 + \lambda\theta_1 = \frac{\pi}{2} \tag{11.14}$$

and let  $f : \mathbb{R} \to L^2(X, \mu)$  be a continuously differentiable function with compact support. Then

$$(U_{\lambda}f)(t) = A \int_{-\infty}^{t} S(t-s)f(s) \, ds + f(t)$$
(11.15)

for  $t \ge 0$  and  $(U_{\lambda}f)(t) = 0$  for t < 0.

*Proof.* Define the function  $v : \mathbb{R} \to L^2(X, \mu)$  by

$$v(t) := A \int_{-\infty}^{t} S(t-s)f(s) \, ds + f(t) \qquad \text{for } t \in \mathbb{R}$$

For  $\delta \geq 0$  define  $u_{\delta}, v_{\delta} : \mathbb{R} \to L^2(X, \mu)$  by

$$u_{\delta}(t) := \int_{-\infty}^{t} e^{-\delta s} S(s) f(t-s) \, ds, \qquad v_{\delta}(t) := \dot{u}_{\delta}(t) = (A-\delta) u_{\delta}(t) + f(t)$$

for  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . (Here we use the fact that  $u_{\delta}$  takes values in the domain of A and is continuously differentiable.) Then  $v_0 = v$ . With  $g := \dot{f}$  the function  $v_{\delta} = \dot{u}_{\delta}$  can also be expressed in the form

$$v_{\delta}(t) = \int_{-\infty}^{t} e^{-\delta(t-s)} S(t-s)g(s) \, ds \quad \text{for } t \ge 0.$$
 (11.16)

For  $\delta > 0$  the function  $v_{\delta}$  belongs to  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu))$ . Denote its Fourier transform by  $\hat{v}_{\delta} := \mathscr{F}(v_{\delta})$ . The Fourier transform of the operator valued function  $[0, \infty) \to \mathcal{L}(L^2(X, \mu)) : t \mapsto e^{-\delta t}S(t)$  is given by  $(\mathbf{i}\xi + \delta - A)^{-1}$ . Hence  $\hat{v}_{\delta}(\xi) = (\mathbf{i}\xi + \delta - A)^{-1}\hat{g}(\xi) = \mathbf{i}\xi(\mathbf{i}\xi + \delta - A)^{-1}\hat{f}(\xi)$  by (11.16). Take the limit  $\delta \to 0$  to obtain  $v \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu))$  and

$$\widehat{v}(\xi) := (\mathscr{F}(v))(\xi) = \mathbf{i}\xi(\mathbf{i}\xi - A)^{-1}\widehat{f}(\xi).$$

Now it follows from equations (11.11) and (11.14) that  $\rho(\lambda,\xi) = \mathbf{i}\xi$  for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ . This implies  $\widehat{U_{\lambda}f}(\xi) = \mathbf{i}\xi(\mathbf{i}\xi - A)^{-1}\widehat{f}(\xi) = \widehat{v}(\xi)$  for all  $\xi$  and hence  $U_{\lambda}f = v$ . This proves Lemma 11.4.

The main task is now to prove a uniform  $L^q$  estimate for the operators  $U_{i\tau}$  for all  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ . This task will be accomplished in Lemma 11.10 below. The first step is to express the operator  $U_0$  in Definition 11.3 in terms of the semigroup. The proof will take up the next four pages.

**Lemma 11.5.** Define the function  $\phi_0 : \mathbb{R} \times (0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$\phi_0(r,s) := \frac{(s^2 - r^2)\cos(\theta_0)}{\pi(r^2 + s^2 - 2rs\sin(\theta_0))^2} \qquad \text{for } (r,s) \in \mathbb{R} \times (0,\infty).$$
(11.17)

This function is integrable over  $I \times [\varepsilon, \infty)$  for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  and every compact interval  $I \subset \mathbb{R}$ , and the operator  $U_0 : L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu)) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu))$  is given by

$$(U_0 f)(t) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_0(r, s) S(s) f(t-r) \, dr ds \tag{11.18}$$

for every  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  and every function  $f : \mathbb{R} \to L^2(X, \mu)$  that is twice continuously differentiable and has compact support.

*Proof.* The proof has six steps.

**Step 1.** Define the functions  $\widehat{K}, \widehat{K}_{\varepsilon} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathcal{L}(L^2(X, \mu))$  by

$$\widehat{K}(\xi) := \rho(0,\xi) \left( \rho(0,\xi) - A \right)^{-1}, \qquad \widehat{K}_{\varepsilon}(\xi) := e^{-\rho(0,\xi)\varepsilon} S(\varepsilon) \widehat{K}(\xi).$$

Then  $\|\widehat{K}_{\varepsilon}(\xi)\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \leq \|\widehat{K}(\xi)\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \leq 1$  and

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|\widehat{K}_{\varepsilon}(\xi)f - \widehat{K}(\xi)f\|_{L^2} = 0$$

for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$  and all  $f \in L^2(X, \mu)$ . By (11.11),

$$\rho(0,\xi) = |\xi|e^{\mathbf{i}\theta_0 \operatorname{sign}(\xi)} = |\xi|\cos(\theta_0) + \mathbf{i}\xi\sin(\xi_0).$$

Since  $0 < \theta_0 < \pi/2$  the number  $\rho(0,\xi)$  has nonnegative real part and hence  $|e^{-\rho(0,\xi)\varepsilon}| \leq 1$  for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$  and all  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Moreover, the operator norm of  $S(t): L^2(X,\mu) \to L^2(X,\mu)$  is at most one for all t, by (11.7). Hence

$$\|\widehat{K}_{\varepsilon}(\xi)\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \le \|\widehat{K}(\xi)\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \le 1,$$

where the last inequality follows from (11.6). This proves the first assertion. Since the operator  $\hat{K}(\xi)$  commutes with the semigroup, it follows from the definitions that  $\|\hat{K}_{\varepsilon}(\xi)f - \hat{K}_{\varepsilon}(\xi)f\|_{L^2} \leq \|e^{-\rho(0,\xi)\varepsilon}S(\varepsilon)f - f\|_{L^2}$  for  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\varepsilon > 0$ , and  $f \in L^2(X,\mu)$ . Hence the second assertion follows from the fact that S is a strongly continuous semigroup. This proves Step 1. **Step 2.** Let  $f : \mathbb{R} \to L^2(X, \mu)$  be a twice continuously differentiable function with compact support. Then  $\widehat{f} : \mathbb{R} \to L^2(X, \mu)$  is integrable and

$$(U_0 f)(t) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{it\xi} \widehat{K}(\xi) \widehat{f}(\xi) \, d\xi$$
 (11.19)

for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

Define  $g := \ddot{f}$ . Then  $\hat{g}(\xi) = -\xi^2 \hat{f}(\xi)$  and hence

$$\|\widehat{f}(\xi)\|_{L^2} = \frac{1}{\xi^2} \|\widehat{g}(\xi)\|_{L^2} \le \frac{1}{\xi^2} \|\ddot{f}\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu))}$$

for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ . Since  $\widehat{f}$  is continuous (near  $\xi = 0$ ) it follows that the function  $\widehat{f} : \mathbb{R} \to L^2(X,\mu)$  is integrable. Hence Step 2 follows from the fact that the Fourier transform of  $U_0 f$  is the function  $\widehat{U_0 f} = \widehat{K}\widehat{f} : \mathbb{R} \to L^2(X,\mu)$ , by definition, and hence is integrable as well.

**Step 3.** Let f be as in Step 2 and define the function  $U_{0,\varepsilon}f : \mathbb{R} \to L^2(X,\mu)$  by

$$(U_{0,\varepsilon}f)(t) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{it\xi} \widehat{K}_{\varepsilon}(\xi) \widehat{f}(\xi) d\xi.$$
(11.20)

for  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Then

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \| (U_{0,\varepsilon}f)(t) - (U_0f)(t) \|_{L^2} = 0$$

for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

By Step 2,

$$\begin{aligned} \|(U_0f)(t) - (U_{0,\varepsilon}f)(t)\|_{L^2} &= \frac{1}{2\pi} \left\| \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{\mathbf{i}t\xi} \left( \widehat{K}(\xi)\widehat{f}(\xi) - \widehat{K}_{\varepsilon}(\xi)\widehat{f}(\xi) \right) \, d\xi \right\|_{L^2} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left\| \widehat{K}(\xi)\widehat{f}(\xi) - \widehat{K}_{\varepsilon}(\xi)\widehat{f}(\xi) \right\|_{L^2} \, d\xi \end{aligned}$$

for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ . Moreover,

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \widehat{K}(\xi) \widehat{f}(\xi) - \widehat{K}_{\varepsilon}(\xi) \widehat{f}(\xi) \right\|_{L^{2}} &\leq 2 \left\| \widehat{f}(\xi) \right\|_{L^{2}}, \\ \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left\| \widehat{K}(\xi) \widehat{f}(\xi) - \widehat{K}_{\varepsilon}(\xi) \widehat{f}(\xi) \right\|_{L^{2}} &= 0 \end{aligned}$$

for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$  by Step 2. Since the function  $\mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R} : \xi \mapsto \|\widehat{f}(\xi)\|_{L^2}$  is integrable, the assertion of Step 3 follows from the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem.

**Step 4.** The function  $\phi_0$  in (11.17) is integrable over  $I \times [\varepsilon, \infty)$  for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  and every compact interval  $I \subset \mathbb{R}$ .

Since  $0 < \theta_0 < \pi/2$  we have  $\sin(\theta_0) < 1$ . Since  $2rs \le r^2 + s^2$  it follows that

$$|\phi_0(r,s)| \le \frac{\cos(\theta_0)|s^2 - r^2|}{\pi(r^2 + s^2)^2(1 - \sin(\theta_0))^2} \le \frac{\cos(\theta_0)}{\pi(1 - \sin(\theta_0))^2} \frac{1}{r^2 + s^2}.$$
 (11.21)

Since

$$\int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^2 + s^2} \, ds = \frac{1}{|r|} \int_{\varepsilon/r}^{\infty} \frac{ds}{1 + s^2} \le \frac{1}{|r|} \int_{\varepsilon/|r|}^{\infty} \frac{ds}{s^2} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon}$$

the function  $(r, s) \mapsto (r^2 + s^2)^{-1}$  is integrable over  $I \times [\varepsilon, \infty)$  for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ and every compact interval  $I \subset \mathbb{R}$ , and hence so is  $\phi_0$ . This proves Step 4.

**Step 5.** Let  $\phi_0$  be given by (11.17). Then

$$\phi_0(r,s) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \rho(0,\xi) e^{-\rho(0,\xi)s + \mathbf{i}r\xi} d\xi$$
(11.22)

for all  $(r,s) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{(0,0)\}.$ 

Fix a pair  $(r, s) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{(0, 0)\}$ . Since

$$\rho(0,\xi) = |\xi|e^{\mathbf{i}\theta_0 \operatorname{sign}(\xi)} = |\xi|\cos(\theta_0) + \mathbf{i}\xi\sin(\theta_0),$$

the right hand side in (11.22) is the sum  $z^+ + z^-$ , where

$$z^{+} := \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\rho(0,\xi) e^{-\rho(0,\xi)s + \mathbf{i}r\xi}}{2\pi} d\xi = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{e^{\mathbf{i}\theta_{0}}\xi e^{-\xi(e^{\mathbf{i}\theta_{0}}s + \mathbf{i}r)}}{2\pi} d\xi = \frac{e^{\mathbf{i}\theta_{0}}}{2\pi(e^{\mathbf{i}\theta_{0}}s - \mathbf{i}r)^{2}}$$

and

$$z^{-} := \int_{-\infty}^{0} \frac{\rho(0,\xi)e^{-\rho(0,\xi)s + \mathbf{i}r\xi}}{2\pi} d\xi = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\rho(0,-\xi)e^{-\rho(0,-\xi)s - \mathbf{i}r\xi}}{2\pi} d\xi = \overline{z}^{+}.$$

Hence

$$z^{+} + z^{-} = \operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{e^{\mathbf{i}\theta_{0}}}{\pi(e^{\mathbf{i}\theta_{0}}s - \mathbf{i}r)^{2}}\right) = \frac{\operatorname{Re}(e^{\mathbf{i}\theta_{0}}(e^{-\mathbf{i}\theta_{0}}s + \mathbf{i}r)^{2})}{\pi|e^{\mathbf{i}\theta_{0}}s - \mathbf{i}r|^{4}}$$
$$= \frac{\operatorname{Re}(e^{-\mathbf{i}\theta_{0}}s^{2} + 2\mathbf{i}rs - e^{\mathbf{i}\theta_{0}}r^{2})}{\pi(\cos^{2}(\theta_{0})s^{2} + (\sin(\theta_{0})s - r)^{2})^{2}} = \frac{\cos(\theta_{0})(s^{2} - r^{2})}{\pi(r^{2} + s^{2} - 2rs\sin(\theta_{0}))^{2}}.$$

This proves Step 5.

Step 6. Let f be as in Step 2. Then

$$(U_{0,\varepsilon}f)(t) = \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_0(r,s) S(s) f(t-r) \, dr ds$$

for all  $\varepsilon > 0$  and all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

For all  $\zeta \in \mathbb{C}$  with  $\operatorname{Re}(\zeta) > 0$ ,

$$(\zeta - A)^{-1} = \int_0^\infty e^{-\zeta s} S(s) \, ds.$$

Since  $\operatorname{Re}(\rho(0,\xi)) > 0$  for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$  it follows from the definition of  $\widehat{K}_{\varepsilon}(\xi)$  in Step 1 that

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{K}_{\varepsilon}(\xi) &= \rho(0,\xi)e^{-\rho(0,\xi)\varepsilon}S(\varepsilon)\left(\rho(0,\xi) - A\right)^{-1} \\ &= \rho(0,\xi)e^{-\rho(0,\xi)\varepsilon}S(\varepsilon)\int_{0}^{\infty}e^{-\rho(0,\xi)s}S(s)\,ds \\ &= \rho(0,\xi)\int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty}e^{-\rho(0,\xi)s}S(s)\,ds \end{aligned}$$

for all  $\varepsilon > 0$  and all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ . Hence it follows from the definition of  $U_{0,\varepsilon}f$  in Step 3 that

$$\begin{aligned} (U_{0,\varepsilon}f)(t) &= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{\mathbf{i}t\xi} \widehat{K}_{\varepsilon}(\xi) \widehat{f}(\xi) \, d\xi \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \rho(0,\xi) e^{-\rho(0,\xi)s + \mathbf{i}t\xi} S(s) \widehat{f}(\xi) \, dsd\xi \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \rho(0,\xi) e^{-\rho(0,\xi)s + \mathbf{i}(t-r)\xi} S(s) f(r) \, drdsd\xi \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left( \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \rho(0,\xi) e^{-\rho(0,\xi)s + \mathbf{i}r\xi} S(s) f(t-r) \, drds \right) d\xi. \end{aligned}$$

Since  $\|\rho(0,\xi)e^{-\rho(0,\xi)s+\mathbf{i}(t-r)\xi}S(s)f(r)\|_{L^2} \leq |\xi|e^{-|\xi|\cos(\theta_0)\varepsilon}e^{-\delta s}\|f(r)\|_{L^2}$  whenever  $s \geq \varepsilon$ , the function  $(r,s,\xi) \mapsto \rho(0,\xi)e^{-\rho(0,\xi)s+\mathbf{i}r\xi}S(s)f(t-r)$  is integrable over  $\mathbb{R} \times [\varepsilon,\infty) \times \mathbb{R}$  for all  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Hence, by Fubini's theorem,

$$\begin{aligned} (U_{0,\varepsilon}f)(t) &= \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left( \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \rho(0,\xi) e^{-\rho(0,\xi)s + \mathbf{i}r\xi} \, d\xi \right) S(s)f(t-r) \, drds \\ &= \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_0(r,s)S(s)f(t-r) \, drds. \end{aligned}$$

Here the last equation follows from Step 5 and this proves Step 6. The assertions of Lemma 11.5 follow immediately from Steps 3, 4, and 6.  $\Box$ 

The next lemma (whose proof takes up three pages) examines the properties of the function  $\phi_0 : \mathbb{R} \times (0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$  in equation (11.17) in Lemma 11.5. It makes use of the Fourier transform on  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , given by

$$(\mathscr{F}(v))(\xi,\eta) := \widehat{v}(\xi,\eta) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e^{-\mathbf{i}(\xi r + \eta s)} v(r,s) \, dr ds$$

for  $v \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{C}) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{C})$  and  $\xi, \eta \in \mathbb{R}$ . The inverse is

$$(\mathscr{F}^{-1}(\widehat{v}))(r,s) = v(r,s) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e^{\mathbf{i}(\xi r + \eta s)} \widehat{v}(\xi,\eta) \, d\xi d\eta$$

for  $\hat{v} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{C}) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{C})$  and  $r, s \in \mathbb{R}$ . A function  $v : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}$  is called a **Schwartz test function**, if the functions  $(r, s) \mapsto r^k s^\ell \partial_r^m v(r, s) \partial_s^n v(r, s)$ is bounded for all quadruples of nonnegative integers  $k, \ell, m, n$ . The (topological vector) space of Schwartz test functions is denoted by  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{C})$  and the subspace of real valued Schwartz test functions is denoted by  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{C})$ . The space  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{C})$  is invariant under the Fourier transform. A **tempered distribution** on  $\mathbb{R}^2$  is a continuous linear functional  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{C}) \to \mathbb{C}$ .

**Lemma 11.6.** Let  $\phi_0 : \mathbb{R} \times (0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$  be the function defined by (11.17) and define the linear map  $\Phi_0 : C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{C}) \to \mathbb{C}$  by

$$\Phi_0(v) := -\int_0^\infty \int_{-\infty}^\infty \frac{r\cos(\theta_0)}{\pi(r^2 + s^2 - 2rs\sin(\theta_0))} \frac{\partial v}{\partial r}(r,s) \, dr ds \tag{11.23}$$

for  $v \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{C})$ . Then the following holds.

(i)  $\Phi_0$  extends to a tempered distribution.

(ii) For all  $v \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{C})$ 

$$\Phi_0(v) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_0(r, s) v(r, s) \, ds.$$
(11.24)

(iii) The formula  $(T_0v)(r,s) := \Phi_0(v(r-\cdot,s-\cdot))$  for  $v \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^2,\mathbb{C})$  defines a continuous linear operator  $T_0: \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^2,\mathbb{C}) \to \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^2,\mathbb{C})$ . Moreover,

$$\widehat{T_0 v}(\xi, \eta) = m(\xi, \eta) \widehat{v}(\xi, \eta), \qquad m(\xi, \eta) := \frac{|\xi| e^{\mathbf{i}\theta_0 \operatorname{sign}(\xi)}}{|\xi| e^{\mathbf{i}\theta_0 \operatorname{sign}(\xi)} + \mathbf{i}\eta}, \qquad (11.25)$$

for  $v \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{C})$  and  $|m(\xi, \eta)| \leq (1 - \sin(\theta_0))^{-1/2}$  for all  $(\xi, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{(0, 0)\}$ . (iv) If  $1 < q < \infty$  then  $T_0$  extends to a bounded linear operator from  $L^q(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{C})$  to itself. *Proof.* We prove (i). Define the function  $K_0 : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$  by  $K_0(r,s) := 0$  whenever s < 0 or r = s = 0, and by

$$K_0(r,s) := \frac{r\cos(\theta_0)}{\pi(r^2 + s^2 - 2rs\sin(\theta_0))}$$

whenever  $s \ge 0$  and  $(r, s) \ne (0, 0)$ . Then  $K_0$  is locally integrable and a simple computation shows that

$$\frac{\partial K_0}{\partial r}(r,s) = \phi_0(r,s) \quad \text{for } s > 0.$$

Hence the right hand side of (11.23) is well defined and it follows directly from the definition that  $\Phi_0$  is a tempered distribution. This proves (i).

We prove (ii). Fix a function  $v \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{C})$  and define

$$\Phi_{\varepsilon}(v) := -\int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} K_0(r,s) \frac{\partial v}{\partial r}(r,s) \, dr ds$$

for  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Then  $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \Phi_{\varepsilon}(v) = \Phi_0(v)$  and integration by parts shows that

$$\Phi_{\varepsilon}(v) = \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\partial K_0}{\partial r}(r,s)v(r,s)\,drds = \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_0(r,s)v(r,s)\,drds.$$

This proves part (ii).

We prove (iii). Since

$$\rho(0,\xi) = |\xi|e^{\mathbf{i}\theta_0 \operatorname{sign}(\xi)} = |\xi|\cos(\theta_0) + \mathbf{i}\xi\sin(\theta_0),$$

we have  $|\rho(0,\xi)|^2 = |\xi|^2$  and

$$|\rho(0,\xi) + \mathbf{i}\eta|^2 = \xi^2 + \eta^2 - 2\xi\eta\sin(\theta_0) \ge (\xi^2 + \eta^2)(1 - \sin(\theta_0)).$$

Since  $0 < \theta_0 < \pi/2$  it follows that  $\sin(\theta_0) < 1$  and

$$|m(\xi,\eta)| \le \frac{1}{\sqrt{1-\sin(\theta_0)}} \quad \text{for all } (\xi,\eta) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{(0,0)\}.$$

Since  $\operatorname{Re}(\rho(0,\xi)) > 0$  for  $\xi \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ , we have

$$\int_0^\infty \rho(0,\xi) e^{-\rho(0,\xi)s - \mathbf{i}s\eta} \, ds = \frac{\rho(0,\xi)}{\rho(0,\xi) + \mathbf{i}\eta} = m(\xi,\eta). \tag{11.26}$$

for all nonzero pairs  $(\xi, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ . Moreover,

$$\phi_0(r,s) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \rho(0,\xi) e^{-\rho(0,\xi)s + \mathbf{i}r\xi} d\xi \qquad (11.27)$$

for all nonzero pairs  $(r, s) \in \mathbb{R} \times [0, \infty)$ , by Step 5 in the proof of Lemma 11.5.

Next define

$$m_{\varepsilon}(\xi,\eta) := e^{-\rho(0,\xi)\varepsilon - \mathbf{i}\varepsilon\eta} m(\xi,\eta) = \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \rho(0,\xi) e^{-\rho(0,\xi)s - \mathbf{i}s\eta} \, ds \tag{11.28}$$

for  $(\xi, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{(0, 0)\}$ . Here the second equation follows from (11.26). Fix a function  $v \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{C})$  and denote its Fourier transform by  $\hat{v} := \mathscr{F}(v)$ . Then  $\hat{v}$  is integrable and hence so is  $m_{\varepsilon}\hat{v}$ . Thus the inverse Fourier transform of  $m_{\varepsilon}\hat{v}$  is given by

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathscr{F}^{-1}(m_{\varepsilon}\widehat{v}))(r,s) \\ &= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e^{\mathbf{i}r\xi + \mathbf{i}s\eta} m_{\varepsilon}(\xi,\eta) \widehat{v}(\xi,\eta) \, d\xi d\eta \\ &= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \rho(0,\xi) e^{-\rho(0,\xi)s' + \mathbf{i}r\xi + \mathbf{i}(s-s')\eta} \widehat{v}(\xi,\eta) \, ds' d\xi d\eta. \end{aligned}$$

The integrand satisfies the inequality

$$\left|\rho(0,\xi)e^{-\rho(0,\xi)s'+\mathbf{i}r\xi+\mathbf{i}(s-s')\eta}\widehat{v}(\xi,\eta)\right| \le |\xi|e^{-|\xi|\cos(\theta_0)\varepsilon}|\widehat{v}(\xi,\eta)|$$

for  $s' \ge \varepsilon$  and so the function is integrable on  $\mathbb{R}^2 \times [\varepsilon, \infty)$ . Hence, by Fubini's theorem,

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathscr{F}^{-1}(m_{\varepsilon}\widehat{v}))(r,s) \\ &= \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \rho(0,\xi) e^{-\rho(0,\xi)s' + \mathbf{i}r\xi} \left(\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{\mathbf{i}(s-s')\eta} \widehat{v}(\xi,\eta) \, d\eta\right) d\xi\right) ds' \\ &= \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \rho(0,\xi) e^{-\rho(0,\xi)s' + \mathbf{i}r\xi} \left(\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-\mathbf{i}r'\xi} v(r',s-s') \, dr'\right) d\xi\right) ds' \\ &= \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \rho(0,\xi) e^{-\rho(0,\xi)s' + \mathbf{i}(r-r')\xi} v(r',s-s') \, dr'\right) d\xi\right) ds' \\ &= \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \rho(0,\xi) e^{-\rho(0,\xi)s' + \mathbf{i}r'\xi} v(r-r',s-s') \, dr'\right) d\xi\right) ds' \\ &= \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \left(\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \rho(0,\xi) e^{-\rho(0,\xi)s' + \mathbf{i}r'\xi} d\xi\right) v(r-r',s-s') \, dr'\right) ds' \\ &= \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_0(r',s') v(r-r',s-s') \, dr' ds' = \Phi_{\varepsilon}(v(r-\cdot,s-\cdot)). \end{aligned}$$

Here the last but one equation follows from (11.27).

Now define the function  $\phi_{\varepsilon} : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$\phi_{\varepsilon}(r,s) := \begin{cases} \phi_0(r,s), & \text{if } s \ge \varepsilon, \\ 0, & \text{if } s < \varepsilon. \end{cases}$$
(11.29)

This function is locally integrable, by Lemma 11.5, and we have just proved that  $\widehat{}$ 

$$\widehat{\phi_{\varepsilon} \ast v} = m_{\varepsilon}\widehat{v}$$

for every smooth compactly supported function  $v : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}$ . Moreover,  $|m_{\varepsilon}(\xi,\eta)| \leq |m(\xi,\eta)| \leq \cos(\theta_0)^{-1}$  for all  $\xi$  and  $\eta$ . Thus

$$|m_{\varepsilon}(\xi,\eta)\widehat{v}(\xi,\eta) - m(\xi,\eta)\widehat{v}(\xi,\eta)| \le \frac{2}{\cos(\theta_0)}|\widehat{v}(\xi,\eta)|$$
$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} |m_{\varepsilon}(\xi,\eta)\widehat{v}(\xi,\eta) - m(\xi,\eta)\widehat{v}(\xi,\eta)| = 0$$

for all  $(\xi, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{(0, 0)\}$ . Since the function  $\mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R} : (\xi, \eta) \mapsto |\widehat{v}(\xi, \eta)|^2$  is integrable, it follows from the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem that  $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|m_{\varepsilon}\widehat{v} - m\widehat{v}\|_{L^2} = 0$ . This implies that the functions  $\phi_{\varepsilon} * v = \mathscr{F}^{-1}(m_{\varepsilon}\widehat{v})$ converge in  $L^2$  as  $\varepsilon$  tends to zero. Since the pointwise limit of this family is the function  $T_0 v$ , by part (ii) of the lemma (already proved), it follows that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|\phi_{\varepsilon} * v - T_0 v\|_{L^2} = 0.$$
(11.30)

Hence

$$\mathscr{F}(T_0 v) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathscr{F}(\phi_{\varepsilon} * v) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} m_{\varepsilon} \widehat{v} = m \widehat{v},$$

where the convergence is in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$ . This proves part (iii).

We prove (iv). The real and imaginary parts of m are given by

$$\operatorname{Re}(m(\xi,\eta)) = \frac{\xi^2 + \xi\eta\sin(\theta_0)}{\xi^2 + \eta^2 + 2\xi\eta\sin(\theta_0)}, \quad \operatorname{Im}(m(\xi,\eta)) = \frac{|\xi|\eta\cos(\theta_0)}{\xi^2 + \eta^2 + 2\xi\eta\sin(\theta_0)}$$

A calculation shows that there exist positive constants  $c_1$  and  $c_2$  such that

$$\left|\frac{\partial m}{\partial \xi}(\xi,\eta)\right| + \left|\frac{\partial m}{\partial \eta}(\xi,\eta)\right| \le \frac{c_1}{\sqrt{\xi^2 + \eta^2}}$$

and

$$\left|\frac{\partial^2 m}{\partial \xi^2}(\xi,\eta)\right| + \left|\frac{\partial^2 m}{\partial \xi \partial \eta}(\xi,\eta)\right| + \left|\frac{\partial^2 m}{\partial \eta^2}(\xi,\eta)\right| \le \frac{c_2}{\xi^2 + \eta^2}$$

for all  $(\xi, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{(0, 0)\}$ . Hence the assertion of part (iv) follows from the Mikhlin Multiplier Theorem 6.1. This proves Lemma 11.6

To prove the desired estimate for the operator  $U_0$  we must replace  $\phi_0$  by integrable functions  $\phi$ . The next lemma introduces a class of operators that will be used to approximate  $U_0$ . This is where the transference estimates in Section 10 are used.

**Lemma 11.7.** Fix a number  $1 < q < \infty$  and let  $\phi \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{C})$  be a complex valued Lebesgue integrable function such that  $\phi(r, s) = 0$  for s < 0. Let  $f : \mathbb{R} \to L^q(X, \mu)$  be a continuous function with compact support and define the function  $\mathcal{T}_{\phi}f : \mathbb{R} \to L^q(X, \mu)$  by

$$(\mathcal{T}_{\phi}f)(t) := \int_0^\infty \int_{-\infty}^\infty \phi(r,s) S(s) f(t-r) \, dr ds \tag{11.31}$$

for  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then  $\mathcal{T}_{\phi}f$  is q-integrable and

$$\|\mathcal{T}_{\phi}f\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R},L^{q}(X,\mu))} \leq N_{q}(\phi) \|f\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R},L^{q}(X,\mu))}.$$
(11.32)

(See equation (10.1) for the definition of  $N_q(\phi)$ .)

Proof. By Theorem 10.3 and assumption (II) in Theorem 11.2 there is a  $\sigma$ -finite measure space  $(Y, \mathcal{B}, \nu)$ , an isometric embedding  $\iota : L^q(X, \mu) \to L^q(Y, \nu)$ , a contracting projection  $\pi : L^q(Y, \nu) \to L^q(X, \mu)$ , and a strongly continuous group of positive isometries  $U(t) \in \operatorname{Aut}(L^q(Y, \nu))$ , such that

$$\pi \circ U(s) \circ \iota = S(s) \qquad \text{for all } s \ge 0.$$

For  $r, s \in \mathbb{R}$  define the operator  $\mathscr{U}(r, s)$  on  $L^q(\mathbb{R}, L^q(Y, \nu)) \cong L^q(\mathbb{R} \times Y, \sigma \otimes \nu)$ ( $\sigma$  the Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbb{R}$ ) by

$$(\mathscr{U}(r,s)f)(t) := U(s)f(t-r)$$

for  $r, s, t \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $f \in L^q(\mathbb{R}, L^q(Y, \nu))$ . Then  $\mathscr{U} : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \operatorname{Aut}(L^q(\mathbb{R}, L^q(Y, \nu)))$ is a strongly continuous group of isometries. Hence, by Lemma 10.2,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{T}_{\phi}f\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R},L^{q}(X,\mu))} &= \left\| \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \phi(r,s)S(s)f(\cdot-r)\,drds \right\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R},L^{q}(X,\mu))} \\ &= \left\| \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \phi(r,s)\pi(U(s)\iota(f(\cdot-r)))\,drds \right\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R},L^{q}(X,\mu))} \\ &\leq \left\| \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \phi(r,s)\mathscr{U}(s,r)(\iota\circ f)\,drds \right\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R},L^{q}(Y,\nu))} \\ &\leq N_{q}(\phi) \left\| \iota\circ f \right\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R},L^{q}(Y,\mu))} \\ &= N_{q}(\phi) \left\| f \right\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R},L^{q}(X,\mu))} \end{aligned}$$

for all  $f \in L^q(\mathbb{R}, L^q(X, \mu))$ . This proves Lemma 11.7

The next lemma introduces the required sequence of integrable functions that converge to  $\phi_0$  in the distributional sense.

**Lemma 11.8.** Let  $\phi_0 : \mathbb{R} \times (0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$  be the function in (11.17) and let  $T_0 : L^q(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{C}) \to L^q(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{C})$  be the operator in Lemma 11.6. Then there is a sequence of smooth functions  $\phi_n \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^2)$  that satisfies the following.

(i) For all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and all  $(r, s) \in \mathbb{R}^2$  with  $s \leq 0$ , we have  $\phi_n(r, s) = 0$ .

(ii) For all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and all real numbers  $1 < q < \infty$ , we have

$$N_q(\phi_n) \le \|T_0\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^q)}$$
. (11.33)

(iii) For all  $v \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{C})$ , we have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \phi_n(r, s) v(r, s) \, dr ds = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_0(r, s) v(r, s) \, dr ds.$$
(11.34)

*Proof.* Choose a sequence of smooth functions  $\psi_n : \mathbb{R}^2 \to [0,\infty)$  such that

$$supp(\psi_n) \subset [-1/n, 1/n] \times [0, 1/n], \qquad \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \psi_n(r, s) \, dr \, ds = 1$$

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and define  $\phi_n := T_0 \psi_n$ . Then the Fourier transform of  $\phi_n$  is

$$\widehat{\phi}_n(\xi,\eta) = m(\xi,\eta)\widehat{\psi}_n(\xi,\eta), \qquad m(\xi,\eta) := \frac{|\xi|e^{\mathbf{i}\theta_0 \operatorname{sign}(\xi)}}{|\xi|e^{\mathbf{i}\theta_0 \operatorname{sign}(\xi)} + \mathbf{i}\eta}.$$

(See equation (11.25) in Lemma 11.6.)

We prove that  $\phi_n$  satisfies (i). An integrable function is supported in the half plane  $\mathbb{R} \times [0, \infty)$  if and only if its Fourier transform extends to a bounded holomorphic function in the domain  $\{\eta \in \mathbb{C} \mid \operatorname{Im}(\eta) < 0\}$  for every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ . Since the summand  $|\xi|e^{i\theta_{0}\operatorname{sign}(\xi)}$  has a positive real part the multiplier m has this property. Since  $\psi_n$  is supported in  $\mathbb{R} \times [0, \infty)$ , its Fourier transform has this property as well, and hence so does  $\hat{\phi}_n = m\hat{\psi}_n$ . This shows that  $\phi_n$  is supported in  $\mathbb{R} \times [0, \infty)$ .

We prove that  $\phi_n$  satisfies (ii). Namely,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\phi_n * v\|_{L^q} &= \|(T\psi_n) * v\|_{L^q} \\ &= \|T_0(\psi_n * v)\|_{L^q} \\ &\leq \|T_0\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^q)} \|\psi_n * v\|_{L^q} \\ &\leq \|T_0\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^q)} \|v\|_{L^q} \end{aligned}$$

for all  $v \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^2)$  and so  $N_p(\phi_n) \leq ||T_0||_{\mathcal{L}(L^q)}$ . This proves (ii).

We prove that  $\phi_n$  satisfies (iii). Let  $v \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  be a Schwartz test function and recall that

$$\Phi_0(v) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_0(r, s) v(r, s) \, dr ds$$

by (11.24), that

$$(T_0 v)(r, s) = (\Phi_0 v)(r - \cdot, s - \cdot)$$

in Lemma 11.6, and that the Fourier transform of  $T_0 v$  is given by  $\widehat{T_0 v} = m \widehat{v}$ , where  $m : \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{(0,0)\} \to \mathbb{C}$  is the bounded function in (11.25). Define

$$w(r,s) := v(-r,-s)$$

so that  $\widehat{w}(\xi,\eta) = \widehat{v}(-\xi,-\eta)$ . Then

$$\Phi_0(v) = (T_0 w)(0,0) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} m(\xi,\eta) \widehat{v}(-\xi,-\eta) \, d\xi d\eta$$

and

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \phi_n(r,s) v(r,s) \, dr ds &= (\phi_n * w)(0,0) \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \widehat{\phi}_n(\xi,\eta) \widehat{v}(-\xi,-\eta) \, d\xi d\eta \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} m(\xi,\eta) \widehat{\psi}_n(\xi,\eta) \widehat{v}(-\xi,-\eta) \, d\xi d\eta. \end{split}$$

Since  $\psi_n \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^2)$  is a sequence of approximate Dirac  $\delta$ -functions, its Fourier transforms satisfy  $|\hat{\psi}_n(\xi,\eta)| \leq 1$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and all  $(\xi,\eta) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , and the sequence  $\hat{\psi}_n$  converges to 1, uniformly on every compact subset of  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . Moreover, since v is a Schwartz test function, so is  $\hat{v}$ , and so  $\hat{v}$  is integrable. (In fact, a sufficient condition for the integrability of  $\hat{v}$  is that v is three times continuously differentiable and all derivatives of v up to order three are integrable.) Now let  $\kappa > 0$ . Then there exists an R > 0 such that

$$\frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{1-\sin(\theta_0)}}\int_{\mathbb{R}^2\setminus B_R}|\widehat{v}|<\frac{\kappa}{3}.$$

Choose  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $(1 - \sin(\theta_0))^{-1/2} R^2 \sup_{B_R} |\hat{v}| \sup_{B_R} |\hat{\psi}_n - 1| < \kappa/3$  for every integer  $n \ge n_0$ . Then  $|\Phi_0(v) - \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \phi_n v| < \kappa$  for every integer  $n \ge n_0$ . This proves Lemma 11.8.

The next lemma is a convergence result that plays a central role in Lamberton's proof of Theorem 11.2 (see [20, Lemma 3.4]). We reproduce his proof below.

**Lemma 11.9.** Let  $f_0, g_0 \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}), v_0 \in L^2(X, \mu), u_0 \in \bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{dom}(A^k),$ and  $t_0 > 0$ . Define the functions  $f, g : \mathbb{R} \to L^2(X, \mu)$  by

$$f(t) := f_0(t)S(t_0)u_0, \qquad g(t) := g_0(t)v_0. \tag{11.35}$$

Fix a constant  $\delta > 0$  and define the functions  $U_0^{\delta}f, \mathcal{T}_{\phi_n}^{\delta}f : \mathbb{R} \to L^2(X, \mu)$  by

$$(U_0^{\delta}f)(t) := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_0(r,s) e^{-\delta s} S(s) f(t-r) \, dr ds,$$
  
$$(\mathcal{T}_{\phi_n}^{\delta}f)(t) := \int_0^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_n(r,s) e^{-\delta s} S(s) f(t-r) \, dr ds,$$
  
(11.36)

where the  $\phi_n$  are as in Lemma 11.8. Then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \left\langle g, \mathcal{T}_{\phi_n}^{\delta} f \right\rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu))} = \left\langle g, U_0^{\delta} f \right\rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu))}.$$
(11.37)

*Proof.* Choose a smooth cutoff function  $\beta : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  such that  $\beta(s) = 0$  for  $s \leq -t_0/2$  and  $\beta(s) = 1$  for  $s \geq 0$ . Define the functions  $a_0, b_0 : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  by

$$a_0(r) := \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \overline{g}_0(t) f_0(t-r) \, dt, \quad b_0(s) := \beta(s) e^{-\delta s} \int_X \overline{v}_0(S(t_0+s)u_0) \, d\mu$$

for  $r \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $s \geq -t_0$  and by  $b_0(s) := 0$  for  $s < -t_0$ . Then  $a_0$  and  $b_0$  are Schwartz test functions and hence so is the function  $v : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}$  given by  $v(r,s) := a_0(r)b_0(s)$ . Moreover, it follows from (11.35) that

$$\begin{split} \left\langle g, \mathcal{T}_{\phi_n}^{\delta} f \right\rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu))} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_n(r, s) \overline{g}_0(t) f_0(t-r) e^{-\delta s} \int_X \overline{v}_0(S(t_0+s)u_0) \, d\mu \, dr ds dt \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_n(r, s) a_0(r) b_0(s) \, dr ds \end{split}$$

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Here we have used the fact that  $\phi_n(r,s) = 0$  for  $s \leq 0$ . Similarly,

$$\left\langle g, U_0^{\delta} f \right\rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu))} = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_0(r, s) a_0(r) b_0(s) \, dr ds.$$

Thus (11.37) follows from (11.34) in Lemma 11.8 with  $v(r,s) = a_0(r)b_0(s)$ . This proves Lemma 11.9. The final preparatory lemma for the proof of Theorem 11.2 puts things together and establishes the required  $L^q$  estimate for the operators  $U_{i\tau}$  introduced in Definition 11.3.

**Lemma 11.10.** For every real number  $1 < q < \infty$  there exists a constant  $C_q > 0$  such that, for all  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$  and all  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu)) \cap L^q(\mathbb{R}, L^q(X, \mu))$ ,

$$\left(\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \|(U_{\mathbf{i}\tau}f)(t)\|_{L^{q}(X,\mu)}^{q} dt\right)^{1/q} \le C_{q} \left(\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \|f(t)\|_{L^{q}(X,\mu)}^{q} dt\right)^{1/q}.$$
 (11.38)

*Proof.* The proof has two steps.

**Step 1.** The inequality (11.38) holds for  $\tau = 0$  with  $C_q = ||T_0||_{\mathcal{L}(L^q)}$ . Here  $T_0$  is the linear operator introduced in Lemma 11.6.

Choose  $1 < q' < \infty$  such that 1/q + 1/q' = 1. Assume first that f and g are given by (11.35) with  $f_0, g_0 \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}), t_0 > 0, v_0 \in L^2(X, \mu) \cap L^{q'}(X, \mu)$ , and  $u_0 \in L^q(X, \mu) \cap \bigcap_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \operatorname{dom}(A^k)$ . Then

$$\begin{split} \left\langle g, U_0^{\delta} f \right\rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu))} &= \lim_{n \to \infty} \left\langle g, \mathcal{T}_{\phi_n}^{\delta} f \right\rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu))} \\ &\leq \lim_{n \to \infty} \|g\|_{L^{q'}(\mathbb{R}, L^{q'}(X, \mu))} \left\| \mathcal{T}_{\phi_n}^{\delta} f \right\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}, L^q(X, \mu))} \\ &\leq \lim_{n \to \infty} N_q(\phi_n) \left\|g\right\|_{L^{q'}(\mathbb{R}, L^{q'}(X, \mu))} \left\|f\right\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}, L^q(X, \mu))} \\ &\leq \|T_0\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^q)} \left\|g\right\|_{L^{q'}(\mathbb{R}, L^{q'}(X, \mu))} \left\|f\right\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}, L^q(X, \mu))}. \end{split}$$

Here the first step follows from Lemma 11.9, the second step is Hölder's inequality, the third step follows from Lemma 11.7, and the last step follows from (11.33) in Lemma 11.8. The estimate extends to linear combinations of functions g as in (11.35). These form a dense subspace of  $L^{q'}(\mathbb{R}, L^{q'}(X, \mu))$ , so this inequality continues to hold for all  $g \in L^{q'}(\mathbb{R}, L^{q'}(X, \mu))$ . Divide by  $\|g\|_{L^{q'}(\mathbb{R}, L^{q'}(X, \mu))}$  and take the supremum over all nonzero g to obtain

$$\left\| U_0^{\delta} f \right\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}, L^q(X, \mu))} \le \| T_0 \|_{\mathcal{L}(L^q)} \| f \|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}, L^q(X, \mu))}.$$

for f as in (11.35) and their linear combinations. Take the limit  $\delta \to 0$ . Then

$$\|U_0 f\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}, L^q(X, \mu))} \le \|T_0\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^q)} \|f\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}, L^q(X, \mu))}.$$
(11.39)

for all f as in (11.35), by Lemma 11.5. Now take the limit  $t_0 \to 0$  in (11.35) to obtain that (11.39) continues to hold for all  $f : \mathbb{R} \to L^q(\mathbb{R}, L^q(X, \mu))$  of the form  $f(t) = f_0(t)u_0$ , where  $f_0 \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R})$  is a Schwartz test function and  $u_0 \in L^q(X, \mu) \cap \bigcap_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \operatorname{dom}(A^k)$ , as well as their linear combinations. These form a dense linear subspace of  $L^q(\mathbb{R}, L^q(X, \mu))$ , so (11.39) continues to hold for all  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu)) \cap L^q(\mathbb{R}, L^q(X, \mu))$ . This proves Step 1. **Step 2.** There exists a constant  $C_q > 0$  such that the inequality (11.38) holds for all  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$  and all  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu)) \cap L^q(\mathbb{R}, L^q(X, \mu))$ .

For all  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$  we have

$$\begin{aligned}
\rho(\mathbf{i}\tau,\xi) &= |\xi| e^{\mathbf{i}((1-\mathbf{i}\tau)\theta_0 + \mathbf{i}\tau\theta_1)\operatorname{sign}(\xi)} \\
&= |\xi| e^{\mathbf{i}\theta_0 \operatorname{sign}(\xi)} e^{-\tau(\theta_1 - \theta_0)\operatorname{sign}(\xi)} \\
&= \rho(0, e^{-\tau(\theta_1 - \theta_0)\operatorname{sign}(\xi)}\xi) \\
&= \begin{cases} \rho(0, e^{-\tau(\theta_1 - \theta_0)}\xi), & \text{if } \xi \ge 0 \\ \rho(0, e^{\tau(\theta_1 - \theta_0)}\xi), & \text{if } \xi < 0 \end{cases}
\end{aligned}$$

(see equation (11.11)). Thus it follows from the definition of the operator  $U_{i\tau}$  in equation (11.12) that

$$\widehat{U_{i\tau}f}(\xi) = \widehat{K}(e^{-\tau(\theta_1 - \theta_0)}\xi)\widehat{f_+}(\xi) + \widehat{K}(e^{\tau(\theta_1 - \theta_0)}\xi)\widehat{f_-}(\xi)$$
(11.40)

where  $\widehat{K}(\xi) = \rho(0,\xi)(\rho(0,\xi) - A)^{-1}$  as in the proof of Lemma 11.5, and

$$\widehat{f}_{+}(\xi) := \begin{cases} \widehat{f}(\xi), & \text{for } \xi \ge 0, \\ 0, & \text{for } \xi < 0, \end{cases} \qquad \widehat{f}_{-}(\xi) := \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } \xi \ge 0, \\ \widehat{f}(\xi), & \text{for } \xi < 0. \end{cases}$$

For  $\lambda > 0$  consider the scaled operator  $U_{0,\lambda} : L^q(\mathbb{R}, L^q(X, \mu))$  defined by

$$U_{0,\lambda}f := (U_0f_\lambda)_{\lambda^{-1}}, \qquad f_\lambda(t) := \lambda f(\lambda t).$$

Then  $\widehat{f}_{\lambda}(\lambda\xi) = \widehat{f}(\xi)$ , hence

$$\widehat{U_{0,\lambda}f}(\xi) = \widehat{K}(\lambda\xi)\widehat{f}(\xi),$$

and  $U_{0,\lambda}$  has the same operator norm as  $U_0$  in  $\mathcal{L}(L^q(\mathbb{R}, L^q(X, \mu)))$ . Now define the linear operators  $\Pi_{\pm} : L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu)) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu))$  by

$$\widehat{\Pi_{\pm}f} := \widehat{f}_{\pm}.$$

These extend to bounded linear operators from  $L^q(\mathbb{R}, L^q(X, \mu))$  to itself, still denoted by  $\Pi_{\pm}$ , by Corollary 6.3 with  $m := \chi_{[0,\infty)}$ . The formula (11.40) shows that

$$U_{\mathbf{i}\tau} = U_{0,e^{-\tau(\theta_1 - \theta_0)}} \Pi_+ + U_{0,e^{\tau(\theta_1 - \theta_0)}} \Pi_-$$

for all  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ . Hence

$$\|U_{\mathbf{i}\tau}\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^q(\mathbb{R},L^q(X,\mu)))} \leq \left(\|\Pi_+\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^q(\mathbb{R},L^q(X,\mu)))} + \|\Pi_-\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^q(\mathbb{R},L^q(X,\mu)))}\right) \|T_0\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^q)}$$
  
by Step 1. This proves Step 2 and Lemma 11.10.

Proof of Theorem 11.2. Fix a constant 1 , and choose constants

$$0 < \theta_0 < \frac{\pi}{2} < \theta_1 < \pi, \qquad 0 < \lambda < 1, \qquad 1 < q < \infty$$

such that

$$(1-\lambda)\theta_0 + \lambda\theta_1 = \frac{\pi}{2}, \qquad \frac{1}{p} = \frac{1-\lambda}{q} + \frac{\lambda}{2}.$$
 (11.41)

For  $z \in \mathbb{S} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid 0 \le \operatorname{Re}(z) \le 1\}$  let

$$U_z: L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu)) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}, L^2(X, \mu))$$

be the operator introduced in equation (11.12) in Definition 11.3. By (11.13),

$$\|U_{1+\mathbf{i}\tau}\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2(\mathbb{R},L^2(X,\mu))} \le \frac{1}{\sin(\theta_1)}$$

for all  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$  and, by Lemma 11.10, there exists a constant  $C_q > 0$  such that

$$\|U_{\mathbf{i}\tau}\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^q(\mathbb{R},L^q(X,\mu))} \le C_q$$

for all  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ . Since the operator family  $\{U_z\}_{z\in\mathbb{S}}$  is holomorphic, it satisfies the hypotheses of the Stein Interpolation Theorem 3.3 with  $(Y, \mathcal{B}, \nu) = (X, \mathcal{A}, \mu)$  and  $p_0 = q_0 = q$  and  $p_1 = q_1 = 2$ . Since  $1/p = (1 - \lambda)/q + \lambda/2$  by (11.41), it follows from Theorem 3.3 that

$$\|U_{\lambda}f\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R},L^{p}(X,\mu))} \leq c_{p} \,\|f\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R},L^{p}(X,\mu))}, \qquad c_{p} := \frac{C_{q}^{1-\lambda}}{\sin(\theta_{1})^{\lambda}},$$

for every measurable step function  $f : \mathbb{R} \to L^2(X,\mu) \cap L^p(X,\mu)$  with compact support, and hence also for every continuously differentiable function  $f : \mathbb{R} \to L^p(X,\mu)$  with compact support. Since  $(1-\lambda)\theta_0 + \lambda\theta_1 = \pi/2$ , by (11.41), it follows from Lemma 11.4 that

$$(U_{\lambda}f)(t) = A \int_0^t S(t-s)f(s) \, ds + f(t)$$

and hence

$$\left(\int_0^\infty \left\| A \int_0^t S(t-s)f(s) \, ds \right\|_{L^p(X)}^p \, dt \right)^{1/p} \le C_p \left(\int_0^\infty \|f(t)\|_{L^p(X)}^p \, dt \right)^{1/p}$$

for every continuously differentiable function  $f : \mathbb{R} \to L^p(X, \mu)$  with compact support, where  $C_p := c_p + 1$ . This proves Theorem 11.2.

Proof of Theorem 1.1. By Theorem 11.2 the assertion of Theorem 1.1 holds for p = q. Hence it holds for all p and q by Theorem 9.3.

## 12 Besov spaces

Throughout |h| denotes the Euclidean norm of  $h \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , the closed ball in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of radius r, centered at the origin, is denoted by

$$B_r := \left\{ h \in \mathbb{R}^n \, | \, |h| \le r \right\},\,$$

and  $\mu$  denotes the Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . For  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$  and  $h \in \mathbb{R}^n$  define the functions  $\Delta_h f, \Delta_h^2 f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$  by

$$(\Delta_h f)(x) := f(x+h) - f(x), (\Delta_h^2 f)(x) := f(x+2h) - 2f(x+h) + f(x).$$
(12.1)

For  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$  and r > 0 define

$$\omega_0(r, f)_p := \left(\frac{1}{\mu(B_r)} \int_{B_r} \|\Delta_h f\|_{L^p}^p \, dh\right)^{1/p} \tag{12.2}$$

and

$$\omega_1(r, f)_p := \sup_{|h| \le r} \|\Delta_h f\|_{L^p}, \qquad \omega_2(r, f)_p := \sup_{|h| \le r} \|\Delta_h^2 f\|_{L^p}.$$
(12.3)

**Theorem 12.1.** Fix integers  $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$  and real numbers  $p, q \ge 1, 0 < s < 1$ . Then the following four norms on  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$  are equivalent:

$$\|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,0}} := \left(\int_0^\infty \left(\frac{\omega_0(r,f)_p}{r^s}\right)^q \frac{dr}{r}\right)^{1/q}, \tag{12.4}$$

$$\|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,1}} := \left(\int_0^\infty \left(\frac{\omega_1(r,f)_p}{r^s}\right)^q \frac{dr}{r}\right)^{1/q}, \qquad (12.5)$$

$$\|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,2}} := \left(\int_0^\infty \left(\frac{\omega_2(r,f)_p}{r^s}\right)^q \frac{dr}{r}\right)^{1/q}, \qquad (12.6)$$

$$\|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,3}} := \left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\frac{\omega_2(2^k, f)_p}{2^{ks}}\right)^q\right)^{1/q}.$$
 (12.7)

The equivalence of the norms (12.6) and (12.7) continues to hold for  $1 \leq s < 2$ . All these equivalences extend to the case  $q = \infty$  (where the  $L^q$  norm with respect to the measure dr/r is replaced by the supremum).

Proof. See page 94.

**Definition 12.2.** Let  $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $1 \leq p, q < \infty$  and 0 < s < 2. The completion of  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$  with respect to the norm in (12.6) is called the **homogeneous Besov space** and is denoted by  $b_q^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$ . The completion of  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$  with respect to the norm

$$||f||_{B^{s,p}_{q,2}} := ||f||_{L^p} + ||f||_{b^{s,p}_{q,2}}$$

is called the **Besov space** and is denoted by  $B_q^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$ . These spaces were introduced in 1959 by Besov [3]. The definition extends to  $q = \infty$ , with the  $L^q$ -norm in (12.6) with respect to dr/r replaced by the supremum.

We emphasize that Definition 12.2 allows for  $s \ge 1$ , while Theorem 12.1 is restricted to the case s < 1. The norms (12.4) and (12.5) are infinite for nonconstant functions when  $s \ge 1$  and thus cannot be used directly to define the Besov spaces  $B_q^{s,p}$  for  $s \ge 1$ .

**Lemma 12.3.** Fix an integer  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and a real number  $p \ge 1$ , and define  $c := c(n, p) := 2^{1/p} + 2^{1+(n+1)/p}$ . Then, for all  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$  and all r > 0,

$$\omega_0(r, f)_p \le \omega_1(r, f)_p \le c\omega_0(r, f)_p.$$
 (12.8)

*Proof.* The first inequality in (12.8) follows directly from the definitions. To prove the second inequality, fix an element  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$  and abbreviate  $\phi(r) := \omega_0(f, r)_p$  for r > 0. Since  $\|\Delta_{2h}f\|_{L^p} \leq 2 \|\Delta_h f\|_{L^p}$  for all h, we have

$$\phi(2r)^p = \frac{1}{\mu(B_r)} \int_{B_r} \|\Delta_{2h} f\|_{L^p}^p \, dh \le \frac{1}{\mu(B_r)} \int_{B_{2r}} 2^p \, \|\Delta_h f\|_{L^p}^p \, dh = 2^p \phi(r)^p.$$

Now let r > 0 and suppose, by contradiction, that there is an element  $h_0 \in B_r$ such that  $\|\Delta_{h_0} f\|_{L^p} > c\phi(r)$ . Define  $A_r := \{h \in B_r \mid \|\Delta_h f\|_{L^p} \le 2^{1/p}\phi(r)\}$ . Then  $\|\Delta_h f\|_{L^p}^p > 2\phi(r)^p$  for all  $h \in B_r \setminus A_r$  and so

$$\frac{\mu(B_r \setminus A_r)}{\mu(B_r)} 2\phi(r)^p < \frac{1}{\mu(B_r)} \int_{B_r \setminus A_r} \|\Delta_h f\|_{L^p}^p dh$$
$$\leq \frac{1}{\mu(B_r)} \int_{B_r} \|\Delta_h f\|_{L^p}^p dh = \phi(r)^p.$$

Since  $\phi(r) \neq 0$ , it follows that  $\mu(B_r \setminus A_r) < \mu(B_r)/2$  and so  $\mu(A_r) > \mu(B_r)/2$ . Moreover, for all  $h \in A_r$ ,

$$\|\Delta_{h_0-h}f\|_{L^p} \ge \|\Delta_{h_0}f\|_{L^p} - \|\Delta_h f\|_{L^p} > (c-2^{1/p})\phi(r) = 2^{1+(n+1)/p}\phi(r).$$

Since  $h_0 - A_r \subset B_{2r}$ , it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} \phi(2r)^p &\geq \frac{1}{\mu(B_{2r})} \int_{h_0 - A_r} \|\Delta_h f\|_{L^p}^p \, dh \\ &> \frac{\mu(A_r)}{\mu(B_{2r})} 2^{p+n+1} \phi(r)^p > \frac{\mu(B_r)}{\mu(B_{2r})} 2^{p+n} \phi(r)^p = 2^p \phi(r)^p. \end{aligned}$$

contradicting to the inequality  $\phi(2r) \leq 2\phi(r)$ . This proves Lemma 12.3.  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 12.4 (Marchaud inequality).** Fix two integers  $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$  and a real number  $p \geq 1$ . Then

$$\frac{\omega_1(r,f)_p}{r} \le 2 \int_r^\infty \frac{\omega_2(\rho,f)_p}{\rho^2} \, d\rho \tag{12.9}$$

for all  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$  and all r > 0.

*Proof.* Since  $\Delta_h^2 f = \Delta_{2h} f - 2\Delta_h f$ , we have

$$\left\|\Delta_{h}f - 2^{-1}\Delta_{2h}f\right\|_{L^{p}} = 2^{-1}\left\|\Delta_{h}^{2}f\right\|_{L^{p}}$$

for all  $h \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Replace h by  $2^k h$  to obtain

$$\left\|2^{-k}\Delta_{2^{k}h}f - 2^{-k-1}\Delta_{2^{k+1}h}f\right\|_{L^{p}} = 2^{-k-1}\left\|\Delta_{2^{k}h}^{2}f\right\|_{L^{p}}$$

for  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $h \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Take the sum over  $k = 0, 1, \ldots, m - 1$  to obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\| \Delta_{h} f - 2^{-m} \Delta_{2^{m}h} f \right\|_{L^{p}} &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} 2^{-k-1} \left\| \Delta_{2^{k}h}^{2} f \right\|_{L^{p}} \\ &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} 2^{-k-1} \omega_{2} (2^{k}r, f)_{p}) \\ &= 2r \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \frac{\omega_{2} (2^{k}r, f)_{p}}{(2^{k+1}r)^{2}} 2^{k}r \\ &\leq 2r \int_{r}^{2^{m}r} \frac{\omega_{2}(\rho, f)_{p}}{\rho^{2}} d\rho \end{split}$$

for every  $h \in \mathbb{R}^n$  with  $|h| \leq r$  and every  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . This implies

$$\omega_1(r,f)_p \le 2r \int_r^{2^m r} \frac{\omega_2(\rho,f)_p}{\rho^2} \, d\rho + 2^{-m} \omega_1(2^m r,f)_p.$$

Take the limit  $m \to \infty$  and use the inequality  $\omega_1(2^m r, f)_p \leq 2 \|f\|_{L^p}$  to obtain the estimate (12.9). This proves Lemma 12.4.

Proof of Theorem 12.1. By definition and Lemma 12.3, we have

$$\frac{1}{\mu(B_r)} \int_{B_r} \|\Delta_h f\|_{L^p}^p \, dh \le \omega_1(r, f)_p^p \le \frac{c^p}{\mu(B_r)} \int_{B_r} \|\Delta_h f\|_{L^p}^p \, dh$$

with  $c := 2^{1/p} + 2^{1+(n+1)/p}$ . Hence

$$\|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,0}} \le \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,1}} \le \left(2^{1/p} + 2^{1+(n+1)/p}\right) \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,0}}.$$

This shows that the norms (12.4) and (12.5) are equivalent. Second, it follows directly from equation (12.1) that  $\|\Delta_h^2 f\|_{L^p} \leq 2 \|\Delta_h f\|_{L^p}$  and hence

$$\|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,2}} \le 2 \, \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,1}}$$

Third, the Hardy inequality asserts that every Lebesgue measurable function  $\phi: (0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$  satisfies the inequality

$$\left(\int_{0}^{\infty} r^{a-1} \left(\int_{r}^{\infty} \phi(\rho) \, d\rho\right)^{q} \, dr\right)^{1/q} \leq \frac{q}{a} \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} r^{q+a-1} \phi(r)^{q} \, dr\right)^{1/q}.$$
 (12.10)

for any two real numbers  $q \ge 1$  and a > 0 (see for example [33, Exercise 4.52]). Apply this inequality with a := q(1-s) to the function  $\phi(r) := r^{-2}\omega_2(r, f)_p$ and use the Marchaud inequality

$$\omega_1(r,f)_p \le 2r \int_r^\infty \frac{\omega_2(\rho,f)_p}{\rho^2} d\rho$$

in Lemma 12.4 to obtain the estimate

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,1}} &= \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} r^{-sq-1}\omega_{1}(r,f)_{p}^{q} dr\right)^{1/q} \\ &\leq 2\left(\int_{0}^{\infty} r^{q(1-s)-1} \left(\int_{r}^{\infty} \frac{\omega_{2}(\rho,f)_{p}}{\rho^{2}} d\rho\right)^{q} dr\right)^{1/q} \\ &\leq \frac{2}{1-s} \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} r^{q+q(1-s)-1} \left(\frac{\omega_{2}(r,f)_{p}}{r^{2}}\right)^{q} dr\right)^{1/q} \\ &= \frac{2}{1-s} \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} r^{-qs-1}\omega_{2}(r,f)_{p}^{q} dr\right)^{1/q} \\ &= \frac{2}{1-s} \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,2}}. \end{split}$$

This shows that the norms (12.5) and (12.6) are equivalent.

Now assume 0 < s < 2 and observe that

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{\omega_{2}(r,f)_{p}}{r^{s}}\right)^{q} \frac{dr}{r} &= \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{2^{k}}^{2^{k+1}} \left(\frac{\omega_{2}(r,f)_{p}}{r^{s}}\right)^{q} \frac{dr}{r} \\ &\leq \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{k} \sup_{2^{k} \leq r \leq 2^{k+1}} \left(\frac{\omega_{2}(r,f)_{p}}{r^{s}}\right)^{q} \frac{1}{r} \\ &\leq \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{k} \left(\frac{\omega_{2}(2^{k+1},f)_{p}}{2^{ks}}\right)^{q} \frac{1}{2^{k}} \\ &= 2^{qs} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(2^{-ks} \omega_{2}(2^{k},f)_{p}\right)^{q} , \\ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(2^{-ks} \omega_{2}(2^{k},f)_{p}\right)^{q} &= 2^{1+qs} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{k} \left(\frac{\omega_{2}(2^{k},f)_{p}}{2^{(k+1)s}}\right)^{q} \frac{1}{2^{k+1}} \\ &\leq 2^{1+qs} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{k} \inf_{2^{k} \leq r \leq 2^{k+1}} \left(\frac{\omega_{2}(r,f)_{p}}{r^{s}}\right)^{q} \frac{1}{r} \\ &\leq 2^{1+qs} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{2^{k}}^{2^{k+1}} \left(\frac{\omega_{2}(r,f)_{p}}{r^{s}}\right)^{q} \frac{dr}{r} \\ &= 2^{1+qs} \int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{\omega_{2}(r,f)_{p}}{r^{s}}\right)^{q} \frac{dr}{r}. \end{split}$$

Hence  $2^{-s} \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,2}} \leq \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,3}} \leq 2^{s+1/q} \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,2}}$ , so the norms (12.6) and (12.7) are equivalent. This proves Theorem 12.1.

Corollary 12.5. (i) If  $1 \le q_1 \le q_2 \le \infty$  then  $B_{q_1}^{s,p} \subset B_{q_2}^{s,p}$  for all p and s. (ii) If  $0 < s_1 < s_2 < 2$  then  $B_{q_2}^{s_2,p} \subset B_{q_1}^{s_1,p}$  for all  $p, q_1, q_2$ .

*Proof.*  $B^{s,p}_q$  is the completion of  $C^{\infty}_0(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$  with respect to the norm

$$\|f\|_{B_{q}^{s,p}} := \|f\|_{L^{p}} + \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left(2^{ks}\omega_{2}(2^{-k},f)_{p}\right)^{q}\right)^{1/q},$$

which is nondecreasing in s and nonincreasing in q. This implies (i) and  $B_q^{s_2,p} \subset B_q^{s_1,p}$  for  $s_1 < s_2$ . Moreover, for  $0 < s < s + \varepsilon < 2$ , we have  $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} 2^{ks} \omega_2(2^{-k}, f)_p \leq c_{\varepsilon} \sup_{k \in \mathbb{N}_0} 2^{k(s+\varepsilon} \omega_2(2^{-k}, f)_p$ , where  $c_{\varepsilon} := 1/(1-2^{-\varepsilon})$ . If  $\varepsilon := s_2 - s_1$ , this yields  $\|f\|_{B_{q_1}^{s_1,p}} \leq \|f\|_{B_1^{s_1,p}} \leq c_{\varepsilon} \|f\|_{B_{\infty}^{s_2,p}} \leq c_{\varepsilon} \|f\|_{B_{q_2}^{s_2,p}}$ . This proves Corollary 12.5.

**Definition 12.6.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and fix real numbers  $p \ge 1$  and 0 < s < 1. The completion of  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  with respect to the norm

$$||f||_{w^{s,p}} := \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|^p}{|x - y|^{n + sp}} \, dy \, dx \right)^{1/p} \tag{12.11}$$

is called the **homogeneous Sobolev-Slobodeckij space** and is denoted by  $w^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . The completion of  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  with respect to the norm

$$||f||_{W^{s,p}} := ||f||_{L^p} + ||f||_{w^{s,p}}$$

is called the **Sobolev-Slobodeckij space** and is denoted by  $W^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . These are refinements of the Sobolev spaces  $w^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and  $W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  in Definition 12.8 below. They were introduced in 1958 by Slobodeckij [34].

**Lemma 12.7.** Fix an integer  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and real numbers  $p \ge 1$  and 0 < s < 1. Then, for every  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ ,

$$\|f\|_{b_{p,0}^{s,p}} = \left(\frac{1}{(n+sp)\mu(B_1)}\right)^{1/p} \|f\|_{w^{s,p}}.$$

Hence  $b_p^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) = w^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and  $B_p^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) = W^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}).$ 

*Proof.* For  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and r > 0 define  $S_r(x) := \{y \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid |y - x| = r\}$ . Then

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{b_{p,0}^{s,p}}^{p} &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^{sp+1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{1}{\mu(B_{r})} \int_{B_{r}} |f(x) - f(x+h)|^{p} dh \, dx \, dr \\ &= \frac{1}{\mu(B_{1})} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r^{n+sp+1}} \int_{B_{r}(x)} |f(x) - f(y)|^{p} \, dy \, dr \, dx \\ &= \frac{1}{\mu(B_{1})} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{r} \frac{1}{r^{n+sp+1}} \int_{S_{\rho}(x)} |f(x) - f(y)|^{p} \, dS(y) \, d\rho \, dr \, dx \\ &= \frac{1}{\mu(B_{1})} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{\rho}^{\infty} \frac{dr}{r^{n+sp+1}} \int_{S_{\rho}(x)} |f(x) - f(y)|^{p} \, dS(y) \, d\rho \, dx \\ &= \frac{1}{(n+sp)\mu(B_{1})} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\rho^{n+sp}} \int_{S_{\rho}(x)} |f(x) - f(y)|^{p} \, dS(y) \, d\rho \, dx \\ &= \frac{1}{(n+sp)\mu(B_{1})} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|^{p}}{|x-y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \, dx \\ &= \frac{1}{(n+sp)\mu(B_{1})} \|f\|_{w^{s,p}}^{p} \, . \end{split}$$

This proves Lemma 12.7.

**Definition 12.8.** Fix an integer  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and a real number  $p \geq 1$ . The completion of  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  with respect to the norm

$$\|\nabla f\|_{L^{p}} = \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\nabla f(x)|^{p} \, dx\right)^{1/p} \tag{12.12}$$

is called the **homogeneous Sobolev space** and is denoted by  $w^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . The completion of  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  with respect to the norm

$$\|f\|_{W^{1,p}} := \|f\|_{L^p} + \|\nabla f\|_{L^p}$$

is called the **Sobolev space** and is denoted by  $W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ .

**Lemma 12.9.** Fix an integer  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and a real number  $p \geq 1$ . Then every function  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  satisfies the inequalities

$$\sup_{r>0} \frac{\omega_1(r, f)_p}{r} \le \|\nabla f\|_{L^p} \le n \liminf_{r \to 0} \frac{\omega_1(r, f)_p}{r}$$
(12.13)

and

$$\frac{1}{2} \sup_{r>0} \frac{\omega_2(r, f)_p}{r} \le \|\nabla f\|_{L^p} \le 2n \int_0^\infty \frac{\omega_2(r, f)_p}{r^2} \, dr. \tag{12.14}$$

Hence

$$b_1^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \subset w^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \subset b_{\infty}^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}), B_1^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \subset W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \subset B_{\infty}^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}).$$
(12.15)

Proof. The inequalities in (12.14) follow from (12.13) by Marchaud's inequality (12.9) in Lemma 12.4, and because  $\omega_2(r, f)_p \leq 2\omega_1(r, f)_p$ . To prove (12.13), abbreviate  $\langle \nabla f(x), h \rangle := \sum_{i=1}^n \partial_i f(x) h_i$  for  $x, h \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Then, by the fundamental theorem of calculus,  $(\Delta_h f)(x) = \int_0^1 \langle \nabla f(x+th), h \rangle dt$ and hence

$$|(\Delta_h f)(x)| \le |h| \int_0^1 |\nabla f(x+th)| dt.$$
 (12.16)

By Minkowsky's inequality (e.g. [33, Theorem 7.19]), this implies

$$\begin{aligned} \|\Delta_h f\|_{L^p} &\leq |h| \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left( \int_0^1 |\nabla f(x+th)| \, dt \right)^p \, dx \right)^{1/p} \\ &\leq |h| \int_0^1 \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla f(x+th)|^p \, dx \right)^{1/p} \, dt \\ &= |h| \left\| \nabla f \right\|_{L^p}. \end{aligned}$$
(12.17)

Take the supremum over all  $h \in B_r$  to obtain  $\omega_1(r, f)_p \leq r \|\nabla f\|_{L^p}$  for all r > 0. This proves the first inequality in (12.13).

Next we observe that

$$f(x+h) - f(x) - \langle \nabla f(x), h \rangle = \int_0^1 \langle \nabla f(x+th) - \nabla f(x), h \rangle \, dt$$

and hence

$$|(\Delta_h f)(x) - \langle \nabla f(x), h \rangle| \le |h| \int_0^1 |\nabla f(x+th) - \nabla f(x)| dt$$

for all  $x, h \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Fix  $h \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , integrate the *p*th power of this inequality, and use Minkowsky's inequality, to obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|\Delta_h f - \langle \nabla f, h \rangle\|_{L^p} &\leq \|h\| \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left( \int_0^1 |\nabla f(x+th) - \nabla f(x)| \, dt \right)^p \, dx \right)^{1/p} \\ &\leq \|h\| \int_0^1 \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla f(x+th) - \nabla f(x)|^p \, dx \right)^{1/p} \, dt \\ &= \|h\| \int_0^1 \|\Delta_{th} \nabla f\|_{L^p} \, dt. \end{aligned}$$

For r > 0 and  $h \in \mathbb{R}^n$  with  $|h| \leq r$  this implies

$$\|\langle \nabla f, h \rangle\|_{L^{p}} \le \|\Delta_{h}f\|_{L^{p}} + |h| \int_{0}^{1} \|\Delta_{th}\nabla f\|_{L^{p}} dt \le \omega_{1}(r, f)_{p} + r\omega_{1}(r, \nabla f)_{p}.$$

Take  $h := re_i$  to obtain

$$\|\partial_i f\|_{L^p} \le \frac{\omega_1(r,f)_p}{r} + \omega_1(r,\nabla f)_p$$

and hence

$$\|\partial_i f\|_{L^p} \le \inf_{0 < \rho \le r} \left( \frac{\omega_1(\rho, f)_p}{\rho} + \omega_1(\rho, \nabla f)_p \right)$$

for all r > 0. Take the limit  $r \to 0$  and use the fact that  $\lim_{r\to 0} \omega_1(r, \nabla f)_p = 0$  to obtain

$$\|\partial_i f\|_{L^p} \le \liminf_{r \to 0} \frac{\omega_1(r, f)_p}{r} \qquad \text{for } i = 1, \dots, n$$

Hence

$$\|\nabla f\|_{L^p} \le \sum_{i=1}^n \|\partial_i f\|_{L^p} \le n \liminf_{r \to 0} \frac{\omega_1(r, f)_p}{r}.$$

This proves the second inequality in (12.13) and Lemma 12.9.

**Remark 12.10.** The second inequality in (12.13) implies that the right hand side of (12.5) is infinite for  $s \ge 1$  unless f is constant. In contrast, equation (12.6) still defines a meaningful norm for  $1 \le s < 2$ .

## 13 Besov, Littlewood–Paley, Peetre, Triebel

This section is devoted to the Littlewood–Paley characterization of the Besov spaces (Theorem 13.5). The starting point is the choice of a suitable smooth function  $\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  in the Schwartz space. The crucial point is that the characterization of the Besov space in Theorem 13.5 is independent of the choice of the function  $\phi$ , as long as it satisfies the conditions (13.1) and (13.2) below. The connection between Besov spaces and Littlewood–Paley theory was first noted by Peetre [31].

**Definition 13.1.** Fix an integer  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and a smooth function  $\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ in the Schwartz space  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Assume

$$\phi(x) = \phi(-x) \qquad \text{for all } x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \tag{13.1}$$

so that the Fourier transform

$$\widehat{\phi}(\xi) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{-\mathbf{i} \langle x, \xi \rangle} \phi(x) \, dx$$

is real valued and satisfies

$$\widehat{\phi}(\xi) = \widehat{\phi}(-\xi) \quad \text{for all } \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

The function  $\phi$  is called a **Triebel function** if there is a  $0 < \delta \leq 1/2$  such that

$$\widehat{\phi}(\xi) > 0, \quad for \ 1/\sqrt{2} \le |\xi| \le \sqrt{2},$$
  

$$\widehat{\phi}(\xi) \ge 0, \quad for \ 1/2 \le |\xi| \le 2,$$
  

$$\widehat{\phi}(\xi) = 0, \quad for \ |\xi| \notin [\delta, 1/\delta].$$
(13.2)

It follows from (13.1) and (13.2) that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi(x) \, dx = 0, \qquad \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} x_i \phi(x) \, dx = 0 \qquad \text{for } i = 1, \dots, n.$$
(13.3)

In particular, every Littlewood-Paley function is a Triebel function (see Definition 8.1).

**Lemma 13.2. (i)** If  $\phi, \psi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  are Triebel functions then so is  $\phi * \psi$ . (ii) For every Triebel function  $\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  there exists a Triebel function  $\psi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  such that  $\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\psi}) \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid 1/2 \le |\xi| \le 2\}$  and  $\phi * \psi$  is a Littlewood-Paley function. *Proof.* Part (i) follows directly from the definition and the fact that the Fourier transform of the convolution  $\phi * \psi$  is the product  $\widehat{\phi}\widehat{\psi}$  of the Fourier transforms. To prove (ii) fix a Triebel function  $\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ . Then there exists a constant  $\sqrt{2} < \alpha < 2$  such that  $\widehat{\phi}(\xi) > 0$  for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $1/\alpha \leq |\xi| \leq \alpha$ . Choose a smooth function  $\beta : [1, 2] \to [0, 1]$  such that

$$\begin{aligned} \beta(r) &= 1, & \text{for } 1 \leq r \leq 2/\alpha, \\ \beta(r) > 0, & \text{for } 2/\alpha \leq r \leq \sqrt{2}, \\ \beta(r) < 1, & \text{for } \sqrt{2} \leq r \leq \alpha, \\ \beta(r) &= 0, & \text{for } \alpha \leq r \leq 2, \end{aligned}$$

and extend it to  $[0,\infty)$  by setting  $\beta(r) := 0$  for  $r \in [0,1/2] \cup [2,\infty)$  and

$$\beta(r) := 1 - \beta(2r) \quad \text{for } 1/2 \le r \le 1.$$

Then  $\operatorname{supp}(\beta) \subset [1/\alpha, \alpha]$  and  $\beta(r) > 0$  for  $1/\sqrt{2} \leq r \leq \sqrt{2}$ .

Now let  $\psi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  be the unique function in the Schwartz space  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  whose Fourier transform is given by

$$\widehat{\psi}(\xi) = \begin{cases} \beta(|\xi|)/\widehat{\phi}(\xi), & \text{if } 1/\alpha \le |\xi| \le \alpha, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Then  $\widehat{\psi}$  is a real valued function and  $\widehat{\psi}(\xi) = \widehat{\psi}(-\xi) \ge 0$  for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Hence  $\psi$  is real valued and

$$\psi(x) = \psi(-x)$$
 for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ .

Second,

$$\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\psi}) \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \,|\, 1/\alpha \le |\xi| \le \alpha\} \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \,|\, 1/2 \le |\xi| \le 2\}$$

and

$$\widehat{\psi}(\xi) = \beta(|\xi|) / \widehat{\phi}(\xi) > 0$$
 for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $1/\sqrt{2} \le |\xi| \le \sqrt{2}$ .

Hence  $\psi$  is a Triebel function. Third,

$$\widehat{\phi}(\xi/2)\widehat{\psi}(\xi/2) + \widehat{\phi}(\xi)\widehat{\psi}(\xi) = \beta(|\xi|/2) + \beta(|\xi|) = 1$$

for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$  with  $1 \le |\xi| \le 2$  and so  $\phi * \psi$  is a Littlewood–Paley function. This proves Lemma 13.2.

## Definition 13.3 (Peetre Maximal Functions).

Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and let  $\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  be a Triebel function. For  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  and t > 0define the functions  $\phi_k, \varphi_t : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$\phi_k(x) := 2^{kn} \phi(2^k x), \qquad \varphi_t(x) = t^{-n} \phi(t^{-1} x) \qquad \text{for } x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
(13.4)

Thus  $\widehat{\phi}_k(\xi) = \widehat{\phi}(2^{-k}\xi)$  and  $\widehat{\varphi}_t(\xi) = \widehat{\phi}(t\xi)$  for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and

$$\sup(\phi_k) \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid \delta 2^k \le |\xi| \le 2^k / \delta\},\\ \operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\varphi}_t) \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid \delta / t \le |\xi| \le 1 / \delta t\},$$

where  $\delta > 0$  is as in (13.2). Now fix a real number  $\lambda > 0$ . For  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ denote by  $\phi_k * f$  and  $\varphi_t * f$  the convolution and define the **Peetre maximal** functions  $\phi_{k,\lambda}^* f, \varphi_{t,\lambda}^* f : \mathbb{R}^n \to [0,\infty)$  by

$$(\phi_{k,\lambda}^* f)(x) := \sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|(\phi_k * f)(x+z)|}{(1+2^k |z|)^{\lambda}},$$
  

$$(\varphi_{t,\lambda}^* f)(x) := \sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|(\varphi_t * f)(x+z)|}{(1+|z|/t)^{\lambda}}.$$
(13.5)

for  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ , and t > 0.

**Lemma 13.4.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\lambda > 0$  and let  $\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  be a Triebel function. Then the following holds.

(i) The Peetre maximal functions satisfy the inequalities

$$\begin{aligned} (\phi_{k,\lambda}^*f)(x+y) &\leq (1+2^k|y|)^{\lambda}(\phi_{k,\lambda}^*f)(x),\\ (\varphi_{t,\lambda}^*f)(x+y) &\leq (1+|y|/t)^{\lambda}(\varphi_{t,\lambda}^*f)(x) \end{aligned}$$
(13.6)

for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ , t > 0,  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , and  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ .

(ii) For every  $\ell \in \mathbb{N}_0$  there exists a constant  $c = c(n, \ell, \lambda, \phi) > 0$  such that

$$\sum_{|\alpha| \le \ell} |\partial^{\alpha}(\phi_k * f)(x)| \le c2^{k\ell} \sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(x+z)|}{(1+2^k|z|)^{\lambda}},$$

$$\sum_{|\alpha| \le \ell} |\partial^{\alpha}(\varphi_t * f)(x)| \le ct^{-\ell} \sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(x+z)|}{(1+|z|/t)^{\lambda}}$$
(13.7)

for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ , t > 0,  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , and  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . Here the sum runs over all multi-indices  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n) \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$  such that  $|\alpha| = \alpha_1 + \cdots + \alpha_n \leq \ell$ . *Proof.* For all t > 0 and all  $x, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , we have

$$\frac{1}{1+|z-x-y|/t} \le \frac{1+|y|/t}{1+|z-x|/t}.$$

Hence

$$\begin{aligned} (\varphi_{t,\lambda}^*f)(x+y) &= \sup_{z\in\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|(\varphi_t*f)(z)|}{(1+|z-x-y|/t)^{\lambda}} \\ &\leq (1+|y|/t)^{\lambda} \sup_{z\in\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|(\varphi_t*f)(z)|}{(1+|z-x|/t)^{\lambda}} \\ &= (1+|y|/t)^{\lambda} (\varphi_{t,\lambda}^*f)(x). \end{aligned}$$

This proves the second inequality in (13.6). The first inequality follows by taking  $t := 2^{-k}$ . This proves part (i).

To prove part (ii), define the constant  $c_{\alpha} := c_{\alpha}(n, \lambda, \phi)$  by

$$c_{\alpha} := \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (1+|y|)^{\lambda} \left| \partial^{\alpha} \phi(y) \right| \, dy$$

for every multi-index  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ . This number is finite because the function  $\phi$  and all its derivatives belong to the Schwartz space  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Now fix a number t > 0. Since  $\varphi_t(x) = t^{-n}\phi(t^{-1}x)$  for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , we have

$$(\varphi_t * f)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi(t^{-1}x - y)f(ty) \, dy,$$
$$\partial^{\alpha}(\varphi_t * f)(x) = t^{-|\alpha|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (\partial^{\alpha}\phi)(z)f(x - tz) \, dz.$$

Hence

$$\begin{aligned} \partial^{\alpha}(\varphi_{t}*f)(x)| &= t^{-|\alpha|} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (\partial^{\alpha}\phi)(z)f(x-tz) dz \right| \\ &= t^{-|\alpha|} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (1+|z|)^{\lambda} (\partial^{\alpha}\phi)(z) \frac{f(x-tz)}{(1+|z|)^{\lambda}} dz \right| \\ &\leq t^{-|\alpha|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (1+|z|)^{\lambda} \left| (\partial^{\alpha}\phi)(z) \right| \frac{|f(x-tz)|}{(1+|z|)^{\lambda}} dz \\ &\leq c_{\alpha} t^{-|\alpha|} \sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f(x-tz)|}{(1+|z|)^{\lambda}} \\ &\leq c_{\alpha} t^{-|\alpha|} \sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f(x+z)|}{(1+|z|/t)^{\lambda}}. \end{aligned}$$

This proves the second inequality in (13.7) with

$$c = c(n, \ell, \lambda, \phi) := \sum_{|\alpha| \le \ell} c_{\alpha}(n, \lambda, \phi).$$

The first inequality follows by taking  $t = 2^{-k}$ . This proves Lemma 13.4.

The next theorem is the main result of this section. It is stated in this form in Ullrich [40, Theorem 2.9]. The proof given below is based on the proof in [40] of the analogous, but technically more difficult, result about the (in)homogeneous Triebel–Lizorkin spaces, and on the paper by Besov [4] about weighted Besov and Triebel–Lizorkin spaces.

**Theorem 13.5** (Peetre/Triebel). Fix an integer  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and real numbers  $p, q \geq 1, s \geq 0$ , and  $\lambda > n/p$ .

(i) Let  $\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  be a Triebel function, so it satisfies (13.1) and (13.2). For  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  and t > 0 define the Peetre maximal functions  $\phi_{k,\lambda}$  and  $\varphi_{t,\lambda}$  by (13.4). Then the formulas

$$\|f\|_{b_{q,4}^{s,p}} := \|f\|_{b_{q,4;\phi}^{s,p}} := \left(\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(2^{ks} \|\phi_k * f\|_{L^p}\right)^q\right)^{1/q}, \qquad (13.8)$$

$$\|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,5}} := \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,5;\phi,\lambda}} := \left(\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(2^{ks} \left\|\phi^*_{k,\lambda}f\right\|_{L^p}\right)^q\right)^{1/q}, \qquad (13.9)$$

$$\|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,6}} := \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,6;\phi}} := \left(\int_0^\infty \left(\frac{\|\varphi_t * f\|_{L^p}}{t^s}\right)^q \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/q}, \qquad (13.10)$$

$$\|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,7}} := \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,7;\phi,\lambda}} := \left(\int_0^\infty \left(\frac{\|\varphi^*_{t,\lambda}f\|_{L^p}}{t^s}\right)^q \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/q}$$
(13.11)

(for  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ ) define equivalent norms on  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . The equivalence class of these norms is independent of the choice of the Triebel function  $\phi$ .

(ii) Assume p > 1 and 0 < s < 2. Then the norms in part (i) are equivalent to the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{b^{s,p}_{a,2}}$  in (12.6).

*Proof.* The proof has six steps. The first four steps prove part (i) and the last two steps prove part (ii). Throughout  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  is fixed.

**Step 1 (Peetre).** Let  $\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  be a Triebel function and let  $s \ge 0$ ,  $p, q \ge 1$ , and  $\lambda > n/p$ . Then there exists a constant  $c = c(s, p, q, \phi, \lambda) > 0$  such that

$$\|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,4;\phi}} \le \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,5;\phi,\lambda}} \le c \, \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,4;\phi}}$$

for all  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

It follows directly from the definitions that  $|(\phi_k * f)(x)| \leq (\phi_{k,\lambda}^* f)(x)$  for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  all  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and all  $\lambda > 0$ . This proves the first inequality. The second inequality in Step 3 is a theorem of Peetre [30]. The proof below follows the argument in Ullrich [40, Step 1] with the appropriate modifications.

Let  $0 < \delta \leq 1/2$  be as in (13.2) and choose  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $2^{-m} < \delta$ . We prove that, for each  $\lambda > 0$ , there is a  $c = c(n, p, \lambda, \phi) > 0$  such that

$$\left| (\phi_k * f)(x) \right|^p \le c^p \sum_{j=-m}^m \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{2^{kn} \left| (\phi_{j+k} * f)(y) \right|^p}{(1+2^k |x-y|)^{\lambda p}} \, dy \tag{13.12}$$

for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , and  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Choose a Triebel function  $\psi$  such that  $\psi * \phi$  is a Littlewood–Paley function (Lemma 13.2). Then

$$\sum_{j=-m}^{m} \widehat{\psi}_{j}(\xi) \widehat{\phi}_{j}(\xi) = \sum_{j=-m}^{m} \widehat{\psi}(2^{-j}\xi) \widehat{\phi}(2^{-j}\xi) = 1 \quad \text{for } 2^{-m} \le |\xi| \le 2^{m}$$

This implies  $\sum_{j=-m}^{m} \widehat{\psi}_j \widehat{\phi}_j \widehat{\phi} = \widehat{\phi}$ , hence  $\sum_{j=-m}^{m} \psi_j * \phi_j * \phi = \phi$ , and hence

$$\sum_{j=-m}^{m} \psi_{j+k} * \phi_{j+k} * \phi_k = \phi_k \quad \text{for all } k \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

Define r := (n+1)(1-1/p). Then, for all  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} |(\phi_k * f)(x)| &\leq \sum_{j=-m}^m |(\psi_{j+k} * \phi_{j+k} * \phi_k * f)(x)| \\ &\leq \sum_{j=-m}^m \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |(\psi_{j+k} * \phi_k)(x-y)| \, |(\phi_{j+k} * f)(y)| \, dy \\ &\leq \sum_{j=-m}^m c_{j,k,n,p,\lambda} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|(\phi_{j+k} * f)(y)|}{(1+2^k |x-y|)^{\lambda+r}} \, dy, \end{aligned}$$

where  $c_{j,k,n,p,\lambda} := \sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^n} (1 + 2^k |z|)^{\lambda + r} |(\psi_{j+k} * \phi_k)(z)|.$ 

We estimate the constant  $c_{j,k,n,p,\lambda}$ . For  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $|j| \leq m$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} (1+|z|)^{\lambda+r} \left| (\psi_{j+k} * \phi_k) (2^{-k}z) \right| \\ &\leq (1+|z|)^{\lambda+r} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left| \psi_{j+k} (2^{-k}z-y) \right| \left| \phi_k(y) \right| dy \\ &= (1+|z|)^{\lambda+r} 2^{kn} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left| \psi(2^j z-y) \right| \left| \phi(2^{-j}y) \right| dy \\ &\leq C_{n,p,\lambda} 2^{kn} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{(1+|z|)^{\lambda+r}}{(1+|2^j z-y|)^{\lambda+r} (1+2^{-j}|y|)^{n+1+\lambda+r}} dy \\ &\leq C_{n,p,\lambda} 2^{kn} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{2^{m(n+1+2\lambda+2r)} (1+|2^j z|)^{\lambda+r}}{(1+|2^j z-y|)^{\lambda+r} (1+|y|)^{n+1+\lambda+r}} dy \\ &\leq C_{n,p,\lambda} 2^{m(n+1+2\lambda+2r)} 2^{kn} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|y|)^{n+1}} dy. \end{aligned}$$

Here  $C_{n,p,\lambda} > 0$  has been chosen such that  $|\phi(y)| \leq \sqrt{C_{n,p,\lambda}}(1+|y|)^{-n-1-\lambda-r}$ and  $|\psi(y)| \leq \sqrt{C_{n,p,\lambda}}(1+|y|)^{-\lambda-r}$  for all  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Now take the supremum over all  $z \in \mathbb{R}^n$  to obtain the inequality

$$c_{j,k,n,p,\lambda} \le C2^{kn}, \qquad C := C_{n,p,\lambda} 2^{m(n+1+2\lambda+2r)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|y|)^{n+1}} \, dy.$$

Thus we have proved the estimate

$$|(\phi_k * f)(x)| \le C \sum_{j=-m}^m \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{2^{kn} |(\phi_{j+k} * f)(y)|}{(1+2^k |x-y|)^{\lambda+r}} \, dy \tag{13.13}$$

for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , and  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . If p = 1 then r = 0 and so (13.13) is equivalent to (13.12). For p > 1 use Hölder's inequality with the exponents p, p' such that 1/p + 1/p' = 1 to obtain rp' = n + 1 and

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{2^{kn} \left| (\phi_{j+k} * f)(y) \right|}{(1+2^k |x-y|)^{\lambda+r}} \, dy \\ &\leq \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{2^{kn}}{(1+|2^k y|)^{rp'}} \, dy \right)^{1/p'} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{2^{kn} \left| (\phi_{j+k} * f)(y) \right|^p}{(1+2^k |x-y|)^{\lambda p}} \, dy \right)^{1/p} \\ &= \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|y|)^{n+1}} \, dy \right)^{1-1/p} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{2^{kn} \left| (\phi_{j+k} * f)(y) \right|^p}{(1+2^k |x-y|)^{\lambda p}} \, dy \right)^{1/p}. \end{split}$$

Hence (13.12) holds with  $c := C(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (1+|y|)^{-n-1} dy)^{1-1/p} (2m+1)^{1-1/p}$ .

Thus we have proved the estimate (13.12). This implies

$$\frac{|(\phi_k * f)(x+z)|^p}{(1+2^k|z|)^{\lambda p}} \le c^p \sum_{j=-m}^m \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{2^{kn} \left|(\phi_{j+k} * f)(y)\right|^p}{(1+2^k|z|)^{\lambda p}(1+2^k|x+z-y|)^{\lambda p}} \, dy$$
$$\le c^p \sum_{j=-m}^m \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{2^{kn} \left|(\phi_{j+k} * f)(y)\right|^p}{(1+2^k|x-y|)^{\lambda p}} \, dy.$$

Take the supremum over all  $z \in \mathbb{R}^n$  to obtain the inequality

$$(\phi_{k,\lambda}^*f)(x)^p \le c^p \sum_{j=-m}^m \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{2^{kn} \left| (\phi_{j+k} * f)(y) \right|^p}{(1+2^k |x-y|)^{\lambda p}} \, dy \tag{13.14}$$

for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ , and  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Assume  $\lambda p > n$ , integrate over  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , and use Fubini's Theorem to obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{2^{kn} \left| (\phi_{j+k} * f)(y) \right|^p}{(1+2^k |x-y|)^{\lambda p}} \, dy \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{\left| 2^{kn} (\phi_{j+k} * f)(y) \right|^p}{(1+2^k |x-y|)^{\lambda p}} \, dx \, dy$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{2^{kn}}{(1+|2^k x|)^{\lambda p}} \, dx \, \|\phi_{j+k} * f\|_{L^p}^p$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|x|)^{\lambda p}} \, dx \, \|\phi_{j+k} * f\|_{L^p}^p.$$

Hence it follows from (13.14) that

$$\left\|\phi_{k,\lambda}^{*}f\right\|_{L^{p}} \le c\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{1}{(1+|x|)^{\lambda p}} \, dx\right)^{1/p} \sum_{j=-m}^{m} \left\|\phi_{j+k} * f\right\|_{L^{p}}, \qquad (13.15)$$

where c is the constant in (13.12). Let  $c' := c(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (1+|x|)^{-\lambda p} dx)^{1/p}$ . Then

$$\begin{aligned} \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,5;\phi,\lambda}} &= \left(\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(2^{ks} \left\|\phi^*_{k,\lambda}f\right\|_{L^p}\right)^q\right)^{1/q} \\ &\leq c' \left(\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(2^{ks} \sum_{j=-m}^m \|\phi_{j+k}*f\|_{L^p}\right)^q\right)^{1/q} \\ &\leq 2^{ms}c' \sum_{j=-m}^m \left(\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(2^{(j+k)s} \left\|\phi_{j+k}*f\right\|_{L^p}\right)^q\right)^{1/q} \\ &= 2^{ms}c'(2m+1) \left\|f\right\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,4;\phi}} \end{aligned}$$

This proves Step 1.

**Step 2 (Peetre).** Let  $\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  be a Triebel function and let  $s \ge 0$ ,  $p,q \ge 1$ , and  $\lambda > n/p$ . Then there exists a constant  $c = c(s, p, q, \phi, \lambda) > 0$  such that

$$\|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,6;\phi}} \le \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,7;\phi,\lambda}} \le c \, \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,6;\phi}}$$

for all  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

This is the continuous time analogue of Step 1 and is proved by the same arguments. First choose  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $2^{-m} \leq \delta$ . Then, for each p > 1 and each  $\lambda > 0$ , there is a constant  $c = c(n, p, \lambda, \phi) > 0$ , such that

$$|(\varphi_t * f)(x)|^p \le c^p \sum_{k=-m}^m \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{t^{-n} \left|(\varphi_{2^k t} * f)(y)\right|^p}{(1+|x-y|/t)^{\lambda p}} \, dy \tag{13.16}$$

for all  $t > 0, x \in \mathbb{R}^n, f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . This is proved by the same argument as (13.12), with  $2^k$  replaced by  $t^{-1}$ . As before, the estimate (13.16) implies

$$(\varphi_{t,\lambda}^* f)(x)^p \le c^p \sum_{j=-m}^m \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{t^{-n} \left| (\varphi_{2^{j}t} * f)(y) \right|^p}{(1+|x-y|/t)^{\lambda p}} \, dy \tag{13.17}$$

and, for  $\lambda p > n$ , Fubini's Theorem gives

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{t^{-n} \left| (\varphi_{2^j t} * f)(y) \right|^p}{(1 + |x - y|/t)^{\lambda p}} \, dy \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{1}{(1 + |x|)^{\lambda p}} \, dx \, \|\varphi_{2^j t} * f\|_{L^p}^p \, .$$

Hence it follows from (13.17) that

$$\left\|\varphi_{t,\lambda}^{*}f\right\|_{L^{p}} \leq c' \sum_{j=-m}^{m} \left\|\varphi_{2^{j}t} * f\right\|_{L^{p}}, \qquad (13.18)$$

where  $c' := c(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (1 + |x|)^{-\lambda p} \, dx)^{1/p}$ , and so

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,7;\phi,\lambda}} &= \left(\int_0^\infty \left(t^{-s} \left\|\varphi^*_{t,\lambda}f\right\|_{L^p}\right)^q \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/q} \\ &\leq c' \left(\int_0^\infty \left(t^{-s} \sum_{j=-m}^m \left\|\varphi_{2^jt} * f\right\|_{L^p}\right)^q \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/q} \\ &= 2^{ms}c'(2m+1) \left\|f\right\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,6;\phi}}. \end{split}$$

This proves Step 2.

**Step 3.** Let  $\phi, \psi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  be Triebel functions and let  $s \ge 0$  and  $p, q \ge 1$ . Then there exists a constant  $c = c(s, p, q, \phi) > 0$  such that

$$\|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,6;\phi}} \le c \, \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,4;\psi}}$$

for all  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

Choose  $\delta>0$  such that

$$\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\phi}) \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \, | \, \delta \le |\xi| \le 1/\delta\}$$

as in (13.2) and choose  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $2^{-m} \leq \delta/2$ . Choose a Triebel function  $\theta$  such that  $\psi * \theta$  is a Littlewood–Paley function (Lemma 13.2). Then

$$\sum_{j=-m}^{m}\widehat{\theta}_{j+k}(\xi)\widehat{\psi}_{j+k}(\xi) = \sum_{j=-m}^{m}\widehat{\theta}(2^{-j-k}\xi)\widehat{\psi}(2^{-j-k}\xi) = 1$$

for  $2^{k-1}\delta \le |\xi| \le 2^{k+1}/\delta$ . Since

$$\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\varphi}_{2^{-k}t}) \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \,|\, 2^{k-1}\delta \le |\xi| \le 2^k/\delta\}$$

for  $1 \leq t \leq 2$  and  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ , this implies

$$\sum_{j=-m}^{m}\widehat{\varphi}_{2^{-k}t}\widehat{\theta}_{j+k}\widehat{\psi}_{j+k}=\widehat{\varphi}_{2^{-k}t}$$

and so

$$\sum_{j=-m}^{m} \varphi_{2^{-k}t} * \theta_{j+k} * \psi_{j+k} = \varphi_{2^{-k}t} \quad \text{for } 1 \le t \le 2 \text{ and } k \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(13.19)

Hence, by Young's inequality,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\varphi_{2^{-k}t} * f\|_{L^{p}} &\leq \sum_{j=-m}^{m} \|\varphi_{2^{-k}t} * \theta_{j+k} * \psi_{j+k} * f\|_{L^{p}} \\ &\leq \|\phi\|_{L^{1}} \|\theta\|_{L^{1}} \sum_{j=-m}^{m} \|\psi_{j+k} * f\|_{L^{p}} \end{aligned}$$

for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $1 \le t < 2$ , and  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

This implies

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,6;\phi}} &= \left(\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{1}^{2} \left(\frac{\|\varphi_{2^{-k}t} * f\|_{L^{p}}}{(2^{-k}t)^{s}}\right)^{q} \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/q} \\ &\leq \left(\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(2^{ks} \sup_{1 \le t \le 2} \|\varphi_{2^{-k}t} * f\|_{L^{p}}\right)^{q}\right)^{1/q} \\ &\leq \|\phi\|_{L^{1}} \|\theta\|_{L^{1}} \left(\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(2^{ks} \sum_{j=-m}^{m} \|\psi_{j+k} * f\|_{L^{p}}\right)^{q}\right)^{1/q} \\ &\leq \|\phi\|_{L^{1}} \|\theta\|_{L^{1}} \sum_{j=-m}^{m} \left(\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(2^{ks} \|\psi_{j+k} * f\|_{L^{p}}\right)^{q}\right)^{1/q} \\ &\leq 2^{ms}(2m+1) \|\phi\|_{L^{1}} \|\theta\|_{L^{1}} \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,4;\psi}}. \end{split}$$

This proves Step 3.

**Step 4.** Let  $\phi, \psi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  be Triebel functions and let  $s \ge 0$  and  $p, q \ge 1$ . Then there exists a constant  $c = c(s, p, q, \phi) > 0$  such that

$$\|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,4;\psi}} \le c \, \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,6;\phi}}$$

for all  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

The proof is an adaptation of the argument in Ullrich [40, Substep 2.1]. Choose  $\delta > 0$  such that  $\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\psi}) \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid \delta \leq |\xi| \leq 1/\delta\}$  as in (13.2) and choose  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $2^{-m} \leq \delta/2$ . Choose a Triebel function  $\theta$  such that  $\theta * \phi$  is a Littlewood–Paley function (Lemma 13.2). Then

$$\sum_{j=-m}^{m} \widehat{\psi}_{j+k}(t\xi) \widehat{\theta}_{j+k}(t\xi) \widehat{\varphi}_{2^{-j-k}t}(\xi) = \sum_{j=-m}^{m} \widehat{\psi}(2^{-j-k}t\xi) \widehat{\theta}(2^{-j-k}t\xi) \widehat{\phi}(2^{-j-k}t\xi) = 1$$

for  $2^{-m} \leq 2^{-k}t|\xi| \leq 2^m$  or, equivalently, for  $2^{k-m}/t \leq |\xi| \leq 2^{k+m}/t$ . Since  $\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\psi}_k) \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid 2^{k-m+1} \leq |\xi| \leq 2^{k+m-1}\}$ , this implies

$$\widehat{\psi}_k(\xi) = \sum_{j=-2}^2 \widehat{\psi}_k(\xi) \widehat{\psi}_{k+j}(t\xi) \widehat{\theta}_{k+j}(t\xi) \widehat{\varphi}_{2^{-j-k}t}(\xi)$$
(13.20)

for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $1 \le t \le 2$ , and  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ .

For t > 0 let us temporarily define the function  $\Psi_t : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$\Psi_t(x) := t^{-n}(\psi + \theta)(t^{-1}x) \quad \text{for } x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

so its Fourier transform is  $\xi \mapsto \widehat{\psi}(t\xi)\widehat{\theta}(t\xi)$  and its  $L^1$  norm agrees with that of  $\psi * \theta$ . Then, by (13.20),

$$\psi_k = \sum_{j=-2}^{2} \psi_k * \Psi_{2^{-j-k}t} * \varphi_{2^{-j-k}t} \quad \text{for } k \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ and } 1 \le t \le 2.$$

By Young's inequality, this implies

$$\begin{aligned} \|\psi_k * f\|_{L^p} &\leq \|\psi * \theta\|_{L^1}^2 \sum_{j=-2}^2 \|\varphi_{2^{-j-k_t}} * f\|_{L^p} \\ &\leq 2^{3s} \|\psi * \theta\|_{L^1}^2 \sum_{j=-2}^2 \frac{\|\varphi_{2^{-j-k_t}} * f\|_{L^p}}{(2^{-j}t)^s} \end{aligned}$$

for  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $1 \leq t \leq 2$ , and  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . Exponentiate by q and integrate the resulting inequality over the interval  $1 \leq t \leq 2$  to obtain

$$\left(2^{ks} \|\psi_k * f\|_{L^p}\right)^q \le 2^{3qs+1} \|\psi * \theta\|_{L^1}^{2q} \int_1^2 \left(\sum_{j=-2}^2 \frac{\|\varphi_{2^{-j-k}t} * f\|_{L^p}}{(2^{-j-k}t)^s}\right)^q \frac{dt}{t}$$

for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  and all  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . With this understood, it follows from the definition of the norms that

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,4;\psi}} &= \left(\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(2^{ks} \|\psi_k * f\|_{L^p}\right)^q\right)^{1/q} \\ &\leq 2^{3s+1/q} \|\psi * \theta\|_{L^1}^2 \left(\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \int_1^2 \left(\sum_{j=-2}^2 \frac{\|\varphi_{2^{-j-k}t} * f\|_{L^p}}{(2^{-j-k}t)^s}\right)^q \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/q} \\ &\leq 2^{3s+1/q} \|\psi * \theta\|_{L^1}^2 \sum_{j=-2}^2 \left(\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \int_1^2 \left(\frac{\|\varphi_{2^{-j-k}t} * f\|_{L^p}}{(2^{-j-k}t)^s}\right)^q \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/q} \\ &= 2^{3s+1/q} \|\psi * \theta\|_{L^1}^2 5 \left(\int_0^{\infty} \left(\frac{\|\varphi_t * f\|_{L^p}}{t^s}\right)^q \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/q} \\ &= 2^{3s+1/q} \|\psi * \theta\|_{L^1}^2 5 \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,6;\phi}}. \end{split}$$

This proves Step 4 and part (i) of Theorem 13.5.

**Step 5.** Let  $\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  be a Triebel function and let 0 < s < 2, p > 1, and  $q \ge 1$ . Then there exists a constant  $c = c(s, p, q, \phi) > 0$  such that

$$\|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,4;\phi}} \le c \, \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,2}}$$

for all  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

The proof follows the argument in [4, Section 5]. Since  $\phi$  is a Triebel function, its Fourier transform satisfies (13.2) for some constant  $0 < \delta \leq 1/2$ . Choose a function  $\theta : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  in the Schwartz space  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that  $\theta(x) = \theta(-x)$ for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and

$$\widehat{\theta}(\xi) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } |\xi| \le \delta/2, \\ 0, & \text{if } |\xi| \ge \delta. \end{cases}$$

For  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  define  $\theta_k(x) := 2^{kn}\theta(2^kx)$  so that  $\widehat{\theta}_k(\xi) = \theta(2^{-k}\xi)$  and define the function  $f_k : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$f_k(x) := f(x) - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \theta(y) \Delta_{2^{-k}y}^2 f(x) \, dy$$
  
=  $f(x) - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \theta(y) (f(x) - 2f(x - 2^{-k}y) + f(x - 2^{1-k}y)) \, dy$  (13.21)  
=  $2(\theta_k * f)(x) - (\theta_{k-1} * f)(x).$ 

Here the second equation uses the fact that  $\theta(y) = \theta(-y)$  for all  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and the last equation uses the identity  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \theta = \hat{\theta}(0) = 1$ . Since p > 1, it follows from equation (13.21) and Lemma 8.4 that

$$f = \lim_{N \to \infty} (f_{N+1} - f_{-N}) = \lim_{N \to \infty} \sum_{j=-N}^{N} (f_{j+1} - f_j) = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} (f_{j+1} - f_j),$$

where the convergence is in  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Thus

$$\phi_k * f = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_k * (f_{j+1} - f_j) = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_k * (2\theta_{j+1} - 3\theta_j + \theta_{j-1}) * f.$$

Since  $\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\theta}_{j+1}) \subset B_{2^{j+1}\delta}$  and  $\widehat{\phi}_k$  vanishes on  $B_{2^k\delta}$ , we have  $\widehat{\phi}_k\widehat{\theta}_{j+1} = 0$  for all j < k and so

$$\phi_k * f = \sum_{j=k}^{\infty} \phi_k * (f_{j+1} - f_j)$$
 for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ 

Hence

$$\|\phi_k * f\|_{L^p} \le \sum_{j=k}^{\infty} \|\phi_k * (f_{j+1} - f_j)\|_{L^p} \le \sum_{j=k}^{\infty} \|\phi\|_{L^1} \|f_{j+1} - f_j\|_{L^p}.$$

Multiply this inequality by  $2^{ks}$  to obtain

$$2^{ks} \|\phi_k * f\|_{L^p} \le \|\phi\|_{L^1} \sum_{j=k}^{\infty} 2^{-(j-k)s} 2^{js} \|f_{j+1} - f_j\|_{L^p}.$$

The right hand side is the convolution of the summable sequence  $(2^{-ks})_{k \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ with a bi-infinite sequence in  $\ell^q(\mathbb{Z})$ . Hence, by Young's inequality,

$$\begin{aligned} \|f\|_{b_{q,4;\phi}^{s,p}} &= \left(\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(2^{ks} \|\phi_k * f\|_{L^p}\right)^q\right)^{1/q} \\ &\leq \|\phi\|_{L^1} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} 2^{-ks}\right) \left(\sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(2^{js} \|f_{j+1} - f_j\|_{L^p}\right)^q\right)^{1/q} \\ &= \frac{\|\phi\|_{L^1}}{1 - 2^{-s}} \left(\sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(2^{js} \|f_{j+1} - f_j\|_{L^p}\right)^q\right)^{1/q}. \end{aligned}$$

Now it follows from the definition of  $f_j$  in (13.21) and Minkowsky's inequality in [33, Thm 7.19] that

$$\begin{split} \|f_{j+1} - f_{j}\|_{L^{p}} &= \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \theta(y) \left( \Delta_{2^{-j-1}y}^{2} f(x) - \Delta_{2^{-j}y}^{2} f(x) \right) \, dy \right|^{p} \, dx \right)^{1/p} \\ &\leq \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\theta(y)| \left| \Delta_{2^{-j-1}y}^{2} f(x) - \Delta_{2^{-j}y}^{2} f(x) \right|^{p} \, dy \right)^{p} \, dx \right)^{1/p} \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\theta(y)|^{p} \left| \Delta_{2^{-j-1}y}^{2} f(x) - \Delta_{2^{-j}y}^{2} f(x) \right|^{p} \, dx \right)^{1/p} \, dy \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\theta(y)| \left\| \Delta_{2^{-j-1}y}^{2} f(x) - \Delta_{2^{-j}y}^{2} f \right\|_{L^{p}} \, dy \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\theta(y)| \left( \left\| \Delta_{2^{-j-1}y}^{2} f \right\|_{L^{p}} + \left\| \Delta_{2^{-j}y}^{2} f \right\|_{L^{p}} \right) \, dy. \end{split}$$

Abbreviate  $c:=\|\phi\|_{L^1}\,/(1-2^{-s}).$  Then the last two estimates yield

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{b_{q,4;\phi}^{s,p}} &\leq c \left( \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \left( 2^{js} \|f_{j+1} - f_{j}\|_{L^{p}} \right)^{q} \right)^{1/q} \\ &\leq c \left( \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \left( 2^{js} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\theta(y)| \left( \|\Delta_{2^{-j-1}y}^{2}f\|_{L^{p}} + \|\Delta_{2^{-j}y}^{2}f\|_{L^{p}} \right) dy \right)^{q} \right)^{1/q} \\ &\leq c \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\theta(y)| \left( \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} 2^{jqs} \left( \|\Delta_{2^{-j-1}y}^{2}f\|_{L^{p}} + \|\Delta_{2^{-j}y}^{2}f\|_{L^{p}} \right)^{q} \right)^{1/q} dy \\ &\leq 2c \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\theta(y)| \left( \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} 2^{jqs} \left( \|\Delta_{2^{-j-1}y}^{2}f\|_{L^{p}}^{q} + \|\Delta_{2^{-j}y}^{2}f\|_{L^{p}}^{q} \right) \right)^{1/q} dy \\ &\leq 2(1+2^{-qs})^{1/q} c \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\theta(y)| \left( \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} 2^{jqs} \|\Delta_{2^{-j}y}^{2}f\|_{L^{p}}^{q} \right)^{1/q} dy. \end{split}$$

Here the third step follows from Minkowsky's inequality in [33, Thm 7.19]. Now let N > n + s and choose a constant C > 0 such that

$$2(1+2^{-qs})^{1/q}c|\theta(y)| \le \frac{C}{(1+|y|)^N}$$
 for all  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ .

Then

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,4;\phi}} &\leq \int_{B_1} \frac{C}{(1+|y|)^N} \left( \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} 2^{jqs} \left\| \Delta_{2^{-j}y}^2 f \right\|_{L^p}^q \right)^{1/q} dy \\ &+ \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \int_{B_{2^\ell} \setminus B_{2^{\ell-1}}} \frac{C}{(1+|y|)^N} \left( \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} 2^{jqs} \left\| \Delta_{2^{-j}y}^2 f \right\|_{L^p}^q \right)^{1/q} dy \\ &\leq \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \frac{2^N C \mathrm{Vol}(B_{2^\ell})}{2^{\ell N}} \left( \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} 2^{jqs} \sup_{|h| \leq 2^{\ell-j}} \left\| \Delta_h^2 f \right\|_{L^p}^q \right)^{1/q} \\ &= \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \frac{2^N C \mathrm{Vol}(B_1)}{2^{\ell (N-n-s)}} \left( \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} 2^{(j-\ell)qs} \sup_{|h| \leq 2^{\ell-j}} \left\| \Delta_h^2 f \right\|_{L^p}^q \right)^{1/q} \\ &= \frac{2^N C \mathrm{Vol}(B_1)}{1-2^{-(N-n-s)}} \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,3}}. \end{split}$$

Hence Step 5 follows from Theorem 12.1.

**Step 6.** Let  $\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  be a Triebel function and let 0 < s < 2, p > 1,  $q \ge 1$ , and  $\lambda > 0$ . Then there is a constant  $c = c(s, p, q, \phi, \lambda) > 0$  such that

$$\|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,2}} \le c \, \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,5;\phi,\lambda}}$$

for all  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

The proof follows the argument in [4, Section 4] with a modification suggested by the discussion in [40, Substep 1.1]. By Lemma 13.2 there exists a Triebel function  $\psi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  such that  $\psi * \phi$  is a Littlewood–Paley function. This means that  $\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\psi}_j(x) \widehat{\phi}_j(x) = 1$  for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ , and so it follows from Lemma 8.4 with  $\theta_k := \sum_{j=-\infty}^k \psi_j * \phi_j$  that

$$f = \lim_{N \to \infty} \sum_{j=-N}^{N} \psi_j * \phi_j * f = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \psi_j * \phi_j * f$$

for all  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , where the convergence is both in  $L^p$  and in  $L^{\infty}$ . Now let  $c = c(n, 2, \lambda, \psi) > 0$  be the constant in part (ii) of Lemma 13.4 for  $\ell = 2$ , fix a function  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and let  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $h \in \mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $|h| \leq 2^{-k}$ . Then  $\Delta_h^2 f = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \Delta_h^2(\psi_j * \phi_j * f)$  and hence

$$\left\|\Delta_{h}^{2}f\right\|_{L^{p}} \leq \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \left\|\Delta_{h}^{2}(\psi_{j} * \phi_{j} * f)\right\|_{L^{p}}.$$
(13.22)

For j < k we use the inequality

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \Delta_h^2(\psi_j * \phi_j * f)(x) \right| &\leq \sup_{|y| \leq 2|h|} \left| \nabla^2(\psi_j * \phi_j * f)(x+y) \right| |h|^2 \\ &\leq 2^{-2k} \sup_{|y| \leq 2^{1-k}} \left| \nabla^2(\psi_j * \phi_j * f)(x+y) \right| \\ &\leq c 2^{2(j-k)} \sup_{|y| \leq 2^{1-k}} (\phi_{j,\lambda}^* f)(x+y) \\ &\leq c 2^{2(j-k)} (1+2^{1-k+j})^{\lambda} (\phi_{j,\lambda}^* f)(x). \end{aligned}$$

Here the first step follows from (12.16) by replacing f with  $\Delta_h f$  and repeating the estimate. The last two steps follow from Lemma 13.4. (The matrix  $\nabla^2 g(x) \in \mathbb{C}^{n \times n}$  is the Hessian of a smooth function  $g : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  at  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , and  $|\nabla^2 g(x)|$  is the Euclidean matrix norm.) Now take  $L^p$  norms to obtain

$$\sup_{|h| \le 2^{-k}} \left\| \Delta_h^2(\psi_j * \phi_j * f) \right\|_{L^p} \le C 2^{-2(k-j)} \left\| \phi_{j,\lambda}^* f \right\|_{L^p} \quad \text{for } j < k, \quad (13.23)$$

where  $C := 2^{\lambda} c$ .

For  $j \ge k$  we use the inequality

$$\left\|\Delta_{h}^{2}(\psi_{j}*\phi_{j}*f)\right\|_{L^{p}} \leq 4\left\|\psi_{j}*\phi_{j}*f\right\|_{L^{p}} \leq 4\left\|\psi\right\|_{L^{1}}\left\|\phi_{j}*f\right\|_{L^{p}}.$$
 (13.24)

It follows from (13.22), (13.23), and (13.24) that

$$2^{ks} \sup_{|h| \le 2^{-k}} \left\| \Delta_h^2 f \right\|_{L^p} \le \sum_{j=-\infty}^{k-1} 2^{ks} \sup_{|h| \le 2^{-k}} \left\| \Delta_h^2 (\psi_j * \phi_j * f) \right\|_{L^p} \\ + \sum_{j=k}^{\infty} 2^{ks} \sup_{|h| \le 2^{-k}} \left\| \Delta_h^2 (\psi_j * \phi_j * f) \right\|_{L^p} \\ \le C \sum_{j=-\infty}^{k-1} 2^{-(k-j)(2-s)} 2^{js} \left\| \phi_{j,\lambda}^* f \right\|_{L^p} \\ + 4 \left\| \psi \right\|_{L^1} \sum_{j=k}^{\infty} 2^{-(j-k)s} 2^{js} \left\| \phi_j * f \right\|_{L^p}.$$

Now use Young's inequality for the convolution of bi-infinite sequences to obtain

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{b_{q,3}^{s,p}} &= \left(\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(2^{ks} \sup_{|h| \le 2^{-k}} \left\|\Delta_{h}^{2} f\right\|_{L^{p}}\right)^{q}\right)^{1/q} \\ &\leq C \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} 2^{-k(2-s)}\right) \left(\sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(2^{js} \left\|\phi_{j,\lambda}^{*} f\right\|_{L^{p}}\right)^{q}\right)^{1/q} \\ &+ 4 \left\|\psi\right\|_{L^{1}} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} 2^{-ks}\right) \left(\sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(2^{js} \left\|\phi_{j} * f\right\|_{L^{p}}\right)^{q}\right)^{1/q} \\ &= \frac{C2^{-(2-s)}}{1-2^{-(2-s)}} \left\|f\right\|_{b_{q,5;\phi,\lambda}^{s,p,\lambda}} + \frac{4 \left\|\psi\right\|_{L^{1}}}{1-2^{-s}} \left\|f\right\|_{b_{q,4;\phi}^{s,p}} \\ &\leq \left(\frac{C2^{-(2-s)}}{1-2^{-(2-s)}} + \frac{4 \left\|\psi\right\|_{L^{1}}}{1-2^{-s}}\right) \left\|f\right\|_{b_{q,5;\phi,\lambda}^{s,p,\lambda}}. \end{split}$$

Here the last step uses the inequality  $||f||_{b^{s,p}_{q,4;\phi}} \leq ||f||_{b^{s,p}_{q,5;\phi,\lambda}}$  in Step 1. Thus Step 6 follows from Theorem 12.1. This proves part (ii) of Theorem 13.5.  $\Box$ 

**Remark 13.6. (i)** Theorem 13.5 is formulated in terms of norms on the space  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and the homogeneous Besov space  $b_q^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  is the completion of  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  with respect to any of the norms in Theorem 12.1 and Theorem 13.5.

(ii) The norms in Theorem 13.5 extend naturally to the space of Schwartz distributions. The convolution of a Schwartz function and a Schwartz distribution is a function and so the right hand sides of equations (13.8-13.11) remain meaningful when f is a Schwartz distribution. However, the resulting maps  $\mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \to [0, \infty]$  are no longer norms. They vanish on the subspace  $\mathscr{P}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \subset \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  of all polynomials and may take the value infinity. The Besov space embeds into the quotient space  $\mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})/\mathscr{P}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and can be identified with the subspace of this quotient space on which the quasinorms in Theorem 13.5 are finite. To prove this, one is confronted with the additional difficulty of showing that if one of the quasi-norms in Theorem 13.5 is finite for some Schwartz distribution then so are the others. This difficulty is carefully adressed in the paper by Ullrich [40], which also contains many further results as well as copious references to the existing literature.

**Theorem 13.7.** Fix a positive integer n and real numbers p > 1 and  $q \ge 1$ . (i) For every real number 0 < s < 1 there is a  $c = c(n, p, q, s) \ge 1$  such that

$$\|f\|_{b_{q,2}^{1+s,p}} \le \|\nabla f\|_{b_{q,1}^{s,p}} \le c \|f\|_{b_{q,2}^{1+s,p}}$$
(13.25)

for all  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ .

(ii) For every Triebel function  $\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  there is a  $c = c(n, p, q, \phi) \ge 1$  such that

$$c^{-1} \|f\|_{b^{1,p}_{q,2}} \le \left( \int_0^\infty \|\varphi_t * \nabla f\|_{L^p}^q \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/q} \le c \|f\|_{b^{1,p}_{q,2}}$$
(13.26)

for all  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ .

*Proof.* The proof has three steps.

**Step 1.** We prove the first inequality in (13.25).

Let  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . Then  $\|\Delta_h^2 f\|_{L^p} \leq |h| \|\Delta_h \nabla f\|_{L^p}$  for  $h \in \mathbb{R}^n$  by (12.17). Take the supremum over all  $h \in \mathbb{R}^n$  with  $|h| \leq r$  to obtain the estimate  $\omega_2(r, f)_p \leq r\omega_1(r, \nabla f)_p$  for all r > 0 and hence

$$\|f\|_{b^{1+s,p}_{q,2}}^q = \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{\omega_2(r,f)_p}{r^{1+s}}\right)^q \frac{dr}{r} \le \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{\omega_1(r,\nabla f)_p}{r^s}\right)^q \frac{dr}{r} = \|\nabla f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,2}}^q$$

for all  $p, q \ge 1$ . This proves the first inequality in (13.25).

**Step 2.** For every real number p > 1 there exists a constant  $c = c(n, p) \ge 1$ with the following significance. If  $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  is a function in the Schwartz space and  $g : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  is the unique function in the Schwartz space whose Fourier transform is given by

$$\widehat{g}(\xi) = |\xi| \widehat{f}(\xi) \quad \text{for } \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$$

then

$$c^{-1} \|g\|_{L^p} \le \|\nabla f\|_{L^p} \le c \|g\|_{L^p}.$$

For  $i = 1, \ldots, n$  define the operator  $T_i : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  by

$$\widehat{T_ig}(\xi) := \frac{\mathbf{i}\xi_i}{|\xi|}\widehat{g}(\xi).$$

Let p > 1. Then, by the Mikhlin Multiplier Theorem 6.1, there exists a constant a C = C(n, p) > 0 such that

$$||T_i f||_{L^p} \le C ||f||_{L^p}$$

for all  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \cap L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and all *i*. Now let *f* and *g* be as in Step 2. Since

$$\widehat{\partial_i f}(\xi) = \mathbf{i}\xi_i \widehat{f}(\xi)$$

for  $i = 1, \ldots, n$  and  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , we have

$$\partial_i f = T_i g$$
 for  $i = 1, \dots, n$ 

and

$$g = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} T_i \partial_i f.$$

Thus the estimates of Step 2 hold with c := nC.

**Step 3.** We prove (13.26) and the second inequality in (13.25).

Let  $\phi$  be a Triebel functions and define  $\varphi_t(x) := t^{-n}\phi(t^{-1}x)$  for t > 0 and  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  as in Definition 13.5. Define the functions  $\psi, \psi_t : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$\widehat{\psi}(\xi) := |\xi| \widehat{\phi}(\xi), \qquad \psi_t(x) := t^{-n} \psi(t^{-1}x)$$

for t > 0 and  $x, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Then  $\psi$  satisfies (13.1) and (13.2) and hence is also a Triebel function. Now let  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and define  $g : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$  by

$$\widehat{g}(\xi) := |\xi| \widehat{f}(\xi) \quad \text{for } \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
(13.27)

Then, for all t > 0 and all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , we have

$$\widehat{\varphi_t \ast g}(\xi) = \widehat{\varphi_t}(\xi)\widehat{g}(\xi) = |\xi|\widehat{\phi}(t\xi)\widehat{f}(\xi) = |\xi|\widehat{\varphi_t}(\xi)\widehat{f}(\xi) = |\xi|\widehat{\varphi_t} \ast \widehat{f}(\xi). \quad (13.28)$$

Since  $|\xi|\widehat{\phi}(t\xi) = t^{-1}\widehat{\psi}(t\xi)$ , this implies

$$\widehat{\varphi_t \ast g}(\xi) = t^{-1}\widehat{\psi}(t\xi)\widehat{f}(\xi) = t^{-1}\widehat{\psi_t}(\xi)\widehat{f}(\xi) = t^{-1}\widehat{\psi_t \ast f}(\xi).$$
(13.29)

It follows from (13.29) that

$$\|\varphi_t * g\|_{L^p} = t^{-1} \|\psi_t * f\|_{L^p}$$

for all t > 0. Now let  $c = c(n, p) \ge 1$  be the constant of Step 2. Then it follows from (13.28) that

$$c^{-1} \|\varphi_t * g\|_{L^p} \le \|\varphi_t * \nabla f\|_{L^p} \le c \|\varphi_t * g\|_{L^p}$$

for all t > 0. Combining these two assertions we obtain

$$c^{-1} \frac{\|\psi_t * f\|_{L^p}}{t} \le \|\varphi_t * \nabla f\|_{L^p} \le c \frac{\|\psi_t * f\|_{L^p}}{t} \quad \text{for all } t > 0.$$

and hence

$$\begin{aligned} c^{-1} \|f\|_{b^{s+1,p}_{q,6;\psi}} &= c^{-1} \left( \int_0^\infty \left( \frac{\|\psi_t * f\|_{L^p}}{t^{1+s}} \right)^q \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/q} \\ &\leq \left( \int_0^\infty \left( \frac{\|\varphi_t * \nabla f\|_{L^p}}{t^s} \right)^q \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/q} \\ &\leq c \left( \int_0^\infty \left( \frac{\|\psi_t * f\|_{L^p}}{t^{1+s}} \right)^q \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/q} \\ &= c \|f\|_{b^{s+1,p}_{q,6;\psi}} \end{aligned}$$

for  $0 \le s < 1$ . For s = 0 this implies the inequality (13.26) by Theorem 13.5. For 0 < s < 1 this estimate can be written in the form

$$c^{-1} \|f\|_{b^{s+1,p}_{q,6;\psi}} \le \|\nabla f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,6;\phi}} \le c \|f\|_{b^{s+1,p}_{q,6;\psi}}$$

and so the second inequality in (13.25) follows from Theorem 12.1 and Theorem 13.5. This proves Step 3 and Theorem 13.7.  $\hfill \Box$ 

For s = 0 the equivalent norms of Theorem 13.5 can be used to define a space  $b_q^{0,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  as the completion of  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  with respect to these norms. These spaces are increasing in q and it follows directly from the definitions that  $b_1^{0,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \subset L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \subset b_{\infty}^{0,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . The next corollary refines this assertion. It shows that  $b_2^{0,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \subset L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  for  $1 \leq p \leq 2$ and  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \subset b_2^{0,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  for  $2 \leq p \leq \infty$ .

**Corollary 13.8.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $1 and let <math>\phi$  be a Triebel function. Then the following holds.

(i) If  $p \leq 2$  then there exists a constant c > 0 such that

$$\left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \|\varphi_{t} * f\|_{L^{p}}^{2} \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/2} \le c \|f\|_{L^{p}}$$
(13.30)

for all  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

(ii) If  $p \ge 2$  then there exists a constant c > 0 such that

$$\|f\|_{L^{p}} \le c \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \|\varphi_{t} * f\|_{L^{p}}^{2} \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/2}$$
(13.31)

for all  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

*Proof.* We prove part (i). Assume  $1 , let <math>\psi$  be a Littlewood–Paley function, and let  $c = c(n, p, \psi)$  be the constant of Theorem 8.3. Then

$$\|f\|_{b_{2,3;\psi}^{0,p}}^{p} = \left(\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \|\psi_{k} * f\|_{L^{p}}^{2}\right)^{p/2}$$
$$= \left(\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |(\psi_{k} * f)(x)|^{p} dx\right)^{2/p}\right)^{p/2}$$
$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} |(\psi_{k} * f)(x)|^{2}\right)^{p/2} dx$$
$$= \|S_{\psi}(f)\|_{L^{p}}^{p}$$
$$\leq c^{p} \|f\|_{L^{p}}^{p}$$

for every  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . Here the third step uses Minkowski's inequality in [33, Thm 7.19] with the exponent 2/p and the last step follows from Theorem 8.3. Now part (i) follows from the equivalence of the norms  $\|\cdot\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,4;\psi}}$ and  $\|\cdot\|_{b^{s,p}_{a,6;\phi}}$  in Theorem 13.5 with s = 0 and q = 2. We prove part (ii). Thus assume  $2 \le p < \infty$ , let  $\psi$  be a Littlewood–Paley function, and let  $c = c(n, p, \psi)$  be the constant of Theorem 8.3. Then

$$c^{-p} \|f\|_{L^{p}}^{2} \leq \|S_{\psi}(f)\|_{L^{p}}^{2}$$

$$= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} |(\psi_{k} * f)(x)|^{2}\right)^{p/2} dx\right)^{2/p}$$

$$\leq \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |(\psi_{k} * f)(x)|^{p} dx\right)^{2/p}$$

$$= \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \|\psi_{k} * f\|_{L^{p}}^{2}$$

$$= \|f\|_{b_{2,3;\psi}^{0,p}}^{2}$$

for every  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . Here the first step uses Theorem 8.3 and the third step uses Minkowski's inequality in [33, Thm 7.19] with exponent p/2. Thus part (ii) follows from the equivalence of the norms  $\|\cdot\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,4;\psi}}$  and  $\|\cdot\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,6;\psi}}$  in Theorem 13.5 with s = 0 and q = 2. This proves Corollary 13.8.

**Corollary 13.9.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and 1 .

(i) If  $p \leq 2$  then  $w^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \subset b_2^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and  $W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \subset B_2^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . (ii) If  $p \geq 2$  then  $b_2^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \subset w^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and  $B_2^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \subset W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . (iii) If p = 2 then  $b_2^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) = w^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and  $B_2^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) = W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ .

*Proof.* Assume  $p \leq 2$ . Then, by Theorem 13.7 and part (i) of Corollary 13.8, there exists a constant  $c \geq 1$  such that, for all  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,

$$c^{-1} \|f\|_{b^{1,p}_{2,2}} \le \left(\int_0^\infty \|\phi_t * \nabla f\|_{L^p}^2 \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/2} \le c \|\nabla f\|_{L^p}.$$

Thus  $w^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n,\mathbb{C}) \subset b_2^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n,\mathbb{C})$ . The inclusion  $W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n,\mathbb{C}) \subset B_2^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n,\mathbb{C})$ follows by adding  $||f||_{L^p}$  on both sides of the inequality.

Assume  $p \ge 2$ . Then, by Theorem 13.7 and part (ii) of Corollary 13.8, there exists a constant  $c \ge 1$  such that, for all  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,

$$c^{-1} \|\nabla f\|_{L^p} \le \left( \int_0^\infty \|\phi_t * \nabla f\|_{L^p}^2 \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/2} \le c \|f\|_{b^{1,p}_{2,2}}$$

Thus  $b_2^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \subset w^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . The inclusion  $B_2^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \subset W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ follows by adding  $\|f\|_{L^p}$  on both sides of the inequality.  $\Box$ 

## 14 Besov spaces and heat kernels

The following theorem is due to Triebel [39] for the standard heat equation on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and for 0 < s < 1. It was extended by Grigor'yan and Liu [13] to a large class of parabolic equations on general metric measure spaces.

Recall the notation  $\Delta = \sum_i \partial_i^2$  for the standard Laplace operator on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ and  $K_t : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  for the fundamental solution of the heat equation in (1.9). For k > 0 define the linear operator  $(-\Delta)^k : \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \to \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  by

$$\widehat{(-\Delta)^k}f(\xi) := |\xi|^{2k}\widehat{f}(\xi) \quad \text{for } f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \text{ and } \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
(14.1)

For  $p, q \ge 1, 0 < s/2 < k$ , and  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  define

$$\|f\|_{s,p,q;k} := \left(\int_0^\infty \left(\frac{\|(-t\Delta)^k (K_t * f)\|_{L^p}}{t^{s/2}}\right)^q \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/q}.$$
 (14.2)

Then, for 0 < m < s and k > (s - m)/2,

$$||f||_{s,p,q;k+m/2} = ||(-\Delta)^{m/2}f||_{s-m,p,q;k}.$$
(14.3)

**Theorem 14.1** (Triebel/Grigor'yan–Liu). Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and p, q > 1.

(i) Let 0 < s < 1. Then there exists a constant  $c \ge 1$  such that every Schwartz test function  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  satisfies the inequalities

$$\frac{1}{c} \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,2}} \le \left( \int_0^\infty \left( \frac{\|t\Delta(K_t * f)\|_{L^p}}{t^{s/2}} \right)^q \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/q} \le c \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,2}}.$$

The first inequality continues to hold for  $1 \leq s < 2$ .

(ii) Let 0 < s < 2 and k > s/2. Then there exists a constant  $c \ge 1$  such that every Schwartz test function  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  satisfies the inequalities

$$\frac{1}{c} \|f\|_{B^{s,p}_{q,2}} \le \|f\|_{L^p} + \left(\int_0^\infty \left(\frac{\left\|(-t\Delta)^k (K_t * f)\right\|_{L^p}}{t^{s/2}}\right)^q \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/q} \le c \|f\|_{B^{s,p}_{q,2}}.$$

(iii) Let 0 < m < s < 2. Then there exists a constant c > 0 such that every Schwartz test function  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  satisfies the inequalities

$$\frac{1}{c} \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,2}} \le \left\| (-\Delta)^{m/2} f \right\|_{b^{s-m,p}_{q,2}} \le c \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,2}}.$$

*Proof.* Part (i) can be found in Triebel [39, Thm 1.7.3 & Thm 1.8.3]. Parts (ii) and (iii) are due to Grigor'yan–Liu [13, Thm 1.5]. The proof given below follows the argument in [13] for the standard Laplace operator on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

Assume 0 < s < 2 and k > s/2. We prove in seven steps that the norm

$$\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \to [0, \infty) : f \mapsto \|f\|_{L^p} + \|f\|_{s, p, q; k}$$

$$(14.4)$$

defined by (14.2) is equivalent to the norm

$$\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n,\mathbb{C})\to [0,\infty): f\mapsto \|f\|_{L^p}+\|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,2}}$$

in (12.6). The first two steps establish the inequality  $||f||_{b_{q,2}^{s,p}} \leq c ||f||_{s,p,q;1}$ . The heart of the proof is Step 3, which shows that  $||f||_{s,p,q;1} \leq c ||f||_{b_{q,0}^{s,p}}$  for 0 < s < 1, and hence proves part (i). Steps 4 and 5 show that the norms in (14.4) are equivalent for any two values of k > s/2. The last two steps establish part (ii).

**Step 1.** Define the function  $\Phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$\Phi(x) := \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{n/2}} \left(\frac{n}{2} - \frac{|x|^2}{4}\right) e^{-|x|^2/4}, \qquad \widehat{\Phi}(\xi) = |\xi|^2 e^{-|\xi|^2}.$$

For t > 0 define  $\Phi_t(x) := t^{-n} \Phi(t^{-1}x)$  so that  $\widehat{\Phi}_t(\xi) = \widehat{\Phi}(t\xi)$ . Then

$$\|f\|_{s,p,q;1} = 2^{1/q} \left( \int_0^\infty \left( \frac{\|\Phi_t * f\|_{L^p}}{t^s} \right)^q \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/q}$$
(14.5)

for all  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and all p, q, s such that  $p, q \ge 1$  and 0 < s < 2. By definition, we have

$$\Phi_{\sqrt{t}} = -t\partial_t K_t = -t\Delta K_t, \qquad \widehat{\Phi}_{\sqrt{t}} = -t\widehat{\Delta K}_t.$$

Hence

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{s,p,q;1} &= \left(\int_0^\infty \left(\frac{\|t\Delta(K_t * f)\|_{L^p}}{t^{s/2}}\right)^q \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/q} \\ &= \left(\int_0^\infty \left(\frac{\|\Phi_{\sqrt{t}} * f\|_{L^p}}{t^{s/2}}\right)^q \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/q} \\ &= \left(2\int_0^\infty \left(\frac{\|\Phi_t * f\|_{L^p}}{t^s}\right)^q \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/q} \end{split}$$

for all  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . This proves Step 1.

**Step 2.** Let  $p, q \ge 1$  and 0 < s < 2. Then there exists a constant c > 0 such that

$$\|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,2}} \le c \,\|f\|_{s,p,q;1}$$

for all  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ .

The function  $\widehat{\Phi}$  satisfies the first condition in (13.2), however, it does not satisfy the second condition in (13.2). To obtain a function that does, choose a smooth function  $\beta : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  in the Schwartz space  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that  $\beta(x) = \beta(-x)$  for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and whose Fourier transform satisfies

$$\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\beta}) = \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \, | \, 1/2 \le |\xi| \le 2\}, \qquad \widehat{\beta}(\xi) > 0 \quad \text{for } 1/2 < |\xi| < 2.$$

Then  $\beta$  is integrable. Define

$$\phi := \beta * \Phi.$$

Then the Fourier transform of  $\phi$  is given by  $\widehat{\phi}(\xi) = \widehat{\beta}(\xi)\widehat{\Phi}(\xi)$  and so  $\phi$  satisfies (13.1) and (13.2), i.e.  $\phi$  is a Triebel function. Moreover,

$$\phi_t = \beta_t * \Phi_t$$

for all t > 0 and hence, by Young's inequality,

$$\|\phi_t * f\|_{L^p} = \|\beta_t * \Phi_t * f\|_{L^p} \le \|\beta_t\|_{L^1} \|\Phi_t * f\|_{L^p} = \|\beta\|_{L^1} \|\Phi_t * f\|_{L^p}.$$

This implies

$$\left(\int_0^\infty \left(\frac{\|\phi_t * f\|_{L^p}}{t^s}\right)^q \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/q} \le \|\beta\|_{L^1} \left(\int_0^\infty \left(\frac{\|\Phi_t * f\|_{L^p}}{t^s}\right)^q \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/q}$$

for all  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . Since the norm on the left is equivalent to  $\|\cdot\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,2}}$  by Theorem 13.5, and the second factor on the right is  $2^{-1/q} \|f\|_{s,p,q;1}$  by Step 1, this proves Step 2.

**Step 3.** Let p > 1,  $q \ge 1$ , and 0 < s < 1. Then there exists a constant c > 0 such that

$$\|f\|_{s,p,q;1} \le c \, \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,0}}$$

for all  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ .

This is the argument in [13, Section 3.1]. There is a constant  $c_1 = c_1(n) > 0$ such that, for all t > 0 and all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$|\Phi_t(x)| = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{n/2}t^n} \left| \frac{|x|^2}{4t^2} - \frac{n}{2} \right| e^{-\frac{|x|^2}{4t^2}} \le \frac{c_1}{t^n} \left( 1 + \frac{|x|}{t} \right)^2 e^{-\frac{1}{8} \left( 1 + \frac{|x|}{t} \right)^2}.$$

The last step uses the inequality  $\frac{1}{8}(1+\frac{|x|}{t})^2 \leq \frac{1}{4}+\frac{|x|^2}{4t^2}$ . Since  $\Phi_t$  has mean value zero, we have

$$(\Phi_t * f)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \Phi_t(h) \big( f(x-h) - f(x) \big) \, dh$$

and hence

$$\begin{aligned} |(\Phi_t * f)(x)| &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\Phi_t(h)| |f(x) - f(x-h)| \, dh \\ &\leq \frac{c_1}{t^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left( 1 + \frac{|h|}{t} \right)^2 e^{-\frac{1}{8} \left( 1 + \frac{|h|}{t} \right)^2} |f(x) - f(x-h)| \, dh \end{aligned}$$
(14.6)

for all t > 0 and all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Choose a real number  $\alpha > s$ . Then there is a constant  $c_2 > 0$  such that  $(1+r)^2 e^{-\frac{1}{8}(1+r)^2} \leq c_2(1+r)^{-(n+\alpha p)}$  for all r > 0. Define  $c_3 := c_1 c_2$ . Then it follows from (14.6) that

$$\begin{split} |(\Phi_t * f)(x)| &\leq \frac{c_1 c_2}{t^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left( 1 + \frac{|h|}{t} \right)^{-n - \alpha p} |f(x) - f(x - h)| \, dh \\ &= c_3 t^{\alpha p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(x) - f(x - h)|}{(t + |h|)^{n + \alpha p}} \, dh \\ &= c_3 t^{\alpha p} \int_{|h| \leq t} \frac{|f(x) - f(x - h)|}{(t + |h|)^{n + \alpha p}} \, dh \\ &+ c_3 t^{\alpha p} \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \int_{2^{i-1} t \leq |h| \leq 2^{i} t} \frac{|f(x) - f(x - h)|}{(t + |h|)^{n + \alpha p}} \, dh \\ &\leq \frac{c_3}{t^n} \int_{|h| \leq t} |f(x) - f(x - h)| \, dh \\ &+ \frac{c_3}{t^n} \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^{(i-1)(n + \alpha p)}} \int_{2^{i-1} t \leq |h| \leq 2^{i} t} |f(x) - f(x - h)| \, dh \\ &\leq \frac{c_4}{t^n} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^{i(n + \alpha p)}} \int_{B_{2^{i} t}} |f(x) - f(x - h)| \, dh, \end{split}$$

where  $c_4 := 2^{n+\alpha p} c_3$ .

Now use Hölder's inequality to obtain

$$\begin{split} |(\Phi_t * f)(x)| &\leq \frac{c_4}{t^n} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{\operatorname{Vol}(B_{2^i t})}{2^{i(n+\alpha p)}} \left( \frac{1}{\operatorname{Vol}(B_{2^i t})} \int_{B_{2^i t}} |f(x) - f(x-h)|^p \, dh \right)^{1/p} \\ &= c_5 \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i\alpha p} \left( \frac{1}{\operatorname{Vol}(B_{2^i t})} \int_{B_{2^i t}} |f(x) - f(x-h)|^p \, dh \right)^{1/p} \\ &= c_5 \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i\alpha(p-1)} \left( \frac{2^{-i\alpha p}}{\operatorname{Vol}(B_{2^i t})} \int_{B_{2^i t}} |f(x) - f(x-h)|^p \, dh \right)^{1/p} \\ &\leq c_6 \left( \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{2^{-i\alpha p}}{\operatorname{Vol}(B_{2^i t})} \int_{B_{2^i t}} |f(x) - f(x-h)|^p \, dh \right)^{1/p}. \end{split}$$

Here  $c_5 := c_4 \operatorname{Vol}(B_1)$ . The last step uses Hölder's inequality again and holds with  $c_6 := c_5 (\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i\alpha p})^{(p-1)/p} = c_5 (1 - 2^{-\alpha p})^{-(p-1)/p}$ . Integrate the *p*th power of the last estimate over  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . This gives

$$\begin{split} \|\Phi_t * f\|_{L^p} &\leq c_6 \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i\alpha p} \frac{1}{\operatorname{Vol}(B_{2^i t})} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{B_{2^i t}} |f(x) - f(x-h)|^p \, dh \, dx\right)^{1/p} \\ &= c_6 \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i\alpha p} \frac{1}{\operatorname{Vol}(B_{2^i t})} \int_{B_{2^i t}} \|\Delta_h f\|_{L^p}^p \, dh\right)^{1/p} \end{split}$$

and hence

$$\frac{\|\Phi_t * f\|_{L^p}}{t^s} \le c_6 \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i(\alpha-s)p} \frac{(2^i t)^{-sp}}{\operatorname{Vol}(B_{2^i t})} \int_{B_{2^i t}} \|\Delta_h f\|_{L^p}^p \, dh\right)^{1/p}.$$
 (14.7)

Now assume q > p, raise both sides of equation (14.7) to the power q, and use Hölders inequality with the exponent q/p > 1 and the dual exponent q/(q-p). Then, since  $\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i(\alpha-s)p} < \infty$ , we have

$$\left(\frac{\|\Phi_t * f\|_{L^p}}{t^s}\right)^q \le c_6^q \left(\sum_{i=0}^\infty 2^{-i(\alpha-s)p} \frac{(2^i t)^{-sp}}{\operatorname{Vol}(B_{2^i t})} \int_{B_{2^i t}} \|\Delta_h f\|_{L^p}^p dh\right)^{q/p} \\ \le c_7 \sum_{i=0}^\infty 2^{-i(\alpha-s)p} \left(\frac{(2^i t)^{-sp}}{\operatorname{Vol}(B_{2^i t})} \int_{B_{2^i t}} \|\Delta_h f\|_{L^p}^p dh\right)^{q/p}.$$

By Step 1 this implies

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{s,p,q;1}^{q} &= 2\int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{\|\Phi_{t} * f\|_{L^{p}}}{t^{s}}\right)^{q} \frac{dt}{t} \\ &\leq 2c_{7}\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i(\alpha-s)p} \int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{(2^{i}t)^{-sp}}{\operatorname{Vol}(B_{2^{i}t})} \int_{B_{2^{i}t}} \|\Delta_{h}f\|_{L^{p}}^{p} dh\right)^{q/p} \frac{dt}{t} \\ &= 2c_{7}\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i(\alpha-s)p} \int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{t^{-sp}}{\operatorname{Vol}(B_{t})} \int_{B_{t}} \|\Delta_{h}f\|_{L^{p}}^{p} dh\right)^{q/p} \frac{dt}{t} \\ &= \frac{2c_{7}}{1-2^{-(\alpha-s)p}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{t^{sq}} \left(\frac{1}{\operatorname{Vol}(B_{t})} \int_{B_{t}} \|\Delta_{h}f\|_{L^{p}}^{p} dh\right)^{q/p} \frac{dt}{t} \\ &= \left(c_{8} \|f\|_{b_{q,0}^{s,p}}\right)^{q}. \end{split}$$

This proves the estimate in Step 3 for q > p with  $c = c_8$ . Now assume  $1 \le q \le p$ . Then  $(\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} a_i)^{q/p} \le \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} a_i^{q/p}$  for every sequence of nonnegative real numbers  $a_i \ge 0$ , by the triangle inequality in  $\ell^{p/q}$ . Hence it follows from (14.7) that

$$\left(\frac{\|\Phi_t * f\|_{L^p}}{t^s}\right)^q \le c_6^q \left(\sum_{i=0}^\infty 2^{-i(\alpha-s)p} \frac{(2^i t)^{-sp}}{\operatorname{Vol}(B_{2^i t})} \int_{B_{2^i t}} \|\Delta_h f\|_{L^p}^p dh\right)^{q/p} \\ \le c_6^q \sum_{i=0}^\infty 2^{-i(\alpha-s)q} \left(\frac{(2^i t)^{-sp}}{\operatorname{Vol}(B_{2^i t})} \int_{B_{2^i t}} \|\Delta_h f\|_{L^p}^p dh\right)^{q/p}.$$

This implies

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{s,p,q;1}^{q} &= 2\int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{\|\Phi_{t} * f\|_{L^{p}}}{t^{s}}\right)^{q} \frac{dt}{t} \\ &\leq 2c_{6}^{q} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i(\alpha-s)q} \int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{(2^{i}t)^{-sp}}{\operatorname{Vol}(B_{2^{i}t})} \int_{B_{2^{i}t}} \|\Delta_{h}f\|_{L^{p}}^{p} dh\right)^{q/p} \frac{dt}{t} \\ &= \frac{2c_{6}^{q}}{1 - 2^{-(\alpha-s)q}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{t^{sq}} \left(\frac{1}{\operatorname{Vol}(B_{t})} \int_{B_{t}} \|\Delta_{h}f\|_{L^{p}}^{p} dh\right)^{q/p} \frac{dt}{t} \\ &= \left(c_{9} \|f\|_{b_{q,0}^{s,p}}\right)^{q}. \end{split}$$

Thus the estimate in Step 3 also holds for  $1 \le q \le p$  with  $c = c_9$ .

**Step 4.** Fix real numbers s, p, q, k, m such that  $p, q \ge 1$  and 0 < s/2 < k and m > 0. Then there exists a constant c > 0 such that

$$\|f\|_{s,p,q;k+m/2} \le c \,\|f\|_{s,p,q;k} \tag{14.8}$$

for all  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ .

This is the easy direction of [13, Proposition 2.9], which asserts that, for every fixed triple of real numbers s > 0 and  $p, q \ge 1$ , the norms (14.4) for different values of k > s/2 (not necessarily integers) are all equivalent. To prove Step 2 we return to the notation

$$S(t)f := K_t * f$$

for the strongly continuous semigroup S(t) on  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  generated by the Laplace operator  $A := \Delta$ . Since the operator  $(-A)^{m/2}$  commutes with S(t) for all m and t, we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| (-tA)^{k+m/2} S(t)f \right\|_{L^{p}} &= \left\| (-tA)^{m/2} S(t/2) (-tA)^{k} S(t/2)f \right\|_{L^{p}} \\ &\leq \left\| (-tA)^{m/2} S(t/2) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^{p})} \left\| (-tA)^{k} S(t/2)f \right\|_{L^{p}} \\ &\leq 2^{m/2} C \left\| (-tA)^{k} S(t/2)f \right\|_{L^{p}}, \end{split}$$

where  $C := C(n, m, p) := \sup_{t>0} ||(-tA)^{m/2}S(t)||_{\mathcal{L}(L^p)} < \infty$ . This number is finite because  $(-tA)^{m/2}S(t)$  is given by convolution with the function  $K_{m,t} := (-t\Delta)^{m/2}K_t$ . Its Fourier transform is  $\hat{K}_{m,t}(\xi) = (t|\xi|^2)^{m/2}e^{-t|\xi|^2}$ . The function  $K_{m,1}$  belongs to the Schwartz space and hence is integrable. Moreover,  $\hat{K}_{m,t}(\xi) = \hat{K}_{m,1}(t^{1/2}\xi)$  and so  $K_{m,t}(x) = t^{-n/2}K_{m,1}(t^{-1/2}x)$ . This implies that the  $L^1$  norm of  $K_{m,t}$  is independent of t and therefore  $C(n, m, p) < \infty$ . With this understood, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{s,p,q;k+m/2} &= \left( \int_0^\infty \left( \frac{\left\| (-tA)^{k+m/2} S(t)f \right\|_{L^p}}{t^{s/2}} \right)^q \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/q} \\ &\leq 2^{m/2} C \left( \int_0^\infty \left( \frac{\left\| (-tA)^k S(t/2)f \right\|_{L^p}}{t^{s/2}} \right)^q \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/q} \\ &= 2^{m/2+k-s/2} C \left( \int_0^\infty \left( \frac{\left\| (-(t/2)A)^k S(t/2)f \right\|_{L^p}}{(t/2)^{s/2}} \right)^q \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/q} \\ &= c \|f\|_{s,p,q;k} \end{split}$$

with  $c := 2^{k-s/2} 2^{m/2} C$ . This proves Step 4.

**Step 5.** Fix real numbers s, p, q, k, m such that p, q > 1, 0 < s < 2k, and m > 0. Then there exists a constant c > 0 such that

$$\|f\|_{s,p,q;k} \le c \left( \|f\|_{L^p} + \|f\|_{s,p,q;k+m/2} \right)$$
(14.9)

for all  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ .

This is the nontrivial part of [13, Prop 2.9]. Here is the argument in [13]. Choose an integer  $N > \ell := k + m/2$ . The proof is based on the identity

$$f = \sum_{j=0}^{N-1} \frac{1}{j!} (-A)^j S(1) f + \frac{1}{(N-1)!} \int_0^1 (-\lambda A)^N S(\lambda) f \frac{d\lambda}{\lambda}$$
(14.10)

for  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  (sometimes called the *Calderón Reproduction Formula*). The last summand in (14.10) is the remainder term in the Taylor expansion of the function  $t \mapsto S(t)f$  at t = 1 and this proves equation (14.10) for all  $f \in W^{2N,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . Replace f by  $(-tA)^k S(t)f$  in (14.10) to obtain

$$(-tA)^{k}S(t)f = \sum_{j=0}^{N-1} \frac{t^{k}}{j!} (-A)^{k+j}S(t+1)f + \frac{1}{(N-1)!} \int_{0}^{1} t^{k}\lambda^{N-\ell} (-A)^{k+N-\ell}S(t+\lambda/2)(-\lambda A)^{\ell}S(\lambda/2)f \frac{d\lambda}{\lambda}.$$

Since  $\sup_{t>0} \|(-tA)^{k+j}S(t)\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^p)} < \infty$  for all  $j \ge 0$ , this shows that there exists a constant C = C(n, N, p) > 0 such that

$$\left\| (-tA)^{k}S(t)f \right\|_{L^{p}} \leq Ct^{k} \left\| f \right\|_{L^{p}} + C \int_{0}^{1/2} \frac{t^{k}\lambda^{N-\ell}}{(t+\lambda)^{k+N-\ell}} \left\| (-\lambda A)^{\ell}S(\lambda)f \right\|_{L^{p}} \frac{d\lambda}{\lambda}$$

$$(14.11)$$

for all  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and all t > 0. Following [13] we denote the two terms on the right in (14.11) by

$$J_{1}(t) := t^{k} ||f||_{L^{p}},$$
  
$$J_{2}(t) := \int_{0}^{1/2} \frac{t^{k} \lambda^{N-\ell}}{(t+\lambda)^{k+N-\ell}} ||(-\lambda A)^{\ell} S(\lambda)f||_{L^{p}} \frac{d\lambda}{\lambda}.$$

Hence, with  $C_1 := (q(k - \frac{s}{2}))^{-1/q}$ ,

$$\left(\int_0^1 \left(\frac{J_1(t)}{t^{\frac{s}{2}}}\right)^q \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/q} = \left(\int_0^1 t^{q(k-\frac{s}{2})-1} dt\right)^{1/q} \|f\|_{L^p} = C_1 \|f\|_{L^p}.$$
 (14.12)

Moreover, since k > s/2, we have

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{t^{k-\frac{s}{2}}\lambda^{N-\ell+\frac{s}{2}}}{(t+\lambda)^{k+N-\ell}} \frac{d\lambda}{\lambda} \leq \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\lambda^{N-\ell+\frac{s}{2}-1}}{t^{N-\ell+\frac{s}{2}}} d\lambda + \int_{t}^{\infty} \frac{t^{k-\frac{s}{2}}}{\lambda^{k-\frac{s}{2}+1}} d\lambda = \frac{1}{N-\ell+\frac{s}{2}} + \frac{1}{k-\frac{s}{2}} =: C_{2}.$$
(14.13)

Hence, by Hölder's inequality,

$$\left(\frac{J_2(t)}{t^{\frac{s}{2}}}\right)^q = \left(\int_0^{1/2} \frac{t^{k-\frac{s}{2}}\lambda^{N-\ell+\frac{s}{2}}}{(t+\lambda)^{k+N-\ell}} \frac{\left\|(-\lambda A)^\ell S(\lambda)f\right\|_{L^p}}{\lambda^{\frac{s}{2}}} \frac{d\lambda}{\lambda}\right)^q$$
$$\leq C_2^{q-1} \int_0^{1/2} \frac{t^{k-\frac{s}{2}}\lambda^{N-\ell+\frac{s}{2}}}{(t+\lambda)^{k+N-\ell}} \left(\frac{\left\|(-\lambda A)^\ell S(\lambda)f\right\|_{L^p}}{\lambda^{\frac{s}{2}}}\right)^q \frac{d\lambda}{\lambda}.$$

By Fubini's Theorem, this implies

$$\int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{J_{2}(t)}{t^{\frac{s}{2}}}\right)^{q} \frac{dt}{t} \\
\leq C_{2}^{q-1} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{1/2} \frac{t^{k-\frac{s}{2}}\lambda^{N-\ell+\frac{s}{2}}}{(t+\lambda)^{k+N-\ell}} \frac{\|(-\lambda A)^{\ell}S(\lambda)f\|_{L^{p}}^{q}}{\lambda^{\frac{sq}{2}}} \frac{d\lambda}{\lambda} \frac{dt}{t} \\
\leq C_{2}^{q-1} \int_{0}^{1/2} \left(\int_{0}^{1} \frac{t^{k-\frac{s}{2}}\lambda^{N-\ell+\frac{s}{2}}}{(t+\lambda)^{k+N-\ell}} \frac{dt}{t}\right) \frac{\|(-\lambda A)^{\ell}S(\lambda)f\|_{L^{p}}^{q}}{\lambda^{\frac{sq}{2}}} \frac{d\lambda}{\lambda} \\
\leq C_{2}^{q} \int_{0}^{1/2} \frac{\|(-\lambda A)^{\ell}S(\lambda)f\|_{L^{p}}^{q}}{\lambda^{\frac{sq}{2}}} \frac{d\lambda}{\lambda}.$$
(14.14)

Here the last inequality follows from (14.13) with  $d\lambda/\lambda$  replaced by dt/t. By (14.11), (14.12), and (14.14) we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|f\|_{s,p,q;k} &\leq \left(\int_{1}^{\infty} \frac{\left\|(-tA)^{k}S(t)f\right\|_{L^{p}}^{q}}{t^{sq/2}} \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/q} + \left(\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\left\|(-tA)^{k}S(t)f\right\|_{L^{p}}^{q}}{t^{sq/2}} \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/q} \\ &\leq \left(C_{0} + CC_{1}\right) \|f\|_{L^{p}} + CC_{2} \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{\left\|(-tA)^{\ell}S(t)f\right\|_{L^{p}}}{t^{s/2}}\right)^{q} \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/q} \end{aligned}$$

for all  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ , where  $C_0 := \sup_{t \ge 1} \left\| (-tA)^k S(t) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^p)} (\frac{2}{sq})^{1/q}$ . This proves the estimate (14.9) and Step 5.

**Step 6.** We prove part (iii) of Theorem 14.1. Let p > 1,  $q \ge 1$ , and 0 < m < s < 2. Then there is a c > 0 such that every  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  satisfies

$$\frac{1}{c} \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,2}} \le \left\| (-\Delta)^{m/2} f \right\|_{b^{s-m,p}_{q,2}} \le c \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,2}}.$$
(14.15)

Let  $\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  be a Triebel function and define  $\phi_t(x) := t^{-n}\phi(t^{-1}x)$  for  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and t > 0. Define the functions  $\psi, \psi_t : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  by  $\widehat{\psi}(\xi) := |\xi|^m \widehat{\phi}(\xi)$  and  $\psi_t(x) := t^{-n}\psi(t^{-1}x)$  for t > 0 and  $x, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , so  $\psi$  is also a Triebel function. Now let  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and  $g := (-\Delta)^{m/2} f$ . Then  $\widehat{g}(\xi) = |\xi|^m \widehat{f}(\xi)$  for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Since  $\widehat{\psi}_t(\xi) = t^m |\xi|^m \widehat{\phi}_t(\xi)$ , this implies  $\widehat{\psi}_t \widehat{f} = t^m \widehat{\phi}_t \widehat{g}$ , therefore  $\psi_t * f = t^m \phi_t * g$  for all t > 0, and so

$$\begin{split} \left\| (-\Delta)^{m/2} f \right\|_{b^{s-m,p}_{q,6;\phi}} &= \left( \int_0^\infty \left( \frac{\|\phi_t * g\|_{L^p}}{t^{s-m}} \right)^q \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/q} \\ &= \left( \int_0^\infty \left( \frac{\|\psi_t * f\|_{L^p}}{t^s} \right)^q \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/q} \\ &= \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,6;\psi}} \end{split}$$

for m < s < 2. Hence Step 6 follows from Theorem 13.5.

Step 7. We prove parts (i) and (ii) of Theorem 14.1.

Part (i) follows from Step 2 and Step 3. Moreover, the first inequality in part (ii) follows from Step 2 and Step 4 for  $s/2 < k \leq 1$  and from Step 2 and Step 5 for k > 1. If 0 < s < 1 then the second inequality in part (ii) follows from Step 3 and Step 5 for s/2 < k < 1 and from Step 3 and Step 4 for  $k \geq 1$ . To prove the second inequality in part (ii) for  $1 \leq s < 2$ , choose m such that  $0 < m < s < m + 1 \leq 2$ . By Step 4 (in the case  $k \geq 1 + m/2$ ) and Step 5 (in the case k < 1 + m/2), there is a constant  $c_{45} > 0$  such that

$$\|f\|_{s,p,q;k} \le c_{45} \left( \|f\|_{L^p} + \|f\|_{s,p,q;1+m/2} \right)$$
  
=  $c_{45} \left( \|f\|_{L^p} + \|(-\Delta)^{m/2}f\|_{s-m,p,q;1} \right)$ 

for all  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  (see (14.3)). Since 0 < s - m < 1, Step 3 implies

$$\left\| (-\Delta)^{m/2} f \right\|_{s-m,p,q;1} \le c_3 \left\| (-\Delta)^{m/2} f \right\|_{b_{q,2}^{s-m,p}}$$

with  $c_3 \ge 1$ . By Step 6,  $\|(-\Delta)^{m/2}f\|_{b_{q,2}^{s-m,p}} \le c_6 \|f\|_{b_{q,2}^{s,p}}$  with  $c_6 \ge 1$ . Combine these estimates to obtain  $\|f\|_{s,p,q;k} \le c_7(\|f\|_{L^p} + \|f\|_{b_{q,2}^{s,p}})$  for all  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ with  $c_7 := c_3 c_{45} c_6$ . This proves Step 7 and Theorem 14.1.

## 15 Proof of Theorem 1.2

Proof of Theorem 1.2. Take k = 1 and s = 2 - 2/q in Theorem 14.1. Then

$$\frac{1}{c} \|f\|_{b^{s,p}_{q,2}} \le \left(\int_0^\infty \|\Delta(K_t * f)\|^q_{L^p} dt\right)^{1/q} \le c \|f\|_{B^{s,p}_{q,2}}$$
(15.1)

for  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  (with  $||f||_{B^{s,p}_{q,2}}$  on the right replaced by  $||f||_{b^{s,p}_{q,2}}$  when s < 1). Since  $u_t := K_t * f$  is the solution of the heat equation with  $u_0 = f$  such that  $u_t \in L^2$  for all t, the estimate (15.1) is equivalent to (1.5).

The next corollary restates the estimates of Theorem 1.2 for p = q.

**Corollary 15.1.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and p > 1.

(i) If  $1 then there exists a constant <math>c \ge 1$  such that every Schwartz test function  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  satisfies the inequalities

$$\frac{1}{c} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|^p}{|x - y|^{n+2p-2}} \, dy \, dx \right)^{1/p} \\
\leq \left( \int_0^\infty \|\Delta (K_t * f)\|_{L^p}^p \, dt \right)^{1/p} \\
\leq c \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|^p}{|x - y|^{n+2p-2}} \, dy \, dx \right)^{1/p}.$$
(15.2)

(ii) If p > 2 then there exists a constant  $c \ge 1$  such that every Schwartz test function  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  satisfies the inequalities

$$\frac{1}{c} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|\nabla f(x) - \nabla f(y)|^{p}}{|x - y|^{n + p - 2}} \, dy \, dx \right)^{1/p} \\
\leq \left( \int_{0}^{\infty} \|\Delta (K_{t} * f)\|_{L^{p}}^{p} \, dt \right)^{1/p} \\
\leq c \left( \|f\|_{L^{p}} + \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|\nabla f(x) - \nabla f(y)|^{p}}{|x - y|^{n + p - 2}} \, dy \, dx \right)^{1/p} \right).$$
(15.3)

*Proof.* If 0 < s < 1 then, by Lemma 12.7, the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{w^{s,p}}$  in (12.11) differs from the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{b_{p,0}^{s,p}}$  in (12.4) by a constant factor and so is equivalent to the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{b_{p,2}^{s,p}}$  in (12.6) by Theorem 12.1. Hence part (i) follows from

Theorem 1.2 with p = q and 0 < s = 2 - 2/p < 1. If 1 < s < 2 then, by Lemma 12.7 and Theorems 12.1 and 13.7, the norm  $f \mapsto \|\nabla f\|_{w^{s-1,p}}$ in (12.11) is equivalent the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{b_{p,2}^{s,p}}$ . Hence part (ii) follows from Theorem 1.2 with p = q and 1 < s = 2 - 2/p < 2. This proves Corollary 15.1  $\Box$ 

We remark that for p = q = 2 the energy identity asserts that

$$\frac{1}{2} \|\nabla f\|_{L^2} = \left(\int_0^\infty \|\Delta(K_t * f)\|_{L^2}^2 dt\right)^{1/2} = \|f\|_{1,2,2;1}.$$
(15.4)

Thus  $\|\cdot\|_{1,2,2;1}$  is the norm of the homogeneous Sobolev space  $w^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . The next corollary restates the estimates of Theorem 1.2 in general.

## Corollary 15.2. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and p, q > 1.

(i) If 1 < q < 2 then there exists a constant  $c \ge 1$  such that every Schwartz test function  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  satisfies the inequalities

$$\frac{1}{c} \left( \int_0^\infty \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{B_r} \frac{|f(x+h) - f(x)|^p}{r^{n+(2-2/q)p}} dh dx \right)^{q/p} \frac{dr}{r} \right)^{1/q} \\
\leq \left( \int_0^\infty \|\Delta(K_t * f)\|_{L^p}^q dt \right)^{1/q} \\
\leq c \left( \int_0^\infty \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{B_r} \frac{|f(x+h) - f(x)|^p}{r^{n+(2-2/q)p}} dh dx \right)^{q/p} \frac{dr}{r} \right)^{1/q}$$

(ii) Assume  $q \ge 2$  and choose m such that  $0 < m < 2 - 2/q < m + 1 \le 2$ . Then there exists a constant  $c \ge 1$  such that every Schwartz test function  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  satisfies the inequalities

$$\frac{1}{c} \left( \int_{0}^{\infty} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{B_{r}} \frac{|((-\Delta)^{m/2} f)(x+h) - ((-\Delta)^{m/2} f)(x)|^{p}}{r^{n+(2-2/q-m)p}} dh dx \right)^{q/p} \frac{dr}{r} \right)^{1/q} \\
\leq \left( \int_{0}^{\infty} \left\| \Delta(K_{t} * f) \|_{L^{p}}^{q} dt \right)^{1/q} \leq c \|f\|_{L^{p}} + c \left( \int_{0}^{\infty} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{B_{r}} \frac{|((-\Delta)^{m/2} f)(x+h) - ((-\Delta)^{m/2} f)(x)|^{p}}{r^{n+(2-2/q-m)p}} dh dx \right)^{q/p} \frac{dr}{r} \right)^{1/q}.$$

When q > 2 and m = 1, the function  $(-\Delta)^{m/2} f$  can be replaced by  $\nabla f$ .

*Proof.* This is just a restatement of Theorem 1.2 in more explicit terms. Part (i) uses the equivalence of the norms  $\|\cdot\|_{b_{q,2}^{s,p}}$  and  $\|\cdot\|_{b_{q,0}^{s,p}}$  established in Theorem 12.1. Part (ii) uses the fact that the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{b_{q,2}^{s,p}}$  in (12.6) is equivalent to the norm  $f \mapsto \|(-\Delta)^{m/2}f\|_{b_{q,0}^{s-m,p}}$  by Step 6 in the proof of Theorem 14.1. The last assertion follows from Theorem 13.7.

**Remark 15.3.** The assertions of Corollary 13.9 about the inhomogeneous Besov spaces  $B_2^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  can also be derived from Theorems 1.2 and 2.1. (See also Lemma 12.9 for the weaker inclusions relating the Besov spaces  $B_1^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and  $B_{\infty}^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  to  $W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ .) Here are the details.

(i) Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $p \leq 2$ . By Theorem 1.2 with q = 2 and s = 2 - 2/q = 1, there exists a constant c > 0 such that

$$\frac{1}{c} \|f\|_{b_{2}^{1,p}} \le \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \|\Delta(K_{t} * f)\|_{L^{p}}^{2} dt\right)^{1/2} \le \frac{2n}{p-1} \|\nabla f\|_{L^{p}}$$
(15.5)

for all  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ . Here the second inequality follows from Corollary 2.6. Hence  $w^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \subset b_2^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  and  $W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \subset B_2^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  for  $p \leq 2$  and the inclusions are bounded linear operators.

(ii) Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $p \ge 2$ . Let  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and define  $u(t, x) := (K_t * f)(x)$  for  $t \ge 0$  and  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Then the proof of Theorem 2.1 shows that

$$\frac{d}{dt}\frac{1}{p}\int_{\mathbb{R}^n}|u|^p = -(p-1)\int_{\mathbb{R}^n}|u|^{p-2}|\nabla u|^2 \ge -(p-1)\|u\|_{L^p}^{p-2}\|\nabla u\|_{L^p}^2\,.$$

The last step follows from Hölders inequality. This implies

$$\frac{d}{dt}\frac{1}{2} \left\| u_t \right\|_{L^p}^2 = \frac{1}{\|u_t\|_{L^p}^{p-2}} \frac{d}{dt}\frac{1}{p} \left\| u_t \right\|_{L^p}^p \ge -(p-1) \left\| \nabla u \right\|_{L^p}^2$$

Integrate this inequality to obtain  $||f||_{L^p}^2 \leq (2p-2) \int_0^\infty ||\nabla u_t||_{L^p}^2 dt$ . Now replace f by  $\partial_i f$  for  $i = 1, \ldots, n$ . Then, by the Calderón–Zygmund inequality in Corollary 6.2,

$$\|\nabla f\|_{L^p} \le c_1 \left(\int_0^\infty \|\Delta u_t\|_{L^p}^2 dt\right)^{1/2} \le c_2 \|f\|_{B_2^{1,p}}$$

for all  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  with suitable constants  $c_1 > 0$  and  $c_2 > 0$ , depending only on n and p. Here the last step follows from Theorem 1.2 with q = 2and s = 2 - 2/q = 1. Hence  $B_2^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}) \subset W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$  for  $p \ge 2$  and the inclusion is a bounded linear operator.

(iii) It follows from (i) and (ii) that  $B_2^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^n,\mathbb{C}) = W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^n,\mathbb{C})$ .

## References

- M.A. Akcoglu, L. Sucheston. Dilations of positive contractions on L<sup>p</sup>-spaces. Can. Math. Bull. 20 (1977), 285–292.
- [2] A. Benedek, A.P. Calderón, R. Panzone, Convolution operators on Banach space valued functions. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 48 (1962), 356–365.
- [3] O.V. Besov, On a certain family of functional spaces. Embedding and extension theorems. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 126 (1959), 1163–1165.
- [4] O.V. Besov, Equivalent normings of spaces of functions of variable smoothness. Proceedings of the Steklov Institute of Mathematics 243 (2003), 80–88.
- H.-Q. Bui, M. Paluszyński, M.H. Tableson, A maximal function characterization of weighted Besov– Lipschitz and Triebel–Lizorkin spaces. Studia Mathematica 119 (1996), 219–246.
- [6] Albert Cohen, A Primer on Besov Spaces. Online Manuscript 2009. https://legacy.cnx.org/content/col10679/latest/
- [7] R.R. Coifman, R. Rochberg, G. Weiss, Applications of transference: The L<sup>p</sup> version of von Neumann's inequality and Littlewood-Paley-Stein theory. *Linear Spaces and Approximation*, edited by P.L. Butzer and B.Sz. Nagy, Birkhäuser, Basel, 1978, pp. 53–67.
- [8] R.R. Coifman, G. Weiss, Transference Methods in Analysis, CBMS regional conference series in mathematics, 31, AMS, 1977.
- [9] T. Coulhon, D. Lamberton, Régularité L<sup>p</sup> pour les équations d'évolution. Communication au Séminaire d'Analyse Fonctionnelle 84/85, Publications Mathématiques d'Universit'e Paris VII, 26 (1987), 155-165.
- [10] L. de Simon, Un applicazione della teoria degli integrali singolari allo studio delle equazioni differenziali lineari astratte del primo ordine. Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. Padova 34 (1964), 547–558.
- [11] Gero Fendler, On dilations and transference for continuous one-parameter semigroups of positive contractions on L<sup>p</sup> spaces. Annales Universitatis Saraviensis, Series Mathematicae 9 (1998), 1–97. http://arxiv.org/abs/1202.5425
- [12] M. Frazier, B. Jawerth, A discrete transform and decomposition of distribution spaces. Journal of Functional Anallysis 93 (1990), 34–170.
- [13] A. Grigor'yan, L. Liu, Heat kernel and Lipschitz-Besov spaces. Preprint, April 2014. Forum Math. (2014), DOI:10.1515/forum-2014-0034. https://www.math.uni-bielefeld.de/~grigor/besov.pdf
- [14] Uffe Haagerup, The best constants in the Khintchine inequality. Studia Math. 70 (1982), 231–283.
- [15] M. Hieber, J. Prüss, Heat kernels and maximal L<sup>p</sup> L<sup>q</sup> estimates for parabolic evolution equations. Communications in Partial Differential Equations 22 (1997) 1647–1669.
- [16] L. Hörmander, Estimates for translation invariant operators in  $L^p$  spaces. Acta Math. 104 (1960), 93–140.
- [17] G. Kerkyacharian, P. Petrushev, Heat kernel based decomposition of spaces of distributions in the framework of Dirichlet spaces. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 367 (2015), 121–189. http://arxiv.org/abs/1210.6237v2 (Original preprint
- [18] Mark Hyun-Ki Kim, Interpolation Theorems in Harmonic Analysis, Bachelor Thesis, Rutgers, 12 June 2012. http://arxiv.org/abs/1206.2690
- [19] Aleksandr Yakovlevich Khinchin, Über dyadische Brüche. Math. Zeitschrift 18 (1923), 109–116.
- [20] D. Lamberton, Équations d'évolution linéaires associées à des semi-groupes de contractions dans les espaces L<sup>p</sup>. Journal of Functional Analysis 72 (1987), 252–262.
- [21] O.A. Ladyshenskaya, V.A. Solonnikov, N.N. Uralćeva, Linear and Quasilinear Equations of Parabolic Type. AMS, Providence, R.I., 1968.
- [22] G.M. Lieberman, Second Order Parabolic Differential Equations. World Scientific, 1996.
- [23] Liguang Liu, Dachun Yang, Wen Yuan, Besov type and Triebel–Lizorkin type spaces associated with heat kernels. Preprint 2015. http://arxiv.org/abs/1309.1366v2
- [24] Matei Machedon, Notes on Littlewood-Paley Theory. University of Maryland, 15 February 2014. http://www2.math.umd.edu/~matei/L-Pslides.pdf

- [25] S.G. Mikhlin, On the multipliers of Fourier integrals [in Russian]. Dokl. Akad. Nauk. 109 (1956), 701–703.
- [26] S.G. Mikhlin, Multidimensional singular integrals and integral equations. International Series of Monographs in Pure and Applied Mathematics 83, Pergamon Press, 1965.
- [27] Fedor L. Nazarov, Anatoliy N. Podkorytov, Ball, Haagerup, and distribution functions. Complex analysis, Operators, and Related Topics. The S.A. Vinogradov Memorial Volume, edited by Viktor P. Havin and Nikolai K. Nikolski. Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, 113, Birkhäuser, Basel, 2000, 247–267.
- [28] L. Nirenberg, On elliptic partial differential equations. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa 13 (1959), 115–162.
- [29] Ioannis Parissis, Harmonic Analysis, Lecture Notes, Aalto University, 2011. https://yannisparissis.wordpress.com/category/teaching/dmat0101-harmonic-analysis/
- [30] J. Peetre, On Spaces of Triebel-Lizorkin type. Ark. Mat. 13 (1975), 123-130.
- [31] J. Peetre, New Thoughts on Besov Spaces. Duke University, Durham, N.C., 1976.
- [32] M. Riesz, Sur les fonctions conjuguées. Mathematische Zeitschrift 49 (1927), 465–497.
- [33] D.A. Salamon, *Measure and Integration*. To appear in the EMS Textbook series. https://people.math.ethz.ch/~salamon/PREPRINTS/measure.pdf
- [34] L.N. Slobodeckij, Generalized Sobolev spaces and their applications to boundary value problems of partial differential equations, *Leningrad. Gos. Ped. Inst. Učep. Zap.* 197 (1958), 54–112.
- [35] P.E. Sobolevskii, Coerciveness inequalities for abstract parabolic equations. Soviet Math. Dokl. 5 (1964), 894–897.
- [36] E.M. Stein, Interpolation of linear operators. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 83 (1956), 482–492.
- [37] G. Olof Thorin, Convexity theroems generalizing those of M. Riesz and Hadamard with some applications. Ph.D. Thesis, Lund University, 1948.
- [38] H. Triebel, Interpolation theory, function spaces, differential operators. North-Holland, Mathematical Library 18, Amsterdam-New York, 1978.
- [39] H. Triebel, Theory of function spaces II, Monographs in Mathematics 84. Birkhäuser, 1992.
- [40] T. Ullrich Continuous characterizations of Besov-Lizorkin-Triebel spaces and new interpretations as coorbits. Journal of Function Spaces and Applications Volume 2012, Article ID 163213. http://ullrich.ins.uni-bonn.de/Ul10.pdf